
 

 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 
CITY COUNCIL 

  DECEMBER 21, 2023 

 

 

  

 Council Meeting Room Regular Meeting 7:00 PM 

7224 GA HIGHWAY 21 
PORT WENTWORTH, GA  31407 

City of Port Wentworth Generated: 12/15/2023 5:08 PM Page 1   

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

2. PRAYER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. ROLL CALL - CLERK OF COUNCIL 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. RECOGNITION OF SPECIAL GUESTS 

6. PUBLIC COMMENTS - REGISTERED SPEAKERS 

7. ELECTIONS & APPOINTMENTS 

8. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

A. Regular Council Meeting Minutes -November 30, 2023 

9. COMMUNICATIONS & PETITIONS 

10. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

11. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. City Council 2024 Meeting Dates 

B. Alcoholic Beverage License Application submitted by Samir Patel for a Malt Beverage / 
Wine Package Retail License for SHRI DWADASH RK Inc., DBA Sunny’s Flashmart (7308 
Highway 21) located in a P-C-1 (Planned Neighborhood Business) 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

A. Street Parking Ordinance- 2nd Reading 

B. Amending Chapter 17.1 Human Resources Policy - 2nd Reading 

13. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Development Agreement SPH 21 

B. Fee Schedule Amendment 

C. Port Wentworth Recreational Complex – Change Order 2 

D. RFP- New Fire Station 

E. Landfill Permit Consistency Determination 



Agenda City Council December 21, 2023 

City of Port Wentworth Generated: 12/15/2023 5:08 PM Page 2   

 

➢Public Hearing 

➢Action 

14. RESOLUTIONS/ORDINANCES/PROCLAMATIONS 

15. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

A. Litigation 

B. Personnel 

C. Real Estate 

16. ADJOURNMENT 



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Resolution 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2916) DOC ID: 2916  

Updated: 12/14/2023 4:35 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

City Council 2024 Meeting Dates 

Issue/Item:  City Council meeting dates for 2024. 
 

 

Background: This resolution would simplify the schedule to do one City Council Meeting per 

month and move it to the 3rd Thursday of the month.   
 

Facts and Findings:  This resolution will set all the dates for City Council meetings for 2024.  
 

Funding:  N/A 

 

Recommendation: Approve 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• 23.12.21 - PW - Res - 2024 CC Mtg Dates (3) (DOCX) 

11.A

Packet Pg. 3



Resolution No. R23-12-01  City of Port Wentworth 1 

RESOLTUION NO. R23-12-01 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF CHATHAM 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 

 

A RESOLUTION SETTING THE 2024 CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATES 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council’s Rules of Procedures calls for Regular meetings to be 

held each month; 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desires to publish and make known its planned regular 

meetings schedule for 2024;  

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desires to provide as much notice and clarity as 

possible to the citizens and public regarding public meetings; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Port Wentworth, 

Georgia, while in regular session on December 21, 2023, as follows: 

 

I. City Council sets the following dates and times for its regular meetings for 2024: 

  

1) Thursday, January 18, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

2) Thursday, February 15, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

3) Thursday, March 21, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

4) Thursday, April 18, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

5) Thursday, May 16, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

6) Thursday, June 20, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

7) Thursday, July 18, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

8) Thursday, August 15, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

9) Thursday, September 19, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

10) Thursday, October 17, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

11) Thursday, November 21, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

12) Thursday, December 19, 2024 at 7:00 PM  

 

II. The City Manager and City staff shall take such actions deemed necessary or 

advisable to provide as much notice and clarity as possible to the citizens and public 

regarding public meetings. 

 

III. All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Resolution are hereby repealed. 

 

 

11.A.a

Packet Pg. 4

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
12

.2
1 

- 
P

W
 -

 R
es

 -
 2

02
4 

C
C

 M
tg

 D
at

es
 (

3)
  (

29
16

 :
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 2

02
4 

M
ee

ti
n

g
 D

at
es

)



Resolution No. R23-12-01  City of Port Wentworth 2 

IV. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption.  

 

 

SO RESOLVED this the 21st day of December, 2023. 

 

 

       Approved: 

 

 

             

       Gary Norton, Mayor 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

     

Clerk, or City Staff 

 

11.A.a

Packet Pg. 5

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
12

.2
1 

- 
P

W
 -

 R
es

 -
 2

02
4 

C
C

 M
tg

 D
at

es
 (

3)
  (

29
16

 :
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 2

02
4 

M
ee

ti
n

g
 D

at
es

)



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Planning/Zoning Item 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2918) DOC ID: 2918  

Updated: 12/14/2023 4:49 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Alcoholic Beverage License Application submitted by Samir 
Patel for a Malt Beverage / Wine Package Retail License for 

SHRI DWADASH RK Inc., DBA Sunny’s Flashmart (7308 
Highway 21) located in a P-C-1 (Planned Neighborhood 

Business) 

Issue/Item: Alcoholic Beverage License Application submitted by Samir Patel for a Malt 

Beverage / Wine Package Retail License for SHRI DWADASH RK Inc., DBA Sunny’s Flashmart 

(7308 Highway 21) located in a P-C-1 (Planned Neighborhood Business) Zoning District 

 

Background: The applicant has submitted this application due to a change in ownership. 

 

Facts and Findings: The applicant, Samir Patel, has properly completed and filed the City 

application and paid all applicable fees.  Mr. Patel has listed three residents of the City as 

references, and he has passed the criminal background check conducted by the Port 

Wentworth Police Department. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Alcohol BL (PDF) 

11.B

Packet Pg. 6



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

lc
o

h
o

l B
L

  (
29

18
 :

 A
lc

o
h

o
lic

 B
ev

er
ag

e 
L

ic
en

se
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
S

am
ir

 P
at

el
 f

o
r 

a 
M

al
t 

B
ev

er
ag

e 
/ W

in
e 

P
ac

ka
g

e 
R

)



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Ordinance 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2913) DOC ID: 2913  

Updated: 12/14/2023 4:59 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Street Parking Ordinance- 2nd Reading 

Issue/Item:   

On street parking has become an issue, with school busses and emergency vehicles having 

to navigate narrow streets, and some cars parked for long extended periods of time in one 

spot. This is both a safety as well as quality of life issue.  

 

Background:     

Street parking is a problem in much of Port Wentworth, and especially in the residential 

areas of the City. In some developments the streets are narrow, some were not designed 

for any on street parking, and in some areas on street parking in residential areas makes 

simply driving around one’s neighborhood dangerous and at times impossible as impassible.  

 

Facts and Findings:   

The City hosted a town hall on this topic, and has spent time since that town hall 

researching and internally discussing how best to address this issue. The City, in 

consultation with community partners, has determined that odd-even side parking 

coinciding with either odd or even months is an equitable and realistic solution to address 

this problem. This Ordinance would allow on street parking on the odd side of the street in 

odd numbered months, and on the even side of the street in even numbered months. Cars 

would still have to park in the correct direction, and would be fully prohibited from parking 

on many thoroughfares unless in clearly marked parking spots.  

 

This would be a new ordinance for the City. City staff including the Police Department, 

would roll out enforcement so that citizens are aware of the new ordinance and changes 

before escalating penalties go into effect.  

 

Funding:   NA 

 

Recommendation: Approve  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• PW - Ord - Residential Street Parking (DOCX) 

12.A

Packet Pg. 17



Page 1 / 6 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-11-04 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF CHATHAM 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO CREATE CHAPTER 13, ARTICLE II, RESIDENTIAL STREET 

PARKING OF THE CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH CODE OF ORDINANCES  

 

 

WHEREAS, it is necessary from time to time to modify the City’s ordinances; and 

 

WHEREAS the Mayor and City Council is tasked with the authority to adopt and provide for 

such ordinances, resolutions, rules, and regulations which it deems necessary, expedient, or 

helpful for the peace, good order, protection of life and property, health, welfare, sanitation, 

comfort, convenience, prosperity, and well-being of the inhabitants of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Port Wentworth is granted the power to regulate the operation of motor 

vehicles and public parking and to exercise control over all traffic, upon or across the highways, 

streets, roads, alleys, and walkways of the city; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Port Wentworth desires to update its Chapter 13, Motor Vehicles and 

Traffic to ensure safety and free movement upon the roadways of the city; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, that while in regular session THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH HEREBY ORDAIN as follows: 

 

The Code of Ordinance, Chapter 13, Motor Vehicles and Traffic, is amended as follows: 

 

I. The entirety of the existing Chapter 13 – Motor Vehicles and Traffic is placed into the 

newly created Article 1 of Chapter 13, titled “Article I - Miscellaneous Motor Vehicle 

and Traffic”, and shall retain the existing Code Section numbers, Sections 13-1 

through 13-13. 

 

II. Sec. 13-6 is hereby repealed and shall be “Reserved”. 

 

III. Sections 13-14 through 13-49 shall be designated as “Reserved” in Article I of 

Chapter 13. 

 

IV. There is created a new Article 2 of Chapter 13, titled “Article II – Residential Street 

Parking”, which shall read as follows: 

 

<< >> 

 

Art. II – Residential Street Parking 

 

12.A.a

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

tr
ee

t 
P

ar
ki

n
g

  (
29

13
 :

 S
tr

ee
t 

P
ar

ki
n

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



Page 2 / 6 

Sec. 13-50 – Intent and Purpose 

(a) It is the intent and purpose of this Article to ensure the safe and adequate 

parking for automobiles for the convenience and safety of all residents, 

visitors, workers, and persons with disabilities within the residential areas of 

the city.  

(b) It is further the intent and purpose of this Article to provide adequate and safe 

rights of way for all vehicles throughout the residential areas of the city.  

(c) The city enacts this article upon a finding of fact that unfettered stopping, 

standing, or parking of vehicles upon the residential roadways of the city is 

dangerous to those using the roadway where the stopping, standing, or parking 

of vehicles does unduly interfere with the free movement of traffic thereon. 

 

Sec. 13-51 – Applicability 

(a) The provisions of this Article prohibiting the standing or parking of a vehicle 

shall apply at all times or at those times herein specified or as indicated on 

official signs, except when it is necessary to stop a vehicle to avoid conflict 

with other traffic or in compliance with the directions of a police officer or 

official traffic control device.  

(b) It shall be the duty of the city public development services director and the 

city chief of police to determine whether and where to install appropriate 

official traffic control devices giving  additional notice thereof this article. 

(c) The provisions of this article shall not apply to the driver of any vehicle which 

is disabled while on the roadway in such a manner and to such extent that it is 

impossible to avoid stopping and temporarily leaving such disabled vehicle in 

such position. (see O.C.G.A. § 40-6-204). 

(d) The provisions of this article shall not apply to public transit vehicles while at 

designated official stops or stands.  

(e) The provisions of this article shall not apply to any vehicle used solely for the 

purpose of collecting municipal solid waste while collecting such waste or 

materials; provided however that such vehicle shall maintain flashing hazard 

lights at all times that it is engaged in stopping or standing for the purpose of 

waste or materials collection.  

 

Sec. 13-52 – General Prohibitions 

(a) No vehicle shall be standing or parked on any street or highway at or near any 

intersection that would create a hazard by obscuring vision on ingress or 

egress at said intersection. Standing or parked vehicles shall be parked a 

minimum of 30 feet from any intersection.  

(b) Freight-carrying vehicles are prohibited in all residentially zoned (R-1, R-2, 

R-3, R-4 and R-5), neighborhood commercial zoned (C-1), and planned use 

development zoned (PUD) areas except when actively delivering or receiving 

goods. No person shall stop, stand or park a freight-carrying vehicle for any 

purpose or length of time other than for the expeditious unloading and 

delivery or pickup and loading of materials in all residentially zoned (R-1, R-

2, R-3, R-4 and R-5), neighborhood commercial zoned (C-1), and planned use 

development zoned (PUD) areas.  

12.A.a

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

tr
ee

t 
P

ar
ki

n
g

  (
29

13
 :

 S
tr

ee
t 

P
ar

ki
n

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



Page 3 / 6 

 

Sec. 13-53 – On Street Parking, Residential Areas 

(a) As provided in this article, every vehicle stopped or parked upon a roadway 

shall be stopped or parked parallel to the curb or edge of the roadway, and in 

the direction of authorized traffic movement. 

(b) As provided in this article, every vehicle stopped or parked upon a roadway 

shall be stopped or parked with the right-hand wheels parallel to and within 12 

inches of the curb or as practicable to the edge of the right-hand shoulder.  

(c) As provided in this article, no vehicle shall stop, stand, or park: 

1) On a sidewalk;  

2) Within an intersection; or 

3) At any place where official signs prohibit stopping or parking. 

(d) As provided in this article, no vehicle shall stop, stand, or park, except 

momentarily to pick up or discharge a passenger or passengers: 

1) In front of a public or private driveway; 

2) Within 15 feet of a fire hydrant; 

3) Within 20 feet of a crosswalk at an intersection; 

4) Within 30 feet upon the approach to any flashing signal, stop sign, 

yield sign, or traffic-control signal located at the side of a roadway; 

5) Within 20 feet of the driveway entrance to any fire station or on the 

side of a street opposite the entrance to any fire station within 75 feet 

of such entrance; or 

6) At any place where official signs prohibit standing. 

(e) The provisions of this section shall apply to residentially zoned (R-1, R-2, R-

3, R-4 and R-5), neighborhood commercial zoned (C-1), and planned use 

development zoned (PUD) areas. 

 

Sec. 13-54 – On Street Parking, Odd-Even Parking 

(a) As provided in this article, every vehicle stopped or parked on a roadway 

within all residentially zoned (R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4 and R-5), neighborhood 

commercial zoned (C-1), and planned use development zoned (PUD), areas 

shall park on the side of street with odd numbered addresses in odd months, 

and shall park on the side of the street with even numbered addresses in even 

months. 

1) Odd months: January, March, May, July, September, and December. 

2) Even months: February, April, June, August, October, and December. 

(b) As otherwise provided and pursuant to this article, in order to facilitate orderly 

and safe transition between months, vehicles may park on either the even or 

odd side of the roadway between 10:00 PM on the final day of a month and 

10:00 AM on the first day of a month.  

(c) A listing of roadways pursuant to this section can be found in Sec. 13-70. 

 

Sec. 13-55 – On Street Parking, Residential Thoroughfares  

(a) As provided in this article, no vehicle shall stop or park on a residential 

thoroughfare except in a designated parking space.  

12.A.a

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

tr
ee

t 
P

ar
ki

n
g

  (
29

13
 :

 S
tr

ee
t 

P
ar

ki
n

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



Page 4 / 6 

(b) A listing of residential thoroughfares pursuant to this section can be found in 

Sec. 13-71. 

 

Sec. 13-56 – 13-59 – Reserved. 

 

Sec. 13-60 –Violations, In General 

(a) Violations of this article are per se violations for the purposes of scienter.  

(b) Each calendar day constitutes a new and separate offense under this article. 

(c) For the purposes of determining penalties pursuant to this article, the 12 

month calculation shall refer to the date of violations.  

(d) There is a rebuttable presumption that the registered owner of any vehicle in 

violation of this article is the responsible party upon whom to serve the notice 

of violation and to receive any fines or penalties associated therewith.  

(e) In the event of a leased vehicle: 

1) Upon notice of a violation, if the owner notifies the city court clerk of 

the name and address of the lessee of the vehicle on the date the 

violation occurred, then the owner of any leased vehicle shall not be 

liable for violation of this article while such vehicle is leased to 

another and such leased vehicle was not in the owner’s possession or 

control at the time of the violation.  

2) If the owner so notifies the city court clerk, then the owner shall be 

excused from appearing on court for the violation.  

3) If the owner fails to submit the notice within 5 business days prior to 

the court date, then the court may find the owner of the vehicle liable 

for the violation.  

 

Sec. 13-61 - Enforcement 

(a) Jurisdiction for enforcement of this article shall lie in the city municipal court.  

(b) The police department or the city is authorized to issue a warning, citation, or 

other penalties allowed by law for violations of this article. Other such 

penalties may include, but are not limited to: suspension of vehicle 

registration and towing of vehicle. 

(c) If a vehicle is towed, then the vehicle owner shall be responsible for any costs 

related to the vehicle’s towing in addition to any fines or other penalties levied 

for the violation.  

(d) Nothing in this section limits or prevents the police department or the city 

from utilizing its discretion in whether to issue a warning, a citation, or other 

penalty pursuant to this article.  

(e) The police department or the city is authorized to immediately tow or 

otherwise move a vehicle, without regard to prior violations, regardless of 

whether the vehicle is in violation of this article, upon a determination that 

such vehicle poses an immediate and unavoidable risk of danger to those 

using the roadway where the stopped, standing, or parked vehicle does unduly 

interfere with the free movement of traffic thereon. 

 

Sec. 13-62 – Penalties   

12.A.a

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

tr
ee

t 
P

ar
ki

n
g

  (
29

13
 :

 S
tr

ee
t 

P
ar

ki
n

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



Page 5 / 6 

(a) Violation of Sec. 13-52 and 13-53 may incur the following penalties: 

1) Upon first and second violation within a 12 month period – a fine not 

to exceed $100. 

2) Upon third and subsequent violations within a 12 month period – a 

fine not to exceed $500, towing of vehicle, and suspension of vehicle 

registration. 

(b) Violation of Sec. 13-54 and 13-55 may incur the following penalties: 

1) Upon first violation within a 12 month period – a fine not to exceed 

$100. 

2) Upon second and subsequent violations within a 12 month period – a 

fine not to exceed $500, towing of vehicle, and suspension of vehicle 

registration. 

 

Sec. 13-63 – 13-69 – Reserved. 

 

Sec. 13-70 – Odd-Even Roadways, Listing 

(a) The roadways applicable to Sec. 13-54 are as follows: 

1) All highways, roads, and streets in residentially zoned (R-1, R-2, R-3, 

R-4 and R-5), neighborhood commercial zoned (C-1), and planned use 

development zoned (PUD) areas, unless otherwise noted in this article. 

 

Sec. 13-71 – Residential Thoroughfares, Listing 

(a) The residential thoroughfares applicable to Sec. 13-55 are as follows: 

1) Lakeside Boulevard; 

2) Parkside Boulevard; 

3) Magnolia Boulevard; 

4) Bonnybridge Road; 

5) South Coastal Highway, south of Bonnybridge Road and north of 

Grange Road; and 

6) Crossgate Road, east of Jimmy Deloach Parkway and west of Ray 

Street. 

 

Sec. 13-72 – 13-79 – Reserved. 

 

<< >> 

 

V. The Police Department and the City is directed to work with the citizens during 

implementation and enforcement of this residential street parking ordinance. The 

Mayor and Council understand there will be a learning curve, and direct the Police 

Department and the City to highlight education and ramp up enforcement, while 

maintaining safety and the free movement of traffic upon the city’s roadways.  

 

VI. All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Act are hereby repealed. 

 

VII. This Ordinance shall become effective upon its passage and adoption.  

 

12.A.a

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

tr
ee

t 
P

ar
ki

n
g

  (
29

13
 :

 S
tr

ee
t 

P
ar

ki
n

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



Page 6 / 6 

 

 

SO ORDAINED this the    day of      , 2023. 

 

 

       Approved: 

 

 

             

       Gary Norton, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

     

Zahnay Smoak, City Clerk 

 

First reading:        (date) 

 

Second reading:       (date) 

 

12.A.a

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 R

es
id

en
ti

al
 S

tr
ee

t 
P

ar
ki

n
g

  (
29

13
 :

 S
tr

ee
t 

P
ar

ki
n

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Ordinance 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2911) DOC ID: 2911  

Updated: 12/14/2023 4:59 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Amending Chapter 17.1 Human Resources Policy - 2nd 
Reading 

Issue/Item:   

The City’s Human Resources Policy is codified in the City’s Code of Ordinances. This means 

that any changes must go through the ordinance process, and creates an extremely 

cumbersome process to update and stay current with changing Human Resources guidelines 

and best practices.  

 

Background:     

Chapter 17.1 is a vestige of the previous strong-Mayor form of government, where the 

Mayor used to be the chief administrative officer of the City. The City is now a strong-City 

Manager form of government with the City Manager being the chief administrative officer of 

the City. No other department or department’s Standard Operating Procedures are codified 

in the Code of Ordinances. 

 

Additionally, Chapter 17.1 has not been amended since 2015. And between 2009 and 2015 

it was amended 8 separate times - showing the need to stay current with Human Resources 

policy and the cumbersome nature of having it codified as an Ordinance.  

 

Facts and Findings:   

The City Charter vests the City Manager as the chief administrative officer of the city. As 

such, Human Resources and the Human Resources Policy are within his purview. Repealing 

Chapter 17.1 would bring this operating procedure of the City in line with other operating 

procedures, and allow a more responsive and compliant Human Resources Policy for all City 

employees.  

 

Funding:   NA 

 

Recommendation: Approve  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• COPW - Ord - HR Policy (DOCX) 

12.B

Packet Pg. 24



 Page 1 / 2 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-12-01 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF CHATHAM 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMEND CHAPTER 17.1 HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY  

OF THE CITY’S CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 

WHEREAS, it is necessary from time to time to modify the City’s ordinances; and 

 

WHEREAS the Mayor and City Council is tasked with the authority to adopt and provide for 

such ordinances, resolutions, rules, and regulations which it deems necessary, expedient, or 

helpful for the peace, good order, protection of life and property, health, welfare, sanitation, 

comfort, convenience, prosperity, and well-being of the inhabitants of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Port Wentworth is granted the power that it may adopt rules and 

regulations regarding personnel policies but is not obligated to codify such; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City Manager is the chief executive officer and administrator of the City, and 

shall be responsible to the City Council for the administration of all City affairs placed in the 

City Manager’s charge; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Port Wentworth desires to update its Ordinance on Human Resources 

Policy to reflect the City Manager’s role as chief executive officer of the City, and for the City 

Manager to work with the Human Resources Department to produce policies consistent with the 

best practices and high standards expected for City employees; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, that while in regular session THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH HEREBY ORDAIN as follows: 

 

I. The City’s Human Resources Policy Ordinance 

 The entirety of Chapter 17.1, Human Resources Policy, is repealed.  

 

II. The City Manager is directed to work with the Human Resources Department to produce 

policies consistent with the best practices and high standards expected of City employees.  

 

III. All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Act are hereby repealed. 

IV. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption.  

 

 

[ SIGNATURE ON FOLLOWING PAGE ] 

 

 

 

12.B.a

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

O
P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 H

R
 P

o
lic

y 
 (

29
11

 :
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

17
.1

 H
u

m
an

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

lic
y)



 Page 2 / 2 

 

SO ORDAINED this the    day of      , 2023. 

 

 

       Approved: 

 

 

             

       Gary Norton, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

     

Zahnay Smoak, City Clerk 

 

First reading:        (date) 

 

Second reading:       (date) 

12.B.a

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

O
P

W
 -

 O
rd

 -
 H

R
 P

o
lic

y 
 (

29
11

 :
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 C

h
ap

te
r 

17
.1

 H
u

m
an

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

lic
y)



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Agreement 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2919) DOC ID: 2919  

Updated: 12/15/2023 3:55 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Development Agreement SPH 21 

Issue/Item:  Development Agreement for 762 acres of industrial zoned property   
 

Background: On August 26, 2021, the city council approved the rezoning of 762 acres 
of property to industrial.  The development of this property will have an impact to our 
roads, water, sewer and other city offered services which require infrastructure 
improvements.   
 

Facts and Findings:  In furtherance of the goals, purposes, the benefit of the City of 
Port Wentworth and in the public interest, the city desires the following outlined items in 
the agreement which the developer agrees to fund for this project in exchange for 
potable water, wastewater services and relocation of a portion of Saussy Canal.   
 

• Intersection improvements and traffic light installation at Hwy 21 

• Saussy Canal drainage improvements 

• Two acre site for future City Fire Station 

• Installation and use of City Fiber Optic Network for internet services 

• Commitment to the vision of City’s multiuse pedestrian paths  

• Use of Port Wentworth Development Authority 

• Payments for dedicated ERU’s of water 

• Funding for sewer and lift station improvements 

 
 

Funding:  N/A 

 

Recommendation: Approve 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• 9457-01 Development Agreement - SPH 12152023.10 (PDF) 

13.A

Packet Pg. 27



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

45
7-

01
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

S
P

H
 1

21
52

02
3.

10
  (

29
19

 :
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
S

P
H

 2
1)



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Amendment 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2917) DOC ID: 2917  

Updated: 12/14/2023 4:41 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Fee Schedule Amendment 

Issue/Item:  Amendment of the fee schedule for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
 
Background:  The City approved the Fee Schedule on August 24, 2023.  Staff has continued to 
research and analyze the cost of delivering Water/Sewer and Sanitation Rates for the Collection 
and Disposal of Solid Waste as those costs relate to the billed services. 
 
Facts and Findings:   
 

1. The rates for Water/Sewer and Sanitation have not been adjusted since August 
2018.   
 

2. The cost-of-service has increased annually and has far exceeded the billed services.   
 

3. The revenue shortfall has been absorbed since 2018 by the General Fund for 
Sanitation and by the Water Fund “Aid to Construction” for Water/Sewer delivery of 
services.  

 
4. Water/Sewer rates will increase from $1.53 to $1.83 for water consumed ranging 

between 0-500 cubic feet of water per 100 cubic feet, which is an increase of $ .30 
per cubic feet.  

 
5. Sanitation rates such as “Residential Carts”, consisting of trash and recycle carts 

picked up one day per week for the month will increase from $21.14 to $ 25.37 which 
is an increase of $ 4.23 per monthly pick up. Commercial will also have increases.  

 
6. The current fee schedule will be adjusted for each Water/Sewer and Sanitation rate 

category this year and annually adjust rates based on contractual increases in water, 
maintenance and infrastructure repairs for Water/Sewer and contractual adjustments 
for both the pickup and disposal of Solid Waste/Recycling. 

 
Funding:   
 
The proprietary fund group should be self-sustainable and based on the actual cost of those 
services billed to consumers.  The recommended one-time increase will align the billed service 
revenue with the actual cost of those services and not General Fund or Water Fund balances 
will be utilized going forward.  The rate changes for both Water/Sewer and Solid Waste disposal 
will be effective February 1, 2024. 

 
Recommendation:  Approve 

13.B

Packet Pg. 49



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Amendment 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2920) DOC ID: 2920  

Updated: 12/15/2023 4:05 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Port Wentworth Recreational Complex – Change Order 2 

Issue/Item:  Port Wentworth Recreation Complex - Change Order 2 

 

Background: After a competitive bid process, the City of Port Wentworth retained Sikes 

Brothers, Inc. to construct the Clearing & Grubbing of Port Wentworth Recreation Complex 

Phase 1 in June 2023. This change order consists of all road and base work, and for the Meinhard 

Rd entrance including all-weather gravel to serve the park, a parking lot base as well as pad 

ready site work for Ghost Pirates and the installation of water main to serve the park.  
 

Facts and Findings:  The proposed improvements move the City one step closer to finalizing 

the park master plan. All of the proposed construction improvements included in change order 

are required to construct the PW Recreation Park Masterplan. 
 

Funding:  $3,999,500 

 

Recommendation: Approve 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• 25412.0029 Change Order No. 2 (PDF) 

• Sikes Brothers - Port Wentworth Recreation Complex - Change Order No. 2 (PDF) 

13.C

Packet Pg. 50



PORT WENTWORTH RECREATION COMPLEX 

PORT WENTWORTH, GEORGIA 

 

CHANGE ORDER NO. 2 

J–25412.0029 

 
PROJECT:    Port Wentworth Recreation Complex – Change Order No. 2      

 

PROJECT NO.:  25412.0029     DATE:  December 14, 2023    

 

OWNER:  City of Port Wentworth          

 

CONTRACTOR:  Sikes Brothers, Inc.           

 

The Contractor is hereby requested to comply with the following changes from the contract plans and 

specifications: 

 

Item # 
Description of Changes – Quantities, Unit Prices, Units, 

Etc. 

Decrease In 

Contract Price 

Increase In 

Contract Prices 

2010 Connect To Existing 8" Water Main (including Demo)   $ 12,000.00 

2020 12" PVC Water Main - C900 - DR18   $ 401,125.00 

2030 12" FPVC Directional Drill   $ 77,042.40 

2040 12" Gate Valve & Manhole   $ 108,666.25 

2050 8" Gate Valve & Manhole   $ 23,214.00 

2060 4" Gate Valve & Manhole   $ 13,200.00 

2070 Fittings   $ 85,575.00 

2080 Fire Hydrant Assembly   $ 71,929.20 

2081 Future Roadway Fill For Water Main   $ 33,012.00 

2091 Cut And Shift Onsite   $ 52,692.00 

2092 Cut And Haul Off (Stockpile)   $ 76,342.50 

2093 Undercut Build Pad 4ft & Haul Off Per Geo Report 8-4-   $ 106,268.50 

2094 
23 By GHD(Stockpile) 

Import Fill For Building Pad & Undercut 
  $ 990,272.50 

2095 Import 24" Select Fill For Roadway & Parking Lot   $ 872,022.00 

2096 Grading Roads & Building Pad   $ 65,747.90 

2097 Grading Of Open Areas/Dressing/Islands   $ 22,363.40 

2099 Clearing   $ 3,900.00 

2098 Grading Complete: Supervision, Surveying, General   $ 137,502.35 

2100 
Conditions, Bond Premium Add 

GABC (No Prime Coat) - 8" Heavy Duty 
  $ 847,120.00 

    

 Total DECREASE –0–   

 Total INCREASE   $ 3,999,995.00 

 Difference Col. (1) and (2)   

 Net INCREASE Contract Price   $ 3,999,995.00 

 

 

 

  

13.C.a

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

54
12

.0
02

9 
C

h
an

g
e 

O
rd

er
 N

o
. 2

  (
29

20
 :

 P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
al

 C
o

m
p

le
x 

– 
C

h
an

g
e 

O
rd

er
 2

)



CHANGE ORDER NO. 2 J–25412.0029 

 

25412.0029/Change Order #2                 PAGE 2 

 

 

The sum of $ 3,995,000.00 is hereby added to the total contract price of $1,027,725.75 and the total contract 

price to date is $5,027,720.75. 

 

The time provided for substantial completion date for the additional work included in this change order, including 

turning over the site pad for ghost pirates training facility, is March 1, 2024. All other additional work included in 

this change order shall be completed by March 30, 2024, which is the date of final completion of the Work.  

 

OWNER and CONTRACTOR recognize time is of the essence for completing the work in the contract documents 

related to Change Order No. 2 and that OWNER will suffer financial loss if the Work in Change Order No. 2 is not 

completed within the times specified above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 12 

of the General Conditions.  The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties involved in proving the 

actual loss suffered by OWNER if the Work is not substantially complete on time.  Accordingly, instead of requiring 

any such proof, OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree to liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) the 

CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER One-thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for each day expiring after March 1, 2024, for 

Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete.  After Substantial completion, if CONTRACTOR 

shall neglect, refuse or fail to complete the remaining Work within the time specified above for completion and 

readiness for final payment or any proper extension thereof granted by OWNER, CONTRACTOR, shall pay OWNER 

two-thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each day expiring after March 30, 2024, for completion and readiness for final 

payment. 

 

Contractor shall provide updated performance and payment bond information to accommodate increased 

scope of work and associated value. 

   

This document shall become an amendment to the contract, and all provisions of the contract will apply hereto 
upon approval by City Attorney. All signatures must be present to be valid. 

 

 

ACCEPTED BY:          DATE:      

   Contractor  

 

RECOMMENDED BY:     (*see letter attached)  DATE: December 14, 2023   

   Thomas & Hutton 

 

REVIEWED BY:          DATE:      

   City of Port Wentworth Attorney   

 

APPROVED BY:          DATE:      

   City of Port Wentworth  

13.C.a

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

54
12

.0
02

9 
C

h
an

g
e 

O
rd

er
 N

o
. 2

  (
29

20
 :

 P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
al

 C
o

m
p

le
x 

– 
C

h
an

g
e 

O
rd

er
 2

)



 

December 14, 2023 

 

 

 

Mr. Steve Davis, MPA, CPM 

City Manager 

City of Port Wentworth   

7224 GA Highway 21 

Port Wentworth, GA 31407  

Re: Port Wentworth Recreation Complex 

 Change Order No. 2 Cover Letter 

 J–25412.0029     

   

Dear Steve: 

 

This letter accompanies the attached Port Wentworth Recreation Complex – Change 

Order No. 2, dated December 14, 2023. Thomas & Hutton’s recommendation to approve Change 

Order No. 2 is contingent upon approval of compliance with applicable procurement codes by 

the City of Port Wentworth legal counsel. 

 

If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to call us at (912) 234–5300. 

      

Sincerely, 

 

     THOMAS & HUTTON 

 

 

 

     Kevin M. Smith, PE 

     

KMS/kts 

Enclosures 

 

 

 

13.C.a

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

54
12

.0
02

9 
C

h
an

g
e 

O
rd

er
 N

o
. 2

  (
29

20
 :

 P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
al

 C
o

m
p

le
x 

– 
C

h
an

g
e 

O
rd

er
 2

)



To: Contact:City Of Port Wentworth Jason Stewart

Port Wentworth Recreation Complex - Change Order No. 2Project Name: Bid Number: 23089.1

Fax:Port Wentworth, GA 31407
Address: 7224 GA Highway 21 Phone:

Project Location: Port Wentworth, GA Bid Date: 12/6/2023

Total PriceUnit PriceUnitItem DescriptionItem # Estimated Quantity

0010 1.00 EACH $12,000.00 $12,000.00Connect To Existing 8" Water Main (incl. Demo)
0020 2,500.00 LF $160.45 $401,125.0012" PVC Water Main - C900 - DR18
0030 188.00 LF $409.80 $77,042.4012" FPVC Directional Drill
0040 7.00 EACH $15,523.75 $108,666.2512" Gate Valve & Manhole
0050 2.00 EACH $11,607.00 $23,214.008" Gate Valve & Manhole
0060 1.00 EACH $13,200.00 $13,200.004" Gate Valve & Manhole
0070 3,500.00 LB $24.45 $85,575.00Fittings
0080 7.00 EACH $10,275.60 $71,929.20Fire Hydrant Assembly
0081 5,502.00 CY $6.00 $33,012.00Future Roadway Fill For Water Main
0091 8,782.00 CY $6.00 $52,692.00Cut And Shift Onsite
0092 11,745.00 CY $6.50 $76,342.50Cut And Haul Off(STOCK PILE)
0093 16,349.00 CY $6.50 $106,268.50Undercut Build Pad 4ft & Haul Off Per Geo Report 8-4-

23 By GHD(STOCK PILE_
0094 27,895.00 CY $35.50 $990,272.50Import Fill For Building Pad & Undercut
0095 24,564.00 CY $35.50 $872,022.00Import 24" Select Fill For Roadway & Parking Lot
0096 42,418.00 SY $1.55 $65,747.90Grading Roads & Building Pad
0097 14,428.00 SY $1.55 $22,363.40Grading Of Open Areas/Dressing/Islands
0099 1.00 ACRE $3,900.00 $3,900.00Clearing
0098 1.00 LS $137,502.35 $137,502.35Grading Complete: Supervision, Surveying, General

Conditions, Bond Premium Add
0100 10,589.00 TON $80.00 $847,120.00GABC (No Prime Coat) - 8" Heavy Duty

Total Bid Price: $3,999,995.00

Notes:
• -Sikes Brothers, Inc. can not be held responsible for any unforeseen conditions.

-All permanent grassing, sodding, landscaping, and irrigation by others.
-All testing, permitting, any fees, monitoring, monitoring wells, and reporting including NPDES is excluded.
-No temporary utilities included.
-No GABC/Stone material or install is included for building slab.
-All items are bid at quantities on page one of this proposal, if any differentiation from these it will be additional.
-Layout and staking is included for our portion of work only. No as-builts.
-No concrete work is included.
-Bond premium add is included.
-Prime coat and sanding of prime coat, if applicable, has been excluded unless noted otherwise.
-Haul off of excess spoils/muck dirt is not to be included in the completion date of February 1, 2024.
-All GABC areas are to be considered as 8", heavy duty stone.
-Pricing is based on GHD report #12613109-00, dated Aug. 04, 2023.
-Schedule will require weekend work to complete on time.
-Building pad assumption is be left 8" below FFE as our offset.
-We shall not be held responsible for weather delays. Weather delays will be based on actual working days delayed and not rain calender days.
-Proposal must be accepted by 11/24/2023 to remain valid.
-Credit for current contract work on building pad would 5,574 CY for a savings of $27,870.00

12/14/2023 5:11:10 PM Page 1 of 2

13.C.b

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ik
es

 B
ro

th
er

s 
- 

P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
 C

o
m

p
le

x 
- 

C
h

an
g

e 
O

rd
er

 N
o

. 2
  (

29
20

 :
 P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 R
ec

re
at

io
n

al
 C

o
m

p
le

x 
–



• -Due to the existing conditions onsite, some utilities could not be verified; Sikes Brothers, Inc. makes no guarantee as to the existing conditions.
Job is quoted as per plan.
-No additional erosion control items are included.
-Clearing and grubbing is priced based on burning onsite. Timber value, if any, has been included in this proposal.

ACCEPTED:
The above prices, specifications and conditions are satisfactory and 
are hereby accepted.

Buyer:

Signature:

Date of Acceptance:

CONFIRMED:

Sikes Brothers INC

Authorized Signature:

Estimator:

12/14/2023 5:11:10 PM Page 2 of 2

13.C.b

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ik
es

 B
ro

th
er

s 
- 

P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
 C

o
m

p
le

x 
- 

C
h

an
g

e 
O

rd
er

 N
o

. 2
  (

29
20

 :
 P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 R
ec

re
at

io
n

al
 C

o
m

p
le

x 
–



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Agreement 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2915) DOC ID: 2915  

Updated: 12/15/2023 4:11 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

RFP- New Fire Station 

Issue/Item:  The City is constructing a new fire station within the property off Highway 30 

where the sports complex will be constructed.  

 

Background:   The City did a full RFP for this project.  We held a mandatory pre bid 

meeting and allowed time for submission of questions and we fully responded.  

 

Facts and Findings:  The bids were sealed and we hosted a bid opening meeting on 

November 30, 2023 where all four potential vendors were present.  The Bid amounts were 

read aloud as they were opened.  The proposals were scored by staff, and our consulting 

engineer and architect with graded components of 25% for Bid Form, 25% for 

Qualifications, and 25 percent for Company Background and Approach,  15 percent for 

Litigation, Financial Information and Safety and 10 percent for References. The highest 

scoring bidder was JE Dunn which also had a total bid price of $8,190,874   

 

Funding:  This is a previously budgeted capital item.  

 

Recommendation: Approve JE Dunn  ( rated the most responsive and highest scoring 

vendor and give authority to the City Manager and City Attorney to finalize a contract 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Bid Contract Price Summary (PDF) 

• Fire Station RFP Evaluations Summary Sheet 120823 (PDF) 

• JE Dunn Construction_Response to Bid - City of Port Wentworth Fire Station (PDF) 

• JE Dunn Bid Form document (PDF) 

13.D

Packet Pg. 56



Bidder Building Lump Sum Base Bid Civil Site Lump Sum Base Bid Alternate Deduct Sectional Doors

CPPI $6,780,000 $2,017,000 $35,000

Lavender $5,742,000 $2,050,000 $35,000

Meyer Najem $9,153,103 $2,463,329 $32,000

JE Dunn $5,689,752 $2,501,122 $20,400

13.D.a

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

id
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
P

ri
ce

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.b

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ir
e 

S
ta

ti
o

n
 R

F
P

 E
va

lu
at

io
n

s 
S

u
m

m
ar

y 
S

h
ee

t 
12

08
23

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



I

N O V E M B E R  3 0 ,  2 0 2 3  |  1 1 A M

T H E  C I T Y  O F  P O RT  W E N T W O RT H ,  G E O R G I A

BIDDING DOCUMENTS  PREPARED FOR

P O RT  W E N T W O RT H  F I R E  S TAT I O N

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Table of Contents

1. Document Check List 

2. Drug Free Workplace Certification, 
Attachment A

3. Promise of Non-Discrimination Statement, 
Attachment B

4. Disclosure of Responsibility Statement, 
Attachment C

5. Non-Collusion Affidavit, Attachment D

6. General Conditions

7. Completed Bid Form

8. Bid Bond, Paper Only

9. Certificate of Insurance

10. Statement of Qualifications, Attachment F

11. Completed City of Port Wentworth Vendor 
Packet

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



1
13.D.c

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



2

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



3

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



4

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



5

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



6

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

01160-1 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

1.1   SPECIFICATIONS: Any obvious error or omission in the specifications shall not inure to the benefit 
of the Bidder but shall put the Bidder on notice to inquire of or identify the same to the City. 

 
1.2 GEORGIA OPEN RECORDS ACT: The responses will become part of the City's official files without 

any obligation on the City's part. Ownership of all data, materials, and documentation prepared for and 
submitted to the City of Port Wentworth in response to a solicitation, regardless of type, shall belong 
exclusively to the City of Port Wentworth and will be considered a record prepared, maintained or 
received in the course of operations of public office or agency and is subject to public inspection in 
accordance with the Georgia Open Records Act. Official Code of Georgia Annotated, Section 50-18-
070, et.Seq. unless otherwise provided by law. The Georgia Open Records Act is applicable to the 
records of all contractors and subcontractors under contract with the City. This applies to those specific 
contracts currently in effect and those which have been completed or closed up to three (3) years 
following completion.  

 
1.3 GEORGIA TRADE SECRET ACT OF 1990: In the event that a Bidder submits secret information to 

the City, the information must be clearly labeled as a "Trade Secret". The City will maintain the 
confidentiality of such trade secrets to the extent provided by law. 

 
1.4 PRICES TO BE FIRM: The Bidder warrants that Bid prices, terms and conditions quoted in his Bid 

will be firm for acceptance for a period of sixty (60) days from Bid opening date, unless otherwise stated 
in the Bid. 

 
1.5 COMPLETENESS: All information required by the Invitation to Bid must be completed and submitted 

to constitute a proper bid. The City shall have sole discretion in evaluating qualifications and responses 
of Bidders. If Bidder has engaged any firm to work on this contract or project that is later debarred, 
Bidder shall sever its relationship with that firm with respect to the Board’s contract. 

 
1.6 MULTIPLE PROPOSALS: No Bidder will be allowed to submit more than one offer. Any alternate 

proposals must be brought to the Assistant City Manager’s attention during the Pre-bid Conference or 
submitted in writing at least five (5) days preceding the date for submission of bids. 

 
1.7 PATENT INDEMNITY: Except as otherwise provided, the successful Bidder agrees to indemnify the 

City of Port Wentworth and its officers, agents and employees against liability. 
 

1.8 QUALIFICATION OF BUSINESS (RESPONSIBLE BIDDER): A responsible Bidder is defined as 
one who meets, or by the date of the Bid acceptance can meet, all requirements for licensing, insurance, 
and service contained within this Invitation for Bids. The City of Port Wentworth has the right to require 
any or all Proposers to submit documentation of their ability to perform, provide or carry out the service 
requested and to disqualify the proposal of any Proposer as being unresponsive or un-responsible 
whenever such Proposer cannot. 

 
1.9 CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION: By submission of this bid, 

the Bidder certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto as to its own organization, that in 
connection with this procurement.  
A. The prices in this Bid have been arrived at independently, without consultation, communication, 

or agreement, for the purpose of restricting competition, as to any matter relating to such price

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

01160-2 

with any other bidder or with any competitor; 
B. Unless otherwise required by law, the prices which have been quoted in this bid have not been 

knowingly disclosed by the bidder and will not knowingly be disclosed by the bidder prior to 
opening, directly or indirectly to any other competitor; and; 

C. No attempt has been made or will be made by the bidder to induce any other person or firm to 
submit or not to submit a bid for the purpose or restricting competition. 

 
1.10 AWARD OF CONTRACT: The contract, if awarded, shall be awarded to the highest ranking 

responsible and responsive bidder whose combined bid meets the requirements and criteria set forth in 
the advertisement for bids; provided, however, that if the bid from the highest ranking responsible and 
responsive bidder exceeds funds budgeted for the contract, the City may negotiate with such apparent 
bidder to obtain a contract price within the budgeted amount.  Such negotiations may include changes 
in the scope of work and other bid requirements.     
 

1.11 TERM OF THE CONTRACT: The contract period will be for the period specified in the contract 
document UNLESS DIRECTED OTHERWISE BY THE CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH. 

 
1.12 INSURANCE PROVISIONS: The selected Bidder shall be required to procure and maintain for the 

duration of the contract insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which 
may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Bidder, his agents, 
representatives, employees or subcontractors. The cost of such insurance shall be included in the Bid. 
Contract work will not proceed unless the City of Port Wentworth has in their possession a current 
Certificate of Insurance. The City of Port Wentworth invokes the defense of sovereign immunity. 
The City is not to be included as an additional insured on insurance contracts. 
General Information that shall appear on a Certificate of Insurance: 

A. Name of Producer (Contractor's insurance Broker/Agent). 
B. Companies affording coverage (there may be several). 
C. Name and address of the Insured (this should be the Company or Parent of the firm 

the City of Port Wentworth is contracting with). 
D. A Summary of all current insurance for the insured (includes effective dates of 

coverage). 
E. A brief description of the operations to be performed, the specific job to be performed, 

or contract number. 
F. Certificate Holder (This is to always include the City of Port Wentworth). 

 
1.13 LIMITS OF INSURANCE: Effective coverage shall have the following limits:  

A. Commercial General Liability: Provides protection against bodily injury and property damage 
claims arising from operations of a Contractor or Tenant. Minimum limits: $3000000 bodily injury 
and property damage per occurrence and annual aggregate. 

B. Worker's Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Provides statutory protection against 
bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by employees of the Contractor while performing 
within the scope of duties. Minimum limits $500000 for each accident, disease policy limit, and 
disease each employee and Statutory Worker’s Compensation limit.  

C. Business Automobile Liability: Coverage insures against liability claims arising out of the 
Contractor’s use of automobiles. Minimum limit: $1,000,000 combined single limit per accident 
for bodily injury, property damage, and should be written on an “Any Auto” basis. 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

01160-3 

1.14 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS: 
A. Claims-Made Coverage: The limits of liability shall remain the same as the occurrence basis, 

however, the Retroactive date shall be prior to or coincident with the date of any contract, and the 
Certificate of Insurance shall state the retroactive date and the coverage is claims-made.  

B. Extended Reporting Periods: The Contractor shall provide the City with a notice of the election 
to initiate any Supplemental Extended Reporting Period and the reason(s) for invoking this option. 

C. Reporting Provisions: Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not 
affect coverage provided in relation to this request. 

D. Cancellation/Non-Renewal Notification: Each insurance policy supplied in response to this 
request shall be endorsed to state that it shall not be suspended, voided, or canceled, except after 
thirty (30) days prior to written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to 
the City. 

E. Proof of Insurance: The City of Port Wentworth shall be furnished with certificates of insurance 
and original endorsements affecting coverage required by this request. The certificates and 
endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by the insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. 
All certificates of insurance are to be submitted prior to, and approved by, the City before services 
are rendered. The Proposer must ensure Certificates of Insurance are updated for the entire term of 
the Contract. 

F. Insurer Acceptability: Insurance is to be placed with an insurer having an A.M. Best's rating of A 
and a five (5) year average financial rating of not less than V. If an insurer does not qualify for 
averaging on a five-year basis, the current total Best's rating will be used to evaluate insurer 
acceptability. 

G. Lapse in Coverage: A lapse in coverage shall constitute grounds for contract termination by the 
City of Port Wentworth. 

H. Deductible and Self-Insured Retention: Any deductibles or self-insured retention must be 
declared to, and approved by, the City. At the option of the City, either: the insurer shall reduce or 
eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retention as related to the City, its officials, officers, 
employees, and volunteers; or the Proposer shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of related 
suits, losses, claims and related investigation, claim administration and defense expenses. 
 

1.15 ADDITIONAL COVERAGE FOR SPECIFIC PROCUREMENT PROJECTS:  
Professional Liability: Insure errors or omissions on behalf of architects, engineers, attorneys, medical 
professionals, and consultants.  

 Minimum Limits: $3,000,000 per claim/occurrence.  
Coverage Requirement: If “claims made,” retroactive date must precede or coincide with the contract 
effective date or the date of the Notice to Proceed. The professional must state if “tail” coverage has 
been purchased and the duration of the coverage.   
Builder’s Risk: (for Construction or Installation Contracts) Covers against insured perils while in the 
course of construction.   

 Minimum Limits: All risk coverage equals 100% of the contract value 
Coverage requirements: Occupancy clause – permits the City of Port Wentworth to use the facility prior 
to issuance of Notice of Substantial Completion.  
 

1.16 INDEMNIFICATION: The CONTRACTOR agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless 
the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia, its Council Members, officers, agents, and employees from and 
against any and all liability, damages, claims, suits, liens, and judgments, of whatever nature, including 
claims for contribution and/or indemnification, for injuries to or death of any person or persons, or 
damage to the property or other rights of any person or persons caused by the CONTRACTOR or its 
subcontractors.

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

01160-4 

 
The CONTRACTOR'S obligation to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless, as set forth herein 
above shall include, but not be limited to, any matter arising out of any actual or alleged infringement of 
any patent, trademark, copyright, or service mark, or any actual or alleged unfair competition, 
disparagement of product or service, or other business tort of any type whatsoever, or any actual or 
alleged violation of trade regulations. CONTRACTOR further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, 
provide defense for, and to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Port Wentworth, 
Georgia, at his sole expense, and agrees to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto, even if such 
claims, suits, etc., are groundless, false, or fraudulent, including any and all claims or liability for 
compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act arising out of injuries sustained by any employee 
of the CONTRACTOR or his subcontractors or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them. 
The CONTRACTOR'S obligation to indemnify the City of Port Wentworth under this Section shall not 
be limited in any way by the agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and amount of coverage provided 
by any insurance maintained by the CONTRACTOR. 

 
1.17 INTERPRETING SPECIFICATION: The specifications or scope of services contained herein are 

intended to be descriptive rather than restrictive. The City is soliciting a bid to provide a complete 
product or service package which meets all requirements. Specific equipment and system references may 
be included in the ITB for guidance, but they are not intended to preclude bidders from recommending 
alternative solutions for offering comparable or better performance or value to the City. Changes in the 
scope of services, specifications, or terms and conditions of the ITB will be made in writing by the City 
prior to the bid opening or due date.  Results of informal meetings between a potential Bidder and a City 
official or employee may not be used as a basis for deviations from the requirements contained in this 
solicitation. 

 
1.18 SIGNED RESPONSE CONSIDERED AN OFFER: The signed Bid shall be considered an offer on 

the part of the Bidder, which offer shall be deemed accepted upon approval by the City of Port 
Wentworth, or their designee. In case of a default on the part of the Bidder after such acceptance, the 
City of Port Wentworth may take such action as it deems appropriate, including legal action for damages 
or lack of required performance. 

 
1.19 NOTICE TO PROCEED: The successful bidder shall not commence work under this Invitation to Bid 

until a written contract is awarded and a Notice to Proceed is issued by the Assistant City Manager / 
Development or his designee. If the successful Bidder does commence any work or deliver items prior 
to receiving official notification, he does so at his own risk. 

 
1.20 PAYMENT TO CONTRACTORS: Instructions for invoicing the City for services delivered to the 

City are specified in the contract document. 
A. Questions regarding payment may be directed to the City of Port Wentworth Finance Department, 

at (912) 964-4379.  ACH payment is the method agreed upon by the selected vendor. 
B. Contractors will be paid the agreed upon compensation upon satisfactory progress or completion 

of the work as more fully described in the contract document. 
C. The City of Port Wentworth is a tax-exempt entity. Every contractor, vendor, business or person 

under contract with City of Port Wentworth is required by Georgia law to pay State sales or use 
taxes for products purchased in Georgia or transported into Georgia and sold to the City of Port 
Wentworth by contract. Please consult the State of Georgia, Department of Revenue, Sales and Use 
Tax Unit in Atlanta (404) 656-4065 for additional information. 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

01160-5 

1.21 CONTRACT COST ADJUSTMENTS: Prices quoted shall be firm for the contract term. 
 

1.22 VENDOR DEFAULT: In case of vendor default, the City will provide a letter of official notice of non-
performance.  If the issue(s) are not remedied 30 days from receipt of said notice, the City reserves the 
right to procure services from other sources. 

 
1.23 METHOD OF COMPENSATION: The successful Contractor will be compensated in accordance with 

the approved compensation schedule. Should the Project begin within any one month, the first invoice 
shall cover the partial period from the beginning date of the project through the last day of the month (or a 
mutually agreeable time).  All invoices shall be submitted on a monthly basis until the project is completed.  
Invoices shall be itemized to reflect actual expenses for each individual task and will be accompanied by a 
summary progress report which outlines the work accomplished during the billing period and shall identify 
any problems which may be inhibiting project execution. The terms of the resulting contract are intended 
to supersede all provisions of the Georgia Prompt Pay Act. The City will retain 10% of the gross value of 
the completed work as indicated by the current estimate approved by the Engineer/Architect until the 
Contractor achieves substantial completion.  Upon Substantial Completion, the City will release most of 
the retainage except it will retain two times (2x) the amount of estimated punch list work remaining until 
achieving Final Completion with the completion of the Punch List items.  The contractor may submit a 
final invoice to the City for the remaining retainage upon the City’s acceptance of the Certificate of 
Substantial Completion.  Final payment constituting the entire unpaid balance due shall be paid by the City 
to the Contractor when work has been fully completed and the contract fully performed, except for the 
responsibilities of the Contractor which survive final payment. The making of final payment shall 
constitute a waiver of all claims by the City of Port Wentworth except those arising from unsettled liens, 
faulty or defective work appearing after substantial completion, failure of the work to comply with the 
requirements of the contract document, or the terms of any warranties required by the contract document 
or items previously made in writing and identified by the City as unsettled at the time of final application 
for payment.  Acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor, except 
for those previously made in writing and identified by the Contractor as unsettled at the time of final 
application for payment.  ACH is the method of payment the City utilizes.  No checks will be issued.  
 

1.24 GUARANTEE: Unless otherwise specified by City, the Bidder shall unconditionally guarantee the 
materials and workmanship on all material and/or services for a period of not less than one year. If within 
the guarantee period any defects occur which are due to faulty material and or services, the contractor, 
at his expense, shall repair or adjust the condition, or replace the material and/or services to the complete 
satisfaction of the City. These repairs, replacement or adjustments shall be made only at such time as 
will be signed by the City as being least detrimental to the operation of City business. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

01160-6 

1.25 SURETY BOND REQUIREMENTS (CHECKED WHERE APPLICABLE): 
 

X A. Bidder shall post a Bid Bond, made payable to the City of Port Wentworth Fire Department in 
the amount of 5% of the Bid price. 

X B. Contractor(s) shall post  a Performance Bond, made payable to the City of Port Wentworth 
Finance Department, in the amount of 100% of the Bid price if awarded the contract or purchase.  
Bond(s) are due prior to contract execution as a guarantee that goods meet specifications and will be 
delivered in accordance with the contract document.  Bond(s) will also guarantee quality performance 
of services and timely payment of invoices due to any sub-contractors. 

X C. Whenever a Bond is provided, it shall be executed by a surety authorized to do business in the 
State of Georgia and approved by the City of Port Wentworth. 

X D. Bidder acknowledges the City of Port Wentworth’s right to require a Performance Bond of 
specific kind and origin. 

X E. Forfeit in the amount of the Bid Bond as liquidated damages if he/she fails to enter into a contract 
with the City of Port Wentworth to do and/or furnish everything necessary to provide service and/or 
accomplish the work stated and/or specified in this Bid Proposal for the Bid amount, and; 

X F. Forfeit the amount of the Performance Bond as liquidated damages if he/she fails to execute and 
fulfill the terms of the contract entered.  The amount of forfeiture shall be: 

1. The difference between his/her Bid and the next lowest, responsible Bid that has not expired or 
been withdrawn, or; 

2. The difference between his/her Bid and the lowest, responsible Bid received as a result of re-
Bidding, including all costs related to re-Bidding. 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

 01250-6 

 
 
 
By:            
(Signature of first joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 
 
Name (typed or printed):         
 
Title:            

 
Second Joint Venturer Name:       (SEAL) 

 
By:            
(Signature of second joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 
 
Name (typed or printed):         
 
Title:            
 
(Each joint venturer must sign. The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, and 
corporation that is a party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated above.) 
 
 
Bidder's Business Address           
 
             
 
Phone No. _____________________________________ Fax No.      
 
E-mail ______________________________      _______ 

 
SUBMITTED on     , 20____. 

 
State Contractor License No.     . 

 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24 Drayton Street

Savannah, GA 31401

912.354.1386 912.354.1388

david.newland@jedunn.com

November 30 23

GCCO003378

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



7

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

 01250-1 

BID FORM 

ARTICLE 1 - BID RECIPIENT 

1.01  This Bid is submitted to: 

City of Port Wentworth, Georgia 

1.02 The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement with Owner 
in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or indicated in the Bidding 
Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and in accordance with the other terms 
and conditions of the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 2 - BIDDER’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

2.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without limitation 
those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to acceptance for 60 days 
after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may agree to in writing upon request of 
Owner. 

ARTICLE 3 - BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

3.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that: 

A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, other related data identified in the 
Bidding Documents, and the following Addenda, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged: 

Addendum No.  Addendum Date 

             
             
             

 
B. Bidder has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site 

conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 
 

C. Bidder is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and 
performance of the Work. 

 
D. Bidder has considered the information known to Bidder; information commonly known to contractors 

doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; 
and the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents 
on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including applying the specific means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding 
Documents; and (3) Bidder’s safety precautions and programs. 

 
E. Based on the information and observations referred to in Paragraph 3.01.D above, Bidder does not 

consider that further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for 
the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and within the times 
required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents. 
 

Addenda 1, 2, 3 11/6/23
Addendum 4 11/16/23
Addendum 5 11/17/23
Addendum 6 11/29/23

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

 01250-2 

F. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates 
to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents. 

 
G. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder 

has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable 
to Bidder. 

 
H. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and 

conditions for the performance of the Work for which this Bid is submitted. 
 

ARTICLE 4 -  BIDDER’S CERTIFICATION 
 
4.01 Bidder certifies that: 

 
A. This Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed individual or entity 

and is not submitted in conformity with any collusive agreement or rules of any group, association, 
organization, or corporation; 
 

B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false or sham Bid; 
 
C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and  
 
D. Bidder has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for the 

Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 4.01.D: 
 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value likely to 
influence the action of a public official in the bidding process; 
 
2.“fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the bidding 
process to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish bid prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) 
to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition; 
 
3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or   without 
the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish bid prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; 
and 
 
4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or their 
property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of the Contract. 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station

01250-3 

ARTICLE 5 – CONTRACT PRICE
5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents an 

amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined below:

BUILDING, LUMP SUM BASE BID: $

CIVIL / SITE, LUMP SUM BASE BID: $

ALTERNATE DEDUCT NO. 001 SECTIONAL DOORS $

THIS SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

1. After visiting the site, we understand that the initial clearing of the property is ongoing and being perform
under a separate contract.  We have not included any clearing to access the site as it is assumed this will
be performed under the initial site package (by others).  Additionally, if any clearing is required for the
installation of the 12” water main along HWY 30, this is to be done by others.  Clearing of this area cannot
be determined if it will be necessary until staking & layout has occurred on site.

2. The Geotech Report provided by GHD references a recommendation of having to remove and replace
high plasticity soils on Page 8, Section 4.1; and creating separation of 4’-5’ from the building structure.
Furthermore, notes 3 & 4 on Drawing S-001 directs the removal of any unsuitable soils at no additional cost
for this work.  It is unknown if these soils will be suitable for construction until proper testing and proof rolling
has been performed.  We have excluded the cost to remove and replace any unsuitable soils.  A unit rate for
removal and replacement can be provided, if needed.

3. Note 12 on M-001 states that additional supplemental steel members may be required to support equipment.
It is assumed that the design disciplines have coordinated this work and incorporated any design elements
required, into the documents; thus, we have not included additional work currently not shown.

4. Per RFI response 13 on page 3, we have only included conduits, raceways, and pull strings for the
low voltage work shown in the documents.  This is includes data/comm, security, etc. shown in the
Telecommunications Plans.  All low voltage work and A/V shall be by others.

5. We have not included import of topsoil for plantings per note 2.2 on sheet L2.2.  It is assumed that the
in-situ soils and fill dirt for new elevations will be acceptable.  Additionally, we have not included any soil
amendments, as it is unsure what, if any, amendments will be needed until testing is performed.

6. We have not included AISC certification for structural steel.  This is included 3rd party certification.
7. While reviewing and pricing the project, there are several areas where cost can be reduced.  These options

can be provided and discussed once the bid process is complete.

CLARIFICATIONS

See Hard Copy Response

See Hard Copy Response

See Hard Copy Response

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



8

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



9

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.c

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



10

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Port Wentworth Fire Station 
 

01150-11 

ATTACHMENT F 
Statement of Qualifications 

 
                                                            Port Wentworth Fire Station 

 
Please provide the following information: 
 
1. COMPANY BACKGROUND & QUALIFICATIONS: 

Background - Provide name, address, contact information, for the firm and the primary contact person.  
Indicate location of office responsible for the work.  Provide brief company history and background, 
including number of years in business, annual revenues, and current work commitments.  Provide type of 
organization or company structure.  Provide certification that the firm is legally permitted to conduct 
business in the State of Georgia.   
 
Qualifications - Provide resumes of your firm’s proposed key personnel. Resumes should highlight 
relevant qualifications. More than one individual may be listed for key positions as the timing of the Award 
may dictate the availability of the personnel. Provide a team organizational chart. Provide 3-5 descriptions 
of projects with similar scopes and size currently in progress or completed within the past ten (10) years 
for which the firm has provided similar services. These descriptions should demonstrate the firm’s 
experience relative to the scope, costs, conditions, and delivery method of the type of projects described 
in this document including, but not limited to, public safety buildings and other public institutional 
projects. Provide information for each project listed:  

 
a. Project name, location, size and date completed 
b. Brief description of project 
c. Indicate similarities in the construction of the highlighted project to the project being advertised.  

 
2. APPROACH: Describe the firm’s approach to this type of work, including communication process, project 

management, preconstruction services, and quality control.  Provide samples of schedules that will be used 
to control and monitor the various project phases. Describe methods employed to keep projects on schedule 
and methods of corrective action to overcome schedule deficiencies.  Describe your firm’s process for 
payment applications to the Owner and payments to vendors and subcontractors. Describe your method 
for ensuring the costs are accurate and/or substantiated.  

 
3. LITIGATION: List and describe any litigation your firm has been a party to in the past five (5) years and 

note any active litigation.  Has your firm ever failed to complete any work awarded to it? 
 

4. FINANCIAL INFORMATION: List the firm’s annual revenue, for the past five (5) years and supply main 
financial and banking references.  Provide a financial statement for the most recent fiscal year. This can 
be provided in a sealed envelope marked “confidential” to be returned once the project has been awarded. 

 
5. SAFETY: Does your company have a written safety manual? Provide a copy of this manual (electronic 

version acceptable.) List any OSHA violations in the State of Georgia within the last year.  The firm must 
demonstrate a commitment to safety with regard to Worker’s Compensation by having a current 
Experience Modification Rating (EMR) of 1.2 or less. 

 
6. REFERENCES: Please provide references including name, contact, and contact information so that we 

can correspond with them regarding your services.
 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



1
1  |  COMPANY BACKGROUND & QUALIFICATIONS

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



RYAN PRICE 
Project Executive
ryan.price@jedunn.com 
912.856.6206

SAVANNAH OFFICE
24 Drayton Street,  
Suite 400  
Savannah, GA
912.354.1386

Company Background & Qualifications
Background - Provide name, address, contact information, for the firm and the primary contact person. 
Indicate location of office responsible for the work. Provide brief company history and background, 
including number of years in business, annual revenues, and current work commitments. Provide type 
of organization or company structure. Provide certification that the firm is legally permitted to conduct 
business in the State of Georgia.

1
PRIMARY CONTACT

67
YEARS IN SAVANNAH

$144M
2022 REVENUE 

90%
REPEAT CLIENTS

LOCAL
WE ARE

The response to your bid is submitted by JE Dunn Construction Company. JE Dunn is a privately-
held, employee-family-owned corporation that has been in business for 99 years under our present 
name with a state of residency in Georgia. Our Savannah office was founded in 1956 and has 
been operational for 67 years. Our office is located only 11 miles from Port Wentworth and will be 
responsible for managing the Port Wentworth Fire Station project.  We have 55 FTEs in Chatham 
County and an office fully staffed with local construction professionals including Preconstruction, 
Operations and Marketing services. NO CROSSING STATE LINES WITH OUR COMMITTED TEAM! 

Specializing in construction management, program management and design/build projects of all 
sizes, JE Dunn has consistently ranked among the top 20 contractors nationwide according to the 
leading industry publication, Engineering News-Record. Ninety percent (90%) of our projects are 
delivered to repeat clients, which is an excellent indicator of how we value all of our relationships 
regardless of project size. 

Our local team’s annual revenue for 2022 was $144M. Our team is is nearing completion on the 
Chatham County Courthouse in dowtown Savannah, St. Joseph’s/Candler’s Heartwood Medical 
Office Building in Richmond Hill, Phase II of the Robert Small Leadership Academy K-8 school 
in Beaufort, SC, and Coastal Carolina Hospital’s Operating Room in Hardeeville, SC. We are 
beginning construction for the new Windsor Forest High School here in Savannah and Southeast 
Toyota’s JAXPORT project in Jacksonville, FL . Each of these projects has components similar to 
the scope of your project and each proposed team member has the experience necessary to meet 
and exceed your expectations. OUR TEAM IS READY TO WORK WITH YOU!

With JE Dunn, The City of Port Wentworth will get the benefits of a LOCAL COMPANY with 
NATIONAL RESOURCES. Additionally, our company participates in an Employee Stock 
Ownership Program (ESOP) meaning that each individual who works for JE Dunn takes personal 
pride and ownership in his or her delivery. Who better to hire for the project than a company 
whose individuals truly value their work?

$350M+$350M+  
OF LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT 

AGENCY WORK 

OVER THE LAST 12 

YEARS

Savannah-Chatham County Public School System

Chatham CountyCity of Savannah

Jenkins STEM  
High School

Andrea B. Williams 
Elementary School

Hesse K8 School

Pennsylvania Avenue 
Resource Center

Chatham County Courthouse

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



JE DUNN IS LEGALLY PERMITTED TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF GEORGIA.
WE HAVE INCLUDED OUR LICENSES BELOW.

GCQA LICENSE - GCCO003378

GC LICENSE - GCQA003387

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



 
Qualifications - Provide resumes of your firm’s proposed key personnel. Resumes should highlight relevant qualifications. More than 
one individual may be listed for key positions as the timing of the Award may dictate the availability of the personnel. Provide a team 
organizational chart. Provide 3-5 descriptions of projects with similar scopes and size currently in progress or completed within the past ten 
(10) years for which the firm has provided similar services. These descriptions should demonstrate the firm’s experience relative to the scope, 
costs, conditions, and delivery method of the type of projects described in this document including, but not limited to, public safety buildings 
and other public institutional projects.  Provide information for each project listed:  
 
a. Project name, location, size and date completed 
b. Brief description of project 
c. Indicate similarities in the construction of the the highlighted project to the project being advertised. 

RYAN PRICE
Project Executive

DAVID NEWLAND
Preconstruction Director

ASHLEY LLOYD
Estimating Manager

REANNA COGGINS
Project Manager

JARED PROPST
General Superintendent

DREW ARRINGTON
Project Superintendent

PRECONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS FIELD

YOUR LOCAL TEAM

Marques Lowe
Safety

SUPPORT SERVICES

Mishaune Sawyer 
Senior Diversity, 

Equity & Inclusion 
Manager

Todd Stuart
MEP

Chad Meadows
 Schedule

Matt Hagan
Quality

Kyle Hingst
VDC

Elizabeth Taylor
Lean

Todd Rampley
Client Support

INVESTED IN THE 
LOCAL COMMUNITY
With 55 FTE’S in Chatham County,
our office nearby is fully staffed 
with local construction professionals 
including Preconstruction, 
Operations, and Marketing Services. 
NO CROSS ING STATE  L INES ! !

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Relevant Experience

City of Savannah Pennsylvania 
Avenue Resource Center, Savannah, 
GA - 18,960 SF 2-story community 
center; $6.5M

Georgia Southern University Center 
for Engineering & Applied Research, 
Statesboro, GA - New 132,000 SF, 
4-story, university engineering and 
research building; $49.8M

Chatham County Courthouse, 
Savannah, GA  — New 155,000 SF 
courthouse; $76.3M

Chatham County Live Oak Public 
Libraries, Garden City & Savannah, 
GA  — Two, 16,000 SF New Public 
Libraries; $9.6M

Savannah Chatham County Public 
School System Jenkins STEM High 
School, Savannah, GA — 233,850 
SF new high school; $58.2M

As Project Executive, Ryan will be accountable for all aspects of project 
performance, ensuring the project vision becomes a reality. He will also work 
collaboratively with his team, the design team, and the City of Port Wentworth 
to develop the Project Purpose Statement, which will be used as a guiding 
narrative to foster team cohesiveness. Ryan’s involvement will continue through 
preconstruction and construction phases of the project, working closely with the 
project team to provide leadership and guidance to achieve project success. In 
addition to having contractual authority, he will leverage JE Dunn’s national and 
local resources to ensure expectations are exceeded as your trusted partner.

Education 
BS, Construction Management, 
Georgia Southern University, 1997 

Reference 
Matthew Shingler 
Georgia Southern University 
912.478.0688 
mshingler@georgiasouthern.edu  

RYAN PRICE
PROJECT EXECUTIVE

years in  
industry

26

Cliff McMackin/Sea Pines 
Resort/843.816.6493/cmcmackin@
seapines.com

Jared Propst
GENERAL SUPERINTENDENT 

Relevant Experience

Chatham County Courthouse, 
Savannah, GA — New 155,000 SF 
courthouse; $76.3M

Savannah-Chatham County Public 
School System Windsor Forest High 
School, Savannah, GA  — 203,902 
SF 3-story new high school campus

Beaufort Schools Robert Smalls 
International Academy Replacement 
School Beaufort SC, Beaufort, SC  — 
36,913 SF new K-8 public school; 
$61.7M 

Horton Plaza Park Improvement, San 
Diego, CA* — Public works project 
including three pavilions, interactive 
water features, an amphitheater, and 
the historic restoration of the existing 
City of San Diego Fountain; $16M 

Mission Rock Parcel A, San Francisco, 
CA* - 23-story, cast-in-place above-
grade tower with 282 residential 
units, office and retail shell space; 
LEED Gold; $270M

*work performed at previous firm

As General Superintendent, Jared will provide overall project oversight and 
lead the team in delivering a successful project. He is fully versed in safety and 
compliance standards, both locally and nationally. Jared will be responsible for 
providing leadership to the onsite team, oversight of trade partner activities, and 
guiding construction sequencing activities to achieve project success. Through 
communication, planning, constructability reviews, knowledge and experience 
the Jared will lead the project team to exceed project goals and requirements for 
safety, quality and budget.

Military Service 
United States Marine Corps, 
Combat Engineer, 2001 - 2005 
 
Reference 
Parveez Yousuf 
Chatham County 
912.656.4360 
pyousuf@chathamcounty.org 
 

years in  
industry

16

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



David Newland
PRECONSTRUCTION DIRECTOR

Relevant Experience

City of Savannah Pennsylvania 
Avenue Resource Center, Savannah, 
GA - 18,960 SF 2-story community 
center; $6.5M 

Chatham County Courthouse, 
Savannah, GA  — New 155,000 SF 
courthouse; $76.3M

Georgia Southern University Center 
for Engineering & Applied Research, 
Statesboro, GA - New 132,000 SF, 
4-story, university engineering and 
research building; $49.8M

Bluffton Town Hall Renovation, 
Bluffton, SC - 26,747 SF town hall 
renovation and addition $4.7M

Bryan County Administration 
Building* - 29,767 SF county 
administration building

Bulloch County Courthouse, 
Statesboro, GA* - 37,000 SF county 
courthouse renovation

Live Oak Public Library* - 37,000 SF 
county courthouse renovation

As your Preconstruction Director, David is your advocate from project 
conception through construction to ensure that we deliver the maximum value 
to your project within the planned budget. From implementing a collaborative 
Target Value Delivery approach to utilizing the latest technology in JE Dunn’s 
proprietary Lens™ estimating software, David will provide critical leadership 
and oversight of the team, process, and tools to achieve your overall vision. 
David is responsible for delivering an exceptional client experience and 
ensuring certainty of results.

Education 
MS, Construction Management, University 
of Florida, 2005

BS, Construction Management, Georgia 
Southern University, 2004 
 
Reference 
Greg Menke 
St. Joseph’s/Candler Health System 
912.819.8084 
menkeg@sjchs.org 

years in  
industry

25

Ashley Lloyd
ESTIMATING ENGINEER

Relevant Experience

Sea Pines Resort Quarterdeck 
Restaurant, Hilton Head Island, SC 
— 16,566 SF, 2-story restaurant 
redevelopment; $11.2M

Coastal Carolina Level II Nursery 
Hardeeville, SC — 2,600 sf 
remodel level II nursery; $1.3M

Savannah-Chatham County Public 
School System Windsor Forest High 
School, Savannah, GA  — 203,902 
SF 3-story new high school campus

St. Joseph’s/Candler Health Systems 
Heartwood Medical Office Building, 
Richmond Hill, GA — 15,510 sf 
single-story healthcare facility to 
include urgent care, primary care, 
and the BeHealth Program. project 
includes 3,000 sf of shell space for 
future buildout; $11.4M 

Coastal Carolina OR Addition and 
Renovation, Hardeeville, SC — 
2,600 sf OR addition; $3.9M

As Estimating Engineer, Ashley will support the preconstruction effort utilizing 
JE Dunn’s Lens™ suite of estimating tools. She will work with the team to 
provide real time cost evaluations to attain optimum value from the budget, in 
addition to managing project costs, and preparing cost updates to ensure that 
every detail is accounted for in order to deliver certainty of results.

Education 
BBA, Marketing, Georgia State University, 
2005 
 
References 
Janina Scalfano 
Campo Architects 
504.598.4440 
jscalfano@jtcampo.com

years in  
industry

20

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Drew Arrington
PROJECT SUPERINTENDENT

Relevant Experience

Chatham County Courthouse, 
Savannah, GA — New 155,000 SF 
courthouse; $76.3M

Savannah Chatham County Public 
School System Jenkins STEM High 
School & Gymnasium, Savannah, 
GA — 233,850 SF new high 
school with gymnasium; $58.2M

Savannah Chatham County 
Public School System Juliette Low 
Elementary School, Savannah, GA 
— 127,855 SF, 950-student new 
public elementary school; $25.2M 

St. Joseph’s/Candler Pooler 
Campus, Pooler, GA — 83,000 SF 
medical office building and micro 
hospital; $22.9M

As JE Dunn’s Project Superintendent, Drew will be your onsite contact and 
will be responsible for team management during construction. He will 
provide oversight to the team and plan all construction sequencing to meet 
project goals. Utilizing his expertise of lean principles, Drew will ensure 
successful planning, collaboration and project execution success. Drew will 
serve as your safety advocate, creating safety awareness by demonstrating 
a commitment to an injury-free environment through actions and mentoring. 
He will attend all appropriate project meetings and manage trade partners 
throughout the life of the project to ensure execution of safety, quality and 
schedule.

Education 
BS, Construction Management, Georgia 
Southern University, 2019 
 
References 
David Duvall 
Savannah-Chatham County Public Schools 
912.856.5387 
David.Duvall2@sccpss.com 
 

years in  
industry

6

Reanna Coggins
PROJECT MANAGER

Relevant Experience

St. Joseph’s/Candler Health Systems 
Heartwood Medical Office Building, 
Richmond Hill, GA — 15,510 sf 
single-story healthcare facility to 
include urgent care, primary care, 
and the BeHealth Program. project 
includes 3,000 sf of shell space for 
future buildout; $11.4M

Charleston County Aviation Authority 
Consource A Additional Gates,  
Charleston, SC  — 3 new gate 
additions in existing airport; $3M

Savannah Chatham County Public 
School System Jenkins STEM High 
School & Gymnasium, Savannah, GA 
— 233,850 SF new high school with 
gymnasium; $58.2M 

Middle Street Partners Atlantic on 
Romney, Charleston, SC  — 450,054 
SF, 9-story apartment building with 
parking garage $86.5M

As your Project Manager, Reanna will coordinate all JE Dunn and trade 
partner project activities, beginning in preconstruction by leading collaborative 
efforts with the owner, architect, and key trade partners. Working with the 
preconstruction team, she will conduct constructability reviews to attain optimum 
value from your budget, as well as support the development of the project’s 
strategic plan. Working with Drew Arrington, Project Superintendent, she will 
monitor project costs, prepare subcontracts, monitor the project schedule, review 
and approve billings and implement processes and procedures to ensure safety, 
quality and schedule adherence to deliver your project on time and within 
budget.

Education 
BS, Construction Management, Georgia 
Southern University, 2015 
 
References 
Elizabeth Epstein 
Capital Construction 
ESPLOST Savannah-Chatham County Public 
School System 
912.650.1359 
elizabeth.epstein@sccpss.com 
 

years in  
industry

8

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



CITY OF SAVANNAH
PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE RESOURCE CENTER
Savannah, Georgia | July 2018 - Apri l  2019

Serving as the prime general contractor, JE Dunn completed construction of the 

Pennsylvania Avenue Neighborhood Resource Center for the City of Savannah. This 

project is a 22,000 SF, 2-story community center including offices, a fitness room, 

art classroom, game room, a computer lab, multi-use classrooms, library, rooms for 

wellness activities, medical services, a serving kitchen and café, a commercial-style 

kitchen for teaching culinary arts, and a 2,000 SF multi-purpose room that can be 

divided into two separate functioning spaces. 

The center provides access and invaluable resources to the community and offers 

many programs to the public including personal development, housing and home 

ownership assistance, micro-business opportunities, connection to public assistance 

programs, youth/adult education assistance and employment training and placement 

assistance.

S I Z E

22,000 SF

C O S T

$6,500,000

O W N E R  R E F E R E N C E 

Carol Moon (formerly with City of Savannah) 
Chatham County 
912.724.0270 
cmoon@chathamcounty.org

A R C H I T E C T  R E F E R E N C E : 
Robert Armstrong 
Hussey Gay Bell 
912.667.2476 
rarmstrong@husseygaybell.com

PUBLIC PROJECT
SIMILAR SIZE

LOCAL PROJECT

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



REFERENCE LETTER // CITY OF SAVANNAH, PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE RESOURCE CENTER 13.D.c

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



CHATHAM COUNTY LIVE OAK PUBLIC LIBRARIES 
ISLANDS & GARDEN CITY BRANCHES
Savannah, Georgia | Apri l  2012 - Apri l  2013

JE Dunn completed construction of two libraries (the Garden City Branch and the 

Islands Branch) for the Live Oak Public Libraries. Each library has the same footprint 

consisting of 1-story and 16,000 SF and are built to LEED Silver certification.

The libraries have open and airy space that is welcoming and inviting. Each is able 

to accommodate a variety of activities at the same time such as quiet reading, group 

study, community research and programs. While the majority of the facilities are open 

to the public, there are staff administration spaces including a shipping/receiving 

area.

The materials and finishes used throughout the buildings are durable, low-maintenance 

and able to withstand public use without looking institutional. Each facility is sensitive 

to, and reflects its unique site and neighborhood.

The projects included 94% local participation and MWBE participation of 42% 

(Garden City) and 47% (Islands).

S I Z E

16,000 SF EACH

C O S T

$9,600,000

O W N E R  R E F E R E N C E 

Michael Kaigler 
Chatham County Georgia 
912.790.1622 
mkaigler@chathamcounty.org

A R C H I T E C T  R E F E R E N C E : 
Monica Mastrianni 
Greenline Architecture 
912.658.3204 
mmastrianni@greenlinearch.com

PUBLIC PROJECT
SIMILAR COST

LOCAL PROJECT

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



REFERENCE LETTER // CHATHAM COUNTY LIVE OAK PUBLIC LIBRARIES 13.D.c

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



ST. JOSEPH’S/CANDLER HEALTH SYSTEM 
POOLER CAMPUS
Pooler, Georgia | February 2018 - March 2019

The St. Joseph’s/Candler medical office building in Pooler is the largest and first 

multi-use healthcare facility in Pooler, GA.  Phase 1 of 3 this project is a new 83,000 

SF, 3-story, state-of-the-art medical facility for the St. Joseph’s/Candler Hospital 

System.  Built on a 12-acre green field site the services within the first building 

includes; Outpatient Surgery, an Imaging Center inclusive of MRI, CT MRI, CT, X-Ray, 

Mammography, Urgent Care Clinic, Sterile Processing, Physical Therapy, Primary 

Care, and 3rd party medical office space.

JE Dunn was hired at the beginning of the design process and implemented a 

collaborative project delivery method with the Hospital and Design team.  During this 

process approximately 20 estimates were performed during programming to achieve 

maximum efficiency and meet the hospital budget. 

The original design and construction duration were 28 months.  This was reduced 

to 22 months and included the additional 23,000 SF the Hospital added during 

schematic design due to demand.  The 6-month time saving was accomplished by 

utilizing last planner during design (pull plans and work register) and breaking ground 

on an early site and structure package.  Ultimately 4 months of critical path work was 

put in place before the design and GMP was finalized.  Total construction duration 

was 14.5 months.

S I Z E

83,000 SF

C O S T

$22,900,000

O W N E R  R E F E R E N C E 

Greg Menke 
St. Joseph’s/Candler Health Systems 
912.819.8084 
menkeg@sjchs.org

A R C H I T E C T  R E F E R E N C E : 
Rick Bouchereau 
Gresham Smith 
904.239.4525 
rick.bouchereau@greshamsmith.com

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



REFERENCE LETTER // ST. JOSEPH’S/CANDLER, POOLER CAMPUS 13.D.c

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



CITY OF AUSTIN FIRE & EMS STATION
Austin, Texas | June 2019 - June 2020

The first of five new fire stations around the Austin area, the Del Valle/Moore’s 

Crossing Station is a joint-use fire and EMS station. This design-build project with 

PGAL Architects was on a fast-track to meet the needs of this booming population in 

Southeast Austin. 

The 13,000 SF, four-bay fire station is designed to accommodate 16 firefighters at full 

capacity and includes offices, large kitchen and dining area, sleeping quarters, fitness 

center and outdoor patio. The building was designed to meet Austin Energy Green 

Building requirements.

Behind the fire station is a 6,000 SF five-bay, 24-hour EMS station that includes 

offices, showers/bathroom, and sleeping quarters. The small metal building alongside 

the station is an EMS storage building that will house special events assets.

The complex includes 28 parking spots for staff, large driveway and private fueling 

station for trucks.

During the five-week Hospital move-in, JE Dunn maintained a strong presence onsite 

to ensure the move-in went smoothly;  facility fully functional, clean, re-punched and 

ready for the March 23, 2019 grand opening.

S I Z E

32,000 SF

C O S T

$11,100,000

O W N E R  R E F E R E N C E 

Wes Hopkins 
City of Austin Texas 
512.974.7158 
wesley.hopkins@austintexas.gov

A R C H I T E C T  R E F E R E N C E : 
Cris Ruebush 
PGAL 
512.236.1005 
cruebush@pgal.com

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



REFERENCE LETTER // CITY OF AUSTIN FIRE & EMS STATION 13.D.c

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



CITY OF HOUSTON FIRE STATION 84
Houston, Texas | December 2013 - December 2014

This new 15,500 SF fire station achieved LEED Silver status and includes 5 bays 

housing fire and EMS apparatus. Open living quarters for approximately 16 

firefighters per shift, includes private Captain and Lieutenant Quarters, a modern 

kitchen and lounge, an indoor/outdoor fitness area, locker rooms and bathrooms, all 

designed in accordance with the approved program of requirements and the current 

Houston Fire Department Fire Station Design Manual. 

Natural light is abundant throughout the facility, delivered to the interiors of the living 

and work spaces through large areas of glazing and a series of clearstory windows 

from above. Private outdoor spaces were created to allow for outdoor activities, 

including fitness, grilling, dining and work related activities. The palette of materials 

is consistent inside and out providing a balance of color, texture and scale. A number 

of lighting fixtures for the new facility are LED based for longer life, less maintenance 

and more energy efficiency. In order to better meet the heating and cooling needs of 

the new station, the new facility was designed to use a new energy efficient ground 

source heat pump system that is projected to cut energy costs in half.

S I Z E

15,000 SF

C O S T

$6,900,000

O W N E R  R E F E R E N C E 

Humberto Bautista 
City of Houston Texas 
832.393.8118 
humberto.bautista@houstontx.gov

A R C H I T E C T  R E F E R E N C E : 
Craig Reynolds 
BRW Architects 
214.528.8704 
creynolds@brwarch.com

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



2
2  |  APPROACH

1
13.D.c

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



22
APPROACH

Describe the firm’s approach to this type of work, including communication process, project management, preconstruction services, and 
quality control. Provide samples of schedules that will be used to control and monitor the various project phases. Describe methods 
employed to keep projects on schedule and methods of corrective action to overcome schedule deficiencies. Describe your firm’s process 
for payment applications to the Owner and payments to vendors and subcontractors. Describe your method for ensuring the costs are 
accurate and/or substantiated.

Collaboration & Communication
APPROACH/PHILOSOPHY

At its core, construction requires people to come together to 
build something. While metrics like budget, schedule, safety, 
and quality can measure a project’s success, we understand 
that it is the experience of project delivery that forges 
relationships. 

We are committed to 100% involvement, regardless of delivery 
method. Regardless of when JE Dunn is brought into the 
process, we seek to provide thoughtful, intentional collaboration 
that works in support of client priorities. This is always at the 
heart of our commitment to communicating early and often.

Mutual respect, trust and empathy provide the foundation for 
open and productive communication and allow for:

JE Dunn takes an integrated approach to collaboration and 
communication on every project. This approach is founded 
on lean principles for efficient design and construction. The 
overall project team—all those with hands on the design 
and construction process—have just one goal: the successful 
delivery of the project, a smooth turnover and efficient 
operation of the new space. We frame the goal of the project 
as our owner would think of the project—a building that is fully 
functional and ready to be used.

JE DUNN TEAM MEMBER INVOLVEMENT

A shared vision of success requires all team members to be 
involved and bought in. JE Dunn’s Project Manager and Design 
Phase Services director lead JE Dunn’s collaborative efforts from 
project award. 

Project teams are often supported by a member of JE Dunn’s 
Lean Services team. A Lean Specialist will provide training 
and coaching to ensure teams work better together and more 
effectively, leading to better communication and delivering 
more value to owners.

JE DUNN PROGRAMS

Project Purpose Statements

A shared understanding of the project’s vision and goals is 
key to open communication. In collaboration with project 
stakeholders, we create a project purpose statement the reflects 
the importance of the project to our clients and the people who 
will benefit from the project. The statement strives to engage 
everyone involved with the intended purpose of the project, 
making it inspirational, personal and affecting the attitudes of 
those involved. 

A safe and 
supportive 

environment 
that 

welcomes all 
ideas and 
questions

Decision-
making 

support with 
advance 

notice and 
tailored 

information

A culture of 
collaborative 

problem-
solving and 
sharing of 
information

Champions Fire Station No. 12

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Value Proposition Canvas

To gather diverse 
perspectives on your 
project, we use a tool 
called the value proposition 
canvas (VPC) to facilitate a 
brainstorm session with you. 
We listen and learn to gain 
an understanding about 
expectations for budget, 
schedule and maintaining 
ongoing operations.

Together with your stakeholders, we collectively identify 
challenges and associated solutions to guide our focus and 
identify where we can add value that is specific to the client’s 
needs. This process ensures that we understand client needs, 
rather than being presumptive.

Graphic Master Schedule

To create alignment and 
provide a clear plan to 
deliver the project’s goals, we 
create a large, tactile graphic 
schedule with input from the 
entire project team. The result 
is an easy-to-read visual tool 
that shows constraints and 
critical path logic. 

The detailed graphic master 
schedule includes “swim 
lanes,” which articulate responsibilities of the entire team, 
including trade partners, the owner and all stakeholders. 
Key milestones are included to show target dates that 
we track throughout the project. The master schedule is 
created collaboratively by the entire team, ensuring durable 
commitments that deliver on the project’s value proposition.  

We review and update the master schedule at each team 
meeting to verify progress. To allow team members to assist 
each other and keep the process on track, we maintain a 
constraint log. Weekly check-ins facilitate quick review of the 
constraint log without an extended time commitment, confirming 
that all parties are on task.

Weekly Progress Repor ts

We will be an over-
communicator of information, 
proactively managing the 
project to eliminate surprises 
because a team can only be 
effective with open and clear 
communication - a process 
that begins with listening. 
We actively listen to ensure 
we understand and execute 
properly. 

Once on site, our project team will be constantly communicating 
through formal and informal meetings, telephone conversations, 
e-mail, and electronic communication. Each week, you will 
receive a progress report that contains current project photos, 
key dates, and milestones for the upcoming week. These reports 
are an excellent tool that provides a consistent, week-by-week 
overview of the project’s progress.

TECHNOLOGY

Dunn Dashboard

Dunn Dashboard is a project-specific, web-based hub for 
collaboration. A project’s Dunn Dashboard will contain all 
key documents, including contract documents, RFIs, submittals 
and other administrative items. In addition, these sites can 
host project web cams, photos, 
calendars, updates and 
announcements.

The tool integrates with BIM 360 
Glue, enabling interactive BIM 
coordination between all project 
stakeholders. BIM 360 Glue 
reduces the need for model hand-
offs and allows team members 
the flexibility to coordinate 
continuously throughout the 
project. The integration with Dunn Dashboard provides 
functionality that creates clash-specific issue logs with the ability 
to assign individual issues to trade partners. This allows our 
project management team to visualize the status of clashes and 
easily track issues to completion.

CMiC

Dunn Dashboards utilize CMiC software to expedite RFI and 
submittal/shop drawing review, allowing online collaboration 
between the design and construction team, and to save on 
costly overnight shipping. 

During the review process, the design team posts their 
comments and virtually “stamps” the drawings. The CMiC 
collaboration software also allows both JE Dunn and the 
design team to track the status of a RFI/submittal and create 
custom reports identifying specific pieces of information. Use 
of the online system allows both the design and construction 
teams to save time and ensure that the most recent drawings, 
RFI responses, and submittal package reviews have been 
distributed to all parties, limiting the potential for mistakes.

CLIENT BENEFIT

JE Dunn’s approach to open, honest communication and 
collaboration from the project’s earliest stages provides the 
greatest value possible. By bringing a whole-project perspective 
to construction, we create a shared definition of success within 
the entire team.

Our approach aligns leadership with the project-wide definition 
of success from the client’s perspective. This ensures that 
everyone on the project is working in support of client goals. 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Preconstruction Services

APPROACH

JE Dunn approaches preconstruction by becoming a true 
integrated partner. From day one, we work closely with the 
design team and you to provide timely, consistent and accurate 
feedback on pricing, scheduling, constructability, safety, and 
quality so that the project stays within the cost limitation and 
The City of Port Wentworth’s goals are met. 

This process is much more than simply providing a price and 
schedule update at specific design milestones. It becomes a true 
partnership where ideas are exchanged openly, information is 
processed accurately, and decisions are made timely all in an 
effort to produce the best plan possible before the first shovel is 
in the ground. 

JE Dunn understands that our role during preconstruction is to 
bring real value to the project through: 

• Estimating
• Budget-design validation 
• Constructability reviews 
• Schedule and bid packaging input 
• Material and equipment selection variables 
• Life cycle cost analysis 
• Quality control reviews 
• Drawing detail input

COLLABORATIVE PROJECT DELIVERY

We streamline the traditional building process by delivering 
projects through a Collaborative Project Delivery (CPD) 
approach, which includes the following collaborative actions:

Team Alignment Sessions: We conduct a work session, known 
as the Value Propostion Workshop, to identify desired outcomes 
and formulate solutions to eliminate obstacles that could impede 
progress. 

This becomes the basis for developing a master schedule 
that provides a high-level road map to project completion 
and encompasses all elements of the project and involves all 
stakeholders. 

The project team, The City of Port Wentworth, along with 
key stakeholders, will review project goals, milestones, roles 
and responsibilities, potential roadblocks, and strategies to 
avoid and mitigate potential issues. Through this process, we 
develop team cohesion, a project purpose statement, rules of 
engagement, and a communication plan. 

Team members 

Collaborative 
Process Workshop 

1: 

Collaborative 
Process Workshop 

2: 

Belton Fire Station No. 2

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Graphic Master Schedule (GMS): The issues and opportunities 
identified through the sessions will guide the creation of a 
Graphic Master Schedule —a visual tool for communicating the 
delivery process with stakeholders. 

It will identify and highlight stakeholder interaction, process 
requirements, key start/finish milestone dates, deliverables, long 
lead items, and decision-making deadlines.  

This collaborative process will identify all relevant issues 
from the entire project team so that we are all thinking about 
schedule priorities from day one. It also helps sets the stage for 
our baseline P6 schedule.

PRECONSTRUCTION

Crucial to the success of Collaborative Project Delivery is our 
ability to deliver all elements of the building’s program within 
budget. JE Dunn will assemble a cost model that includes 
detailed scopes of work. 

Our estimating team works hand-in-hand with the design team 
and uses tools that support transparency, real-time feedback, 
and cost history to help accurately define the design in terms 
of cost. This is the value and advantage we bring to the Port 
Wentworth Fire Station.Our team will use these key tools to 
bring you the most accurate project program budget.

Lens
JE Dunn’s approach to ensuring continuous alignment of scope 
and budget during preconstruction combines decades of cost 
history from hundreds to thousands of projects with proprietary  
technology that was developed in-house. Benefits of Lens are 
shown below.

Lens, comprised of four separate modules that work together, 
is JE Dunn’s estimating tool that allows us to link our estimating 
program with the project’s 3D Revit model. 

What We’ll Do for You

Work in partnership with you 
to understand every aspect of 

construction, client expectations 
and concerns.

Complete Understanding

Establish a target GMP that 
provides you with a firm cost 

for construction.

GMP Pricing

Work with the team to 
complete cost studies that 
evaluate the cost of design 

options, from various interior 
finishes to mechanical and 

electrical systems.

Evaluate Options

Provide effective cost 
budgeting, forecasting, and 

control during the construction 
so that the project remains 

within budget.

Cost Control

Each one of these steps encompasses a wide range of activities and draws upon expertise from across our team – not only our estimating specialists, 
but also our project managers, field superintendents, mechanical and electrical specialists, 3D imaging team, quality control, sustainability experts 
and schedulers.

Find similar project 
data in our cost 
history library to use 
as a budgetary frame 
of reference.

In Search, we can find similar 
commercial projects from our 
cost history library, compare 
estimates and adjust costs 
to inflation and geographic 
area. This gives you real 
construction cost data on this 
project type and size. 

Create a detailed, 
evolving cost estimate 
to completion.

  
In Aim, we have the ability 
to create estimates based 
on preliminary information 
from you. As an example, 
we can plug-in and 
compare structure types 
and understand the budget 
implications of each. 

Build a virtual model 
& view the project 
with quantification 
& budgeting directly 
linked to BIM.

In Focus, we utilize the 
design team’s Revit model to 
share a color-coded visual 
representation of project cost. 
The design team can make 
changes in the model and 
we can update the estimate 
within hours instead of days 
or weeks, saving you valuable 
time.

Track project progress 
and watch your vision 
come to life in a 
secure, cloud-based 
dashboard.

In View, the model and 
estimate are integrated into 
a dashboard so that all 
stakeholders can view the 
current design and estimate. 
The areas of cost can be 
isolated (skin, MEP, etc.) so 

Lens: Delivering continuous cost cer tainty

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Interaction with The City of Port Wentworth and the design 
team will be through both formal meetings and informal 
communications. From those discussions, we will continue to 
revise and update the estimate, taking into account cost driver 
information, such as schedule and constructability review input.

Budget 
To develop the project program budget, we will work with the 
entire team to select trade partners to define the scopes of work 
and necessary allowances. 

Should the design creep over the budget, we use Lens to 
provide options and alternates with our budgets that provide 
a path to the targeted GMP. Unit costs are checked for validity 
against our cost database and with local trade partners. 

Our project management software is web-based and can 
be accessed by all parties at any time through the Dunn 
Dashboard. We will report monthly on the status of budgets 
and contingencies. These reports are reviewed by our project 
management team to ensure the project is on track. Trade 
Par tner Involvement
Our relationships with trade partners are based on mutual 
respect, trust and recognition that they are critical to the 
success of our projects. Because we value our trade partners, 
we have strong, reliable relationships that allow JE Dunn to 
receive current market feedback that validate our historic costs, 
allow us to make updates in real time, and maintain a robust 
estimating process even when markets fluctuate. As well, our 
steady stream of work in Chatham County and throughout 
the Southeast allows us to share current information we are 
learning from our trade partners with our other JE Dunn project 
teams in real time.

Our open book policy of sharing and reviewing trade partner 
proposals during preconstruction ensures that you receive the 
benefit of the best pricing for each scope of work. 

We receive competitive pricing from several trade partners in 
each critical trade, starting with our initial estimate through the 
GMP estimate. Our trade partners work with the project team 
to evaluate the best systems for the addition while keeping the 
competitive spirit of price-based competition alive. 

After receiving proposals from our trade partners, we would 
like to explore the possibility of engaging and onboarding 
some of the key trades at that time. This could help drive 
additional savings on the project through their involvement and 
input, as well as help expedite the procurement of long-lead 
materials to reduce the overall construction schedule duration.  

Involving the trade partners creates a sense of accountability 
for them to maintain each line item budget as the project 
progresses.

If necessary, our team will provide cost values of alternatives 
being considered as part of the decision-making process. 
Utilizing the cost of alternatives (or options) and cross 
referencing the detailed base estimate will allow the team to 
understand the dollar value of decisions as they are being 
made with the overall goal to keep the total project cost in 
budget. 

The cross-disciplinary groups will be encouraged to identify 
innovation ideas that will improve the value being delivered 
on the project. Having completed similar projects, we can 
look at multiple similar materials or systems that could provide 
the same effect for less cost or at a degree of increased 
functionality and compatibility with other materials, systems or 
equipment.  

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Quality Control 
Delivering quality is about doing things right the first time. JE Dunn will carefully plan and execute a quality program for The City of 
Port Wentworth led by our Quality Assurance/Quality Control department in close coordination with the project team. 

Planning the program starts during preconstruction, led by David Newland. Once we move into construction, our project team will 
take the lead in reviewing and managing quality. By establishing these roles and beginning early, our team can produce quality 
results the first time around.

Here’s how we plan for quality at all phases of the project.

Preconstruction

We work with the design team and client to define 
expectations, set goals and answer questions before we start 
construction.

The benefit to The City of Port Wentworth is that we build your 
project virtually first, taking away the risk of extensive re-work 
in the field. Our core team is involved during preconstruction 
and has input into design and constructability. This ensures 
they’re fully familiar with what is being built and can move 
fluidly into construction.

•  Peer/Constructability Reviews (i.e. structural and skin) 
provide proactive input during design to prevent re-work 
during construction. Our policy requires third party peer 
reviews on structure, soils, CMU retaining walls, and 
cribbing/shoring. Additional potential third party reviews 
include seismic, sound, and any other complex or non-
typical assemblies. During this time we work with trade 
partners and manufacturers to develop fully coordinated 
envelope details. We will also develop the mock-up 
design if one is not provided. 
 
 
 
 

• Mock-Up Design happens prior to in-place construction 
mock-ups. We develop BIM renderings of details, with 
input from the design team and the trade partners, to 
show exactly how the building components are to be 
constructed. With this technology, we can provide step-
by-step instructions for the trades to ensure that each 
condition is installed correctly.

• Page Turns are where we meet with the design team to 
review in-house peer review comments (described above). 
This is done face-to-face and can include trade partners, 
client and third party consultants.

• A Site Specific Quality Plan (SSQP) is developed for 
each project to ensure the requirements in the contract 
documents and applicable codes and standards are 
identified and followed.

• BIM 360 Field Training is provided by JE Dunn to trade 
partners and focuses on how to input, respond and 
update information on jobsite observations and issue 
tracking.

• Trade Scope Reviews of plans and specifications help 
eliminate scope gaps and ensure requirements are met It also 
allows us to work with the design team and trade partners to 
select the right materials for the right applications.

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Construction

We make sure our self-perform crews and trade partners 
understand the expectations of their scope and focus on quality 
throughout construction.

The benefit to The City of Port Wentworth is that pre-work 
with mock-ups and testing ensures that key details, such as 
where differing skin systems meet, are fully coordinated before 
they’re installed on The City of Port Wentworth. Our use of 
collaborative and real-time technology allows for immediate 
resolution of quality issues, greatly reducing the risk of errors 
before enclosing the building.

• Gather Lessons Learned JE Dunn continually analyzes 
quality lessons learned so we can learn from and share 
with others in the company. Archiving these lessons allow 
us to better serve your project and future projects.

• BIM 360 Field Set Up allows JE Dunn to create custom 
checklists that can be filled out on an iPad, in the field, 
collecting all the data in one spot and saving time. 360 
Field also allows our trade partners to enter items and 
allows us to track the status of safety and quality for all 
trades on site.

• Manufacturer Site Visits For critical building systems or 
products, we will visit the location of fabrication to ensure 
that offsite assembly and manufacturing facilities meet 
the quality and performance requirements set forth in the 
contract documents. 

• Mock-Up Verification Testing highlights potential problems 
with installation and allow us to develop solutions early. 
Mock-ups are completed for all items outlined within 
the project specifications along with any other potential 
systems that pose challenges in the field.

• Building Verification Testing is where we conduct real-
world field testing of the work put in place on site. This first 
work-in-place inspection will be immediately accomplished 
prior to and at commencement of a significant construction 
activity, such as cast-in-place concrete, waterproofing 
systems, roofing, and masonry, to ensure compliance with 
project requirements.

• BIM 360 Field Audit We begin inspections of open issues 
and checklists, to make sure items are being closed out in 
a timely manner and are being brought up to the project 
team if attention is required.

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



Close Out

We focus on quality after construction so you are confident your 
management team can operate the building to its full potential. 
Turning the building systems on requires a commissioning and 
start up plan that JE Dunn develops and executes.

The benefit to The City of Port Wentworth is that you will not 
be kept waiting about warranty concerns because of our 
turnaround time. And we don’t hand you the keys and leave. 
JE Dunn provides full training and documentation that ensures 
you’ll be able to operate your building. 

• Warranty Set-Up In the event something does not perform 
as required, expect a response within 24 hours to address 
warranty concerns.

• 11-month Warranty Walk A formal warranty walk-through 
will be conducted at 45 days, six months and 11 months 
after the date of substantial completion. However, if any 
issues arise between these scheduled walkthroughs, our 
team and the appropriate trade partner(s) will be on-site to 
resolve the issue.

• Close Out Training Close out documentation includes 
drawings, specifications, warranties, and operations and 
maintenance manuals that are provided as well-organized 
digital records. We provide client training to make sure 
you have the knowledge needed to operate your building.

• BIM 360 Field Punchlist Our approach to the punchlist 
starts before anyone sets foot on the jobsite. We get buy 
in early and then reinforce it in preinstall and foreman’s 
meetings. We punch out work for each building system as 
we go. This process identifies issues, minimizes rework and 
reduces time lost fixing issues at the end.

• Final BIM 360 Field Audit JE Dunn ensures all issues 
are resolved by trade partners and moved into “work 
complete” status. Our goal is to have zero issues open 
prior to substantial completion. 

IMPLEMENTING QAQC STANDARDS

QA/QC activities are applied at the beginning of a project 
when quality standards are established with the JE Dunn 
project team and The City of Port Wentworth. We will ensure 
that construction is per plans and specs, and the design is 
constructible as designed. 

This includes the following major actions by the project team:

• Prequalification of Trade Partners Prequalification is 
a critical first step to ensuring each scope of work is 
performed by highly qualified and financially responsible 
trade partners. All potential trade partners are required to 
register online on our trade prequalifications system. This is 
the first step to identifying qualified trade partners for your 
project.

• Preinstallation Meetings These are planning meetings 
where all team members, including the trade partners, 
and craftsmen installing the work address upcoming work. 
Typical areas covered are drawing details, specifications, 
mock-ups, resources required, materials, safety, schedule, 
and approved submittals and “lessons learned.”

• Mock-Ups Physical models of complex installations are 
created so the project team can establish acceptance 
criteria for the finished product. We also take our mock-ups 
to the next level by first providing a virtual mock-up. This 
virtual mock-up allows us to work out the majority of the 
issues in the virtual world prior to the physical mock-up. 

• Quality Control System During the execution of the 
project, a quality control system is followed that ensures 
that the methods, procedures, and checks are applied 
to assure established standards are met. This system 
includes submittal reviews, material verification upon 
delivery, manufacturer shop visits for critical equipment 
and components, first in-place work inspections, and a 
warranty/maintenance matrix. 

• WUFI, a program that tells how moisture and heat flow affect building materials, 
analyzes and validates sustainability of project components, including exterior 
building enclosure systems. We use third party entities for peer reviews of key 
elements such as structure and building enclosure. 

• JE Dunn has in-house professionals to provide oversight of MEP, low-voltage, 
commissioning, BIM, schedule, structural steel and other building components. 

• BIM 360 Field simplifies the collection, analysis and distribution of worksite 
quality and provides real-time feedback to employees and trade partners. 
Every field observation made during each formal inspection is entered into the 
database. This directly ties to quality and punchlist for the project, allowing 
access to all stakeholders and team members.

SPECIALIZED SOFTWARE

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



• QA/QC Walks Both the project manager and 
superintendent walk the jobsite daily and are trained to 
constantly monitor safety and quality alike. Our quality 
control personnel will be on site as well with the sole 
purpose of verifying the quality of installation by all 
trades and to verify installed products are submitted as 
specified.

• Punchlist / Pre-Final Inspection The superintendent will 
lead the efforts for the punch-out inspection prior to 
the pre-final inspection performed by The City of Port 
Wentworth. JE Dunn’s BIM 360 proprietary punch list 
software itemizes punch list items by trade and location. 
This will allow for a timely issuance of the punch list 
to all trade partners. Once all items from the pre-final 
inspections are corrected, we will coordinate with The 
City of Port Wentworth to schedule the final inspection 
to verify those repairs and approve the building 
construction. 
 
Our aggressive punch list approach ensures that the 
project will close in a systematic and timely fashion. Our 
punch list process starts on day one so that by the end of 
the project there are zero punch list items.

COMPLIANCE

Providing compliant work begins with intensive and focused 
diligence prior to installation of materials. We will leverage 
our experienced team and additional trade-specific internal 
resources to properly plan and review installations to prevent 
non-compliant work.

However, should non-compliant work be found, it will be 
photographed and documented with the appropriate party. 
The non-compliant work will be reviewed to identify the specific 
issues and inaccuracies. Our team, the design team, and the 
party performing the installation will convene to agree on 
corrective actions.

If the sequence and installation are found to be satisfactory and 
the non-compliant work is due to improper materials or incorrect 
installation, the non-compliant work will be removed/replaced/
re-worked immediately and additional inspections/verifications 
instituted to prevent the non-compliant work from re-occurring.

If the non-compliant work continues, then our supervision team 
will discuss preventive measures up to and including removal of 
personnel or trade partners.

EYES ON QUALITY

Weekly Site Walks are scheduled with the project team 
and quality control personnel to review in-place building 
components to ensure proper installation according to 
manufacturer recommendations, quality standards set by the 
mock-ups, and compliance with the approved submittals and 
shop drawings. 

Any quality issues observed are recorded and published 
in a weekly field report, complete with photos, which are 
then reviewed with each trade partner during the weekly 
superintendent coordination meeting. 

In cases of improper installation, the trade partner is 
contacted and work on the specific building component is 
stopped until proper quality control procedures are followed 
with the installation. 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



APPROACH

If there is one aspect of construction that drives project success, 
it’s the schedule. Our team develops the schedule using past 
experience on similar projects, input from our trade partners, and 
Lean construction practices, including the Last Planner System. 
Working collectively with the entire project team, we establish our 
schedules with a maximum amount of input. This helps us discover 
and resolve potential roadblocks earlier and identify efficiencies 
earlier, allowing nimble planning and delivery adjustments to 
complete construction on time. Our team will provide an overall 
project schedule, from the inception of design through the warranty 
period. We have included a preliminary schedule at the end of this 
section.

Scheduling During Preconstruction

During the preconstruction phase, scheduling will focus on design 
documentation, the permitting process, the identification and 
ordering of long-lead items, any early bid packages, and the 
ultimate occupancy date. We will review logic, durations, and 
critical milestone dates with all affected parties. 

 

JE Dunn works collaboratively with the design team to align the 
project scope so we can establish bid packages to facilitate 
efficient use of design resources and provide seamless construction.

The project schedule will be developed utilizing Primavera P6, an 
industry-standard critical path method scheduling software, and will 
be updated and reviewed at progress meetings. We can customize 
the level of detail a schedule shows to the owner’s preference.

Scheduling During Construction

While we continue to update the high-level schedule throughout 
the project, during construction our area of focus narrows to 
daily details. This is imperative to properly sequence deliveries, 
installation of materials, and the various trade partners on site 
at any given time. We develop the overall logic of the planned 
progress of work and assign durations to the associated activities. 
Overall schedule updates will be performed at least monthly.

Scheduling 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



LEAN PRINCIPLES IN SCHEDULING

JE Dunn has a commitment to a Lean culture and has taken 
many steps to develop and enhance our approach to Lean. 
We developed a committee to work toward specific goals to 
reduce waste in transportation, inventory, motion, waiting, over 
production, over processing, defects, and skills. The benefits 
to employing Lean construction principles and improving 
collaboration are endless, and the project schedule is just one 
area where these principles can make a huge impact. Through 
these principles, all work is intentionally planned to maximize 
value and reduce wasted time, manpower and materials. 
Trade partner involvement in planning and achieves greater 
commitment for meeting milestones. 

SCHEDULE MANAGEMENT/CONTROL

Schedule control starts with having a good project plan and 
realistic timelines for the work. Key schedule influencers must be 
taken into consideration including crew sizes, productivity, and 
site access needs. The location of work must also be evaluated 
to ensure we are not simultaneously working overhead and 
below, which would create safety concerns. 

The project’s critical path is clearly conveyed to all project 
participants and managed accordingly. The key to any project 
is breaking it up into consumable components and milestones. 
JE Dunn’s responsibility will be to keep the entire project 
team focused on key milestone dates that could impact the 
construction schedule. JE Dunn will quickly notify Beaufort-
Jasper YMCA if there are any change in plan or schedule so 
it can be discussed, mitigated and/or approved in a timely 
manner by all parties involved.

JE DUNN PROGRAMS

Unique to JE Dunn, we create alignment and implement project 
goals/objectives for all stakeholders using a large, overarching 
schedule called a Graphic Master Schedule. The result is an 
easy-to-read visual tool that shows constraints and critical path 
logic. 

Graphic Master Schedules are extremely detailed and include 
“swim lanes” which articulate responsibilities of the entire team, 
including the full design and construction management team, 
trade partners, owner and all stakeholders. We will include key 
milestones to show target dates that will be tracked throughout 
the project. This collaborative project delivery approach, 
provides the fastest schedule, allowing facility use and move-in 
as early as possible.

We will review and update the Graphic Master Schedule 
at each team meeting to verify progress. To allow team 
members to assist each other in keeping the process on track, 
we maintain a constraint log. This facilitates transparent 
identification, tracking, and closure of constraints to enable 
reliable commitments. This Graphic Master Schedule will be the 
graphical representation of major milestones and will guide the 
project.

TECHNOLOGY

As stated earlier, we use Primavera P6 to develop and maintain 
the project schedule. P6 is a web-based application which 
easily allows project teams to collaborate in project planning, 
creating baseline schedules, progress updates and sharing 
best practices. P6 is a collaborative tool to help prioritize 
work, track progress, and communicate the project plan and 
schedule. It highlights decision points in preconstruction, 
illustrates the design process, and provides numerous options 
for sorting and filtering project tasks (i.e. sorting by trade, 6 
week look ahead schedules, summaries, etc.)

Our team will refine the master schedule with the 
trade partners utilizing a Lean tool called the Last 
Planner System (LPS) for all construction planning, 
scheduling, and coordination. 

The Last Planner System is comprised of five parts 
including:

01 Master planning

02 Pull planning to specific milestones

03 Make ready planning

04 Weekly work planning

05 Learning through daily huddles

This interactive process is performed at the job site 
to develop and maintain a work plan.

We start the schedule with the end in mind by 
bringing the entire field and office staff together 
through a facilitated workshop. This creates buy-in 
and allows the schedule to be maintained at a 
more precise level than the traditional method and 
provides a systematic process for obtaining reliable 
commitments, finding and eliminating constraints, 
and tracking completion of work.

Last Planner® System

CLIENT BENEFIT
Our schedule development and management process benefits our clients in multiple ways, the most obvious being opening 
your building on time. Our strict adherence to the project’s schedule prevents cost overrun and allows existing facility 
operations to develop a coordinated plan for construction.

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



CMIC

CMiC is JE Dunn’s accounting and project documentation software. As we move from preconstruction into construction, we will use 
this platform as the basis of our project management system. Many of JE Dunn’s tools communicate directly with CMiC to provide 
information in our collaboration environments.  

CMiC provides a fully integrated platform that provides all of the collaborative features needed to allow the team to work most 
effectively. It links directly to our other operating software for estimating, customer relations and external and internal communications, 
thereby providing a completely integrated package. CMiC Project Management has five operating modules which allows us to 
access, update, monitor, and share all project information, including cost information to provide reports and updates, change 
management, project accounting and pay applications. The CMiC collaboration module allows for external real-time communication.  

CMiC Cost & Budget Management is an integrated accounting package that allows us to:  

• Track and monitor time, expenses, supplier and capital costs 
• Manage the project budget effectively 
• Utilize billing, accounts receivable and accounts payable 
• Setup and manage budgets 
• Forecast and manage costs 
• Report information in a variety of formats and perspectives 
• Manage the change process 
• Manage resources 
• Provide subcontract, time and expense management 
• Provide invoice formats that are tailored to project needs 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



3
JE Dunn’s Georgia offices have not been involved in any litigation with Owners and/or 
Architects in the last five years. Steadfast in our commitments, JE Dunn has never been removed 
from a contract for cause or failed to complete a contract as awarded. 

LITIGATION
 
List and describe any litigation your firm has been a party to in the past five (5) years 
and note any active litigation. Has your firm ever failed to to complete any work 
awarded to it?

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



5 SAFETY
 
Does your company have a written safety manual? Provide a copy of this manual (electronic version acceptable). List any 
OSHA violations in the State of Georgia within the last year. The firm must demonstrate a commitment to safety with regard to 
Worker’s Compensation by having a current Experience Modification Rating (EMR) of 1.2 or less. 

JE DUNN 
SAFETY 
MANUAL

ZERO 
OSHA   VIOLATIONSSafety At JE Dunn 

SAFETY CULTURE:  
EVERYONE. EVERYWHERE. ALL THE TIME.

Safety is at the forefront of the culture that we live on every 
project, day in and day out. We consider it everyone’s 
responsibility to ensure everyone goes home to their families at 
the end of each day in the same shape that they showed up in 
that morning. 

Employees and trade partners are empowered with the 
training to recognize hazards, tools to report outcomes and 
the permission to hold each other accountable. 

Anyone on a JE Dunn project site is empowered to stop 
work upon witnessing any unsafe practice without fear of 
consequences.

MINIMIZED RISK THROUGH PLANNING

JE Dunn has an obligation to the community, our clients 
and everyone on our project sites to maintain a hazard-free 
environment. When risk is minimized, clients benefit via 
increased savings and a positive public perception of the 
project. 

Project-Specific Safety Planning

Every project is unique. JE Dunn’s Superintendent will lead this 
effort in the field and will be supported by our Regional Safety 
Director and Safety Managers. It is also required that all trade 
partners provide a safety plan as well. Special requirements, 
logistics, emergency actions and communications plans are 
always included.

Everyone on site will be held to the project-specific safety plan. 
Depending on size, scope and complexity of the construction 
site, JE Dunn will provide as much safety oversight as 
necessary to set the project up for success.

To make sure we are putting into action our commitment 
to safety, JE Dunn utilizes a Safety Accountability and 
Responsibility Matrix to hold our project managers and 
superintendents accountable for the day-to-day safety of 
their team. This established set of expectations are regularly 
evaluated by regional leadership as improvements are 
developed.  
 

We conduct performance reviews for our superintendents and 
project managers semi-annually. They are evaluated based 
on the matrix and how well they demonstrate a safe work 
environment for their project team, which includes JE Dunn 
personnel, our trade partners, The City of Port Wentworth and 
Pond Company.

 
Current Safety Experience Modification Rate

The National Council on Compensation Insurance rates general 
contractors yearly based on their claims cost from on-the-job inquiries. 
According to the NCCI, the industry average is 1.0, and the lower the 
modifier, the better the safety record of the contractor.

(EMR)

 

 
 

Safety Management and Approach

Project safety meetings are held weekly 
and incorporate safety hand-outs and 
“toolbox safety training” pertinent to existing 
conditions.

We also provide continual, off-site safety 
training to include first aid, CPR, trenching 
safety, safe crane operation and so on.

All trade partners are required to provide 
a site-specific, written safety program and 
attend all weekly safety meetings. They also 
lead scope-specific safety meetings. This 
ensures a collaborative safety approach.

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
_R

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 B

id
 -

 C
it

y 
o

f 
P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

  (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)

https://sms.jedunn.com/files/JE-Dunn-Safety-and-Health-Manual.pdf?v=20170401


13.D.d

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 B

id
 F

o
rm

 d
o

cu
m

en
t 

 (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.d

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 B

id
 F

o
rm

 d
o

cu
m

en
t 

 (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



13.D.d

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

E
 D

u
n

n
 B

id
 F

o
rm

 d
o

cu
m

en
t 

 (
29

15
 :

 R
F

P
- 

N
ew

 F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

o
n

)



 City Council Meeting: 12/21/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Agreement 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2914) DOC ID: 2914  

Updated: 12/14/2023 4:32 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Landfill Permit Consistency Determination 

Issue/Item:  In accordance with the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan Dated 

October 2008,  Republic Services of Georgia is requesting concurrence that it’s proposed 

modification to the Savannah Regional Industrial Landfilled handling permit is consistent 

with the solid waste management plan.  

 

Background:   City Council is required to have a public hearing and a vote of concurrence 

with that the request is consistent with the Solid Waste Management Plan.  

 

Facts and Findings:  The proposed modification does not change current operations or 

expand the facility and does not demonstrate any negative changes to current recycling or 

waste management operations and appears to meet the requirements of the Environmental 

Protection Division. The proposed major modification will replace the currently approved 

final closure system with a synthetic closure system. The thickness of the currently 

approved closure system varies across the Landfill from 1.5 feet to 2.0 feet. The proposed 

modification will allow the volume previously approved for the final closure system to be 

replaced with waste. No change in the final landfill grades, represented by the top of the 

landfill cover system, are proposed with this major modification. The Georgia Environmental 

Protection Division, Solid Waste Management Program has opined that the proposed 

modification represents an increase in landfill capacity and has requested the design change 

be approved through a major modification to the solid waste handling permit. 

 

Funding:  NA 

 

Recommendation: Approve  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• West Chatham_SolidWasteManagementPlan_103108-FINAL (PDF) 

• Savannah Consistency Demonstration (PDF) 

• Notice of Public Hearing-Sav Reg Major Mod (PDF) 

13.E

Packet Pg. 142



 
 
 
  

WWeesstt  CChhaatthhaamm  
SSoolliidd  WWaassttee    

MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  PPllaann  
  

22000088  --  22001188  
  

 
Prepared for: 

City of Bloomingdale 
City of Pooler 

City of Port Wentworth 
 

 
 

Adopted 
October 2008 

 
 
 
 
 
 

105 McIntosh Crossing 
Fayetteville, Georgia 30214 

(p) 770.461.4292  (f) 770.461.4801 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

1. INTRODUCTION................................................................................................................. 1 
1.1 PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PLAN............................................................ 1 
1.2 PLANNING AREA ........................................................................................................ 2 
1.3 NATURAL RESOURCES ............................................................................................. 4 
1.4 POPULATION ............................................................................................................... 5 
1.5 SEASONAL POPULATION VARIATION .................................................................. 6 
1.6 NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS...................................................................................... 6 
1.7 ECONOMIC ACTIVITY ............................................................................................... 7 
1.8 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT DURING THE PLANNING PROCESS ........................... 7 

2. WASTE DISPOSAL STREAM ANALYSIS...................................................................... 9 
2.1 AMOUNT OF WASTE DISPOSED.............................................................................. 9 
2.2 WASTE CHARACTERIZATION ............................................................................... 10 
2.3 UNIQUE CONDITIONS AND/OR SEASONAL VARIATIONS .............................. 10 
2.4 WASTE GENERATING DISASTER.......................................................................... 11 
2.5 DISPOSAL RATE........................................................................................................ 11 
2.6 WASTE DISPOSAL PROJECTIONS WITH PER CAPITA REDUCTIONS............ 12 

3. WASTE REDUCTION ELEMENT.................................................................................. 14 
3.1 INVENTORY OF WASTE REDUCTION PROGRAMS ........................................... 14 

3.1.1 Source Reduction Programs.................................................................................. 14 
3.1.2 Recycling Programs & Facilities .......................................................................... 14 
3.1.3 Yard Trimmings Programs & Facilities................................................................ 16 
3.1.4 Special Materials Recycling ................................................................................. 16 
3.1.5 Disaster Debris Waste Reduction Strategy ........................................................... 17 

3.2 ASSESSMENT OF WASTE REDUCTION & RECYCLING PROGRAMS............. 17 
3.3 NEEDS & GOALS ....................................................................................................... 18 

4. COLLECTION ELEMENT .............................................................................................. 20 
4.1 INVENTORY OF COLLECTION PROGRAMS........................................................ 20 

4.1.1 MSW and C&D Collections ................................................................................. 20 
4.1.2 Drop-off Locations & Transfer Stations ............................................................... 21 
4.1.3 Yard Trimmings & Bulk Item Collection............................................................. 21 
4.1.4 Illegal Dumping / Littering ................................................................................... 23 
4.1.5 Contingency Strategy............................................................................................ 24 
4.1.6 Disaster Debris Management................................................................................ 24 

4.2 ASSESSMENT OF COLLECTION PROGRAMS...................................................... 24 
4.3 NEEDS & GOALS ....................................................................................................... 25 

5. DISPOSAL ELEMENT...................................................................................................... 26 
5.1 INVENTORY OF DISPOSAL FACILITIES............................................................... 26 

5.1.1 Landfills ................................................................................................................ 26 
5.1.2 Yard Trimmings.................................................................................................... 26 
5.1.3 Transfer Stations ................................................................................................... 28 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  i 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

5.1.4 Assurance of 10-Year Capacity ............................................................................ 29 
5.1.5 Contingency Strategy............................................................................................ 29 
5.1.6 Disaster Debris Management................................................................................ 29 

5.2 ASSESSMENT OF DISPOSAL PROGRAMS............................................................ 30 
5.3 NEEDS & GOALS ....................................................................................................... 30 

6. LAND LIMITATION ELEMENT.................................................................................... 32 
6.1 NATURAL & ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITATIONS................................................. 32 

6.1.1 Water Supply Watersheds..................................................................................... 32 
6.1.2 Groundwater Recharge Areas and Significant Groundwater Recharge Areas ..... 32 
6.1.3 Wetlands ............................................................................................................... 33 
6.1.4 River Corridors ..................................................................................................... 33 
6.1.5 Protected Mountains ............................................................................................. 33 
6.1.6 Floodplains............................................................................................................ 33 
6.1.7 Fault Zones, Seismic Impact Zones & Unstable Areas ........................................ 33 

6.2 LAND USE & ZONING LIMITATIONS.................................................................... 34 
6.2.1 Zoning Restrictions............................................................................................... 35 
6.2.2 National Historic Sites .......................................................................................... 35 
6.2.3 Airport Safety........................................................................................................ 36 
6.2.4 Political Subdivisions............................................................................................ 36 

6.3 ASSESSMENT OF LAND LIMITATIONS................................................................ 37 
6.4 PLAN CONSISTENCY................................................................................................ 37 
6.5 NEEDS & GOALS ....................................................................................................... 39 

7. EDUCATION & PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT ELEMENT............................................. 40 
7.1 INVENTORY OF PUBLIC EDUCATION & INVOLVEMENT ............................... 40 
7.2 ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC EDUCATION & INVOLVEMENT ............................. 42 
7.3 NEEDS & GOALS ....................................................................................................... 43 

8. IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY ................................................................................. 44 
8.1 SUMMARY OF NEEDS & GOALS ........................................................................... 44 
8.2 IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY............................................................................. 45 
8.3 PLAN UPDATES & AMENDMENTS........................................................................ 52 

APPENDIX A:  PUBLIC EDUCATION MATERIALS......................................................... 53 

APPENDIX B:  LANDFILL CAPACITY ASSURANCE LETTERS ................................... 67 

APPENDIX C:  TRANSMITTAL RESOLUTIONS............................................................... 70 

APPENDIX D:  ADOPTION RESOLUTIONS ....................................................................... 74 
 
TABLES 
Table 1.  Jurisdiction Contacts Responsible for the Plan................................................................ 1 
Table 2.  Jurisdiction Acres & Percent of Planning Area ............................................................... 3 
Table 3.  Natural Resources Summary ........................................................................................... 4 
Table 4.  Population Comparisons .................................................................................................. 5 
Table 5.  Population Projections ..................................................................................................... 5 
Table 6.  Number of Households .................................................................................................... 6 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  ii 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  iii 

Table 7.  Types of Industries........................................................................................................... 7 
Table 8.  Waste Disposed by Sector (tons per year), 2005 ............................................................. 9 
Table 9.  Waste Composition Characterization of MSW Disposed.............................................. 10 
Table 10.  MSW Disposal Rates ................................................................................................... 11 
Table 11.  C&D Disposal Rates.................................................................................................... 12 
Table 12.  MSW Disposal Projections With Per Capita Reductions ............................................ 13 
Table 13.  Recycling Facilities / Drop-off Sites ........................................................................... 15 
Table 14.  Curbside MSW Collection Programs .......................................................................... 21 
Table 15.  Summary of Collection Programs................................................................................ 22 
Table 16.  Landfills ....................................................................................................................... 28 
Table 17.  Transfer Stations .......................................................................................................... 28 
Table 18.  Natural / Environmental & Land Use Limitation Factors ........................................... 37 
Table 19.  Public Education & Involvement Programs ................................................................ 40 
Table 20.  Summary of Needs & Goals ........................................................................................ 44 
Table 21.  Bloomingdale Implementation Strategy ...................................................................... 46 
Table 22.  Pooler Implementation Strategy .................................................................................. 48 
Table 23.  Port Wentworth Implementation Strategy ................................................................... 50 
 
FIGURES 
Figure 1.  Location Map.................................................................................................................. 2 
Figure 2.  Planning Area ................................................................................................................. 3 
Figure 3.  Landfills, Transfer Stations & Recycling Centers........................................................ 27 
Figure 4.  Natural & Environmental Limitations.......................................................................... 34 
Figure 5.  Land Use Limitations ................................................................................................... 36 
 
 
 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
In an effort to adhere to the rules and requirement of the Georgia Department of Community 
Affairs (DCA), Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures for Solid Waste Management, the 
Cities of Bloomingdale, Pooler and Port Wentworth have elected to complete a multi-
jurisdictional Solid Waste Management Plan.  This “West Chatham” multi-jurisdictional plan is 
defined by the city limit boundaries of each participating jurisdiction and is illustrated in Figure 
1. 
 
The jurisdictions within Chatham County are scheduled to have completed their Comprehensive 
Plan updates in October 2008.  The following Solid Waste Management Plan for the West 
Chatham area is being completed in conjunction with ongoing planning efforts and covers the 
years 2008 – 2018.  One goal of the West Chatham Plan is to demonstrate each jurisdiction’s 
dedication to the DCA’s Quality Community Objectives as it applies to the Intergovernmental 
Coordination and Regional Solutions criteria.  That being said, this plan will ultimately lead to 
better working relationships between local governments and collaboration with regard to shared 
objectives.   
 
The Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures have been broken down into five core 
elements as listed below: 
 

• Waste Reduction 
• Collection 
• Disposal 
• Land Limitation 
• Education & Public Involvement 

 
Each element will be assessed for each jurisdiction as well as for the West Chatham planning 
area as a whole.  A waste disposal stream analysis and an implementation plan are also included 
within the contents of this Plan. 
 
1.1 PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PLAN 
 
Table 1 shows the persons responsible for the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan 
update.  Any questions related to the contents of this plan or to request additional information 
should be directed to the people listed in the table. 
 

Table 1.  Jurisdiction Contacts Responsible for the Plan 

 City of Bloomingdale City of Pooler City of Port Wentworth 

Contact Public Works Director Public Works Director City Administrator 

8 West US Hwy 80 100 SW US Hwy 80 305 South Coastal Hwy 
Address 

Bloomingdale, GA 31302 Pooler, GA 31322 Port Wentworth, GA 31407 

Phone 912-748-0907 912-748-4800 912-964-4379 

Fax 912-748-1005 912-748-6777 912-966-7429 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  1 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
1.2 PLANNING AREA 
 
Figure 1 illustrates the location of the West Chatham planning area within the State of Georgia.  
It lies in the western portion of Chatham County, one of five coastal counties on the Atlantic 
Ocean.  The West Chatham planning area is proximate to the Savannah River to the north and, 
consequently, the State boundary with South Carolina.   
 

Figure 1.  Location Map 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  2 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

The West Chatham planning area is illustrated in closer detail in Figure 2.   
 

Figure 2.  Planning Area 

 
 
The West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan comprises the combined area of the three 
participating jurisdictions defined by the municipal jurisdictions of each City.  It covers an area 
of roughly 37,619 acres or 59 square miles and consists of three of the nine incorporated areas 
located in Chatham County.  As a result, the West Chatham planning area accounts for 
approximately 11% of the total land area in the County.  Table 2 shows the acreage of each 
participating City and the percentage each City comprises of the total planning area. 
 

Table 2.  Jurisdiction Acres & Percent of Planning Area 

Jurisdiction Acres Percent of Planning Area 

Bloomingdale 8,901 24% 

Pooler 18,027 48% 

Port Wentworth 10,691 28% 

West Chatham 37,619 100% 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  3 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
1.3 NATURAL RESOURCES 
 
Bloomingdale 

The City of Bloomingdale is approximately 14 square miles or 8,896 acres and contains a variety 
of different natural resources.  A significant portion of the City (48%) falls within the FEMA 
100-year flood zone.  The City also contains approximately 4,800 acres of wetlands, which 
accounts for roughly 54% of the total area in the City.  Streams and other waterways total about 
30 miles within the City.   
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler is approximately 28 square miles or 18,048 acres and contains a range of 
different natural resources.  A considerable portion of the City (45%) falls within the FEMA 
100-year flood zone.  The City also contains approximately 8,000 acres of wetlands, which 
accounts for roughly 44% of the total area in the City.  Streams and other waterways in the City 
total about 53 miles.   
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth is approximately 17 square miles or 10,691 acres and contains a 
variety of different natural resources.  A significant portion of the City (38%) falls within the 
FEMA 100-year flood zone.  The City also contains approximately 3,500 acres of wetlands, 
which accounts for roughly 33% of the total area in the City.  The City is adjacent to the 
Savannah River, with streams and other waterways that total about 57 miles within the City.   
 
West Chatham 

The West Chatham planning area lies within the 11-county purview of the Georgia Coastal 
Management Program and as a result, benefits from the many programs administered by the 
Georgia Coastal Resources Division.  Many environmental features found within this area are 
unique to the coast.  Table 3 summarizes the natural resources features found in each City. 
 

Table 3.  Natural Resources Summary 

Jurisdiction Square 
Miles 

Total 
Acres 

100-Year 
Floodplain 

(acres) 

100-Year 
Floodplain 
(% of total) 

Wetlands 
(acres) 

Wetlands 
(% of 
total) 

Streams & 
Waterways 
(river miles) 

Bloomingdale 14 8,896 4,270 48% 4,800 54% 30 

Pooler 28 18,048 8,122 45% 8,000 44% 53 

Port Wentworth 17 10,691 4,063 38% 3,500 33% 57 

West Chatham 
Planning Area 59 37,635 16,455 44% 16,300 43% 140 

 
The presence of these topographic and natural resource features in high percentages relative to 
total area is uniquely characteristic of Georgia Coastal communities.  Note that there is overlap 
between the areas characterized as 100-year floodplain and wetlands.  It would be misleading to 
consider that the area or percentages of these features are distinct.  These natural resource 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  4 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

features, however, may affect solid waste management by limiting the area suitable for 
potentially siting solid waste facilities.  Figure 4, shown in Section 6: Land Limitation Element, 
illustrates the natural resources within the West Chatham planning area and discusses these and 
other limiting factors.  
 
1.4 POPULATION 
 
Population in the West Chatham planning area has rapidly grown in recent years and is a driving 
factor behind many of the issues and policies outlined in this plan.  Since 1990, population has 
increased at an accelerated rate in the West Chatham planning area, a trend that is expected to 
continue throughout the planning period.  
 
The West Chatham planning area is becoming a focal point for new development and an 
affordable alternative to living within the city limits of Savannah.  Table 4 compares growth 
trends for the jurisdictions within the West Chatham planning area to illustrate its rapid growth 
rate.  The 2005 numbers for Port Wentworth was obtained from the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
(due to be adopted in October 2008).  The numbers for Bloomingdale and Pooler were taken 
from the Chatham County – Savannah Tricentennial Plan, adopted in the fall of 2006.   
 

Table 4.  Population Comparisons 

Jurisdiction 1980 1990 2000 2005 Increase 
1980 - 1990 

Increase 
1990 - 2000 

Increase 
2000 - 2005 

Bloomingdale 1,855 2,271 2,665 3,328 22.4% 17.3% 24.9% 

Pooler 2,543 4,453 6,239 10,312 75.1% 40.1% 65.3% 

Port Wentworth* 3,947 4,012 3,276 3,657 1.6% -18.3% 11.6% 

West Chatham  
Planning Area 8,345 10,736 12,180 17,297 28.7% 13.5% 42.0% 

Source: Department of Community Affairs (DCA), Chatham County – Savannah Comprehensive Plan, US Census Bureau 
* City of Port Wentworth Comprehensive Plan 

 
Table 5 shows population projections for the planning jurisdictions over the planning period of 
the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan.  To calculate population projections, the 
accurate 2005 population numbers in Table 4 were used as the basis.  The 2008 population 
projections were calculated by taking the number of Certificates of Occupancy issued in 2006 
and 2007 and multiplying that number by the average household size for each city.  That number 
was added to the 2005 population figures as the starting point for the projections that were, 
likewise, annually extended to 2018.   
 

Table 5.  Population Projections 

Year Pooler Bloomingdale Port 
Wentworth 

West Chatham 
Planning Area 

2008 13,210 3,690 4,867 21,767 

2009 14,531 3,801 5,354 23,686 

2010 15,984 3,910 5,890 25,784 

2011 17,263 4,008 6,066 27,337 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  5 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  6 

Year Pooler Bloomingdale Port 
Wentworth 

West Chatham 
Planning Area 

2012 18,471 4,108 6,248 28,827 

2013 19,025 4,211 6,436 29,672 

2014 19,406 4,316 6,629 30,351 

2015 19,794 4,424 6,828 31,045 

2016 20,190 4,534 7,033 31,757 

2017 20,594 4,648 7,244 32,485 

2018 21,006 4,764 7,461 33,230 

 
Accelerated population growth is an issue for all cities within the planning area and the projected 
52% total growth in the West Chatham planning area will be significant over the 10-year 
planning period (2008 to 2018).  Based on current and planned developments, Port Wentworth 
and Pooler are expected to experience the most dramatic growth in population.   
 
1.5 SEASONAL POPULATION VARIATION 
 
The St. Patrick’s Day parade in Savannah is the City’s largest celebration and one of the largest 
St. Patrick’s Day events in the United States.  The event draws roughly 400,000 visitors each 
year to the area.  While the St. Patrick’s Day event takes place in downtown Savannah, the large 
draw of visitors does have a slight effect on the West Chatham planning area.  Hotels in the West 
Chatham planning area are generally full for the St. Patrick’s Day celebration.  The seasonal 
tourism industry also has potential for a population increase in the West Chatham planning area.  
 
1.6 NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 
 
According to the U.S. Census, there were 8,512 households in the West Chatham planning area 
in the year 2000.  The number of households increased 13.5% from 2000 to 2005.  Table 6 
compares the number of households in each plan jurisdiction, and the number in the planning 
area with Chatham County as a whole, from 2000 to 2005.  The rate of increase in the West 
Chatham planning area (13.5%) is more than double that of the entire County (5.2%) illustrating 
the concentrated growth pressures in the West Chatham planning area as compared to Chatham 
County as a whole.   
 

Table 6.  Number of Households 

Jurisdiction 2000 2005 Percent Change 

Bloomingdale 1,001 1,101 10.0% 

Pooler 2,245 2,603 15.9% 

Port Wentworth 1,285 1,438 11.9% 

West Chatham Planning Area 4,531 5,142 13.5% 

Chatham County 89,865 94,501 5.2% 

Source: Department of Community Affairs (DCA), US Census Bureau, City 
Comprehensive Plans 

 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

1.7 ECONOMIC ACTIVITY 
 
Table 7 provides a classification of employment in the West Chatham planning area by type of 
industry.  The percentage is calculated by the number of people employed by a particular 
industry versus the total civilian employed population. As the table demonstrates, the economy 
that makes up the West Chatham planning area, as determined through the 2000 Census, is not 
dependant on any particular industry type and would therefore be less subject to economic 
downturns than a single industry’s economy. The major employers in the West Chatham 
planning area include: manufacturing; retail trade; education, health and social services; and 
construction.  These industries collectively account for over half (56%) of the employed civilian 
population. 
 

Table 7.  Types of Industries 

2000 

  Bl
oo

m
in

gd
al

e 

Po
ol

er
 

P
or

t W
en

tw
or

th
 

W
es

t C
ha

th
am

 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 A

re
a 

Pe
rc

en
t o

f 
W

es
t C

ha
th

am
 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 A
re

a 

Total Employed Civilian Population 1,401 3,088 1,556 6,045  

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing, Hunting & Mining  11 5 7 23 0.4% 

Construction 197 346 118 661 10.9% 

Manufacturing 265 637 357 1,259 20.8% 

Wholesale Trade  57 137 20 214 3.5% 

Retail Trade  206 457 218 881 14.6% 

Transportation, Warehousing & Utilities  167 241 171 579 9.6% 

Information 18 55 18 91 1.5% 

Finance, Insurance & Real Estate  56 109 59 224 3.7% 

Professional, Scientific, Management, 
Administrative & Waste Management Services  68 182 134 384 6.4% 

Educational, Health & Social Services  157 435 238 830 13.7% 

Arts, Entertainment, Recreation, 
Accommodation & Food Services  72 167 52 291 4.8% 

Other Services  75 120 61 256 4.2% 

Public Administration  52 197 103 352 5.8% 

Source: Department of Community Affairs (DCA), US Census Bureau, City Comprehensive Plans 
 
1.8 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT DURING THE PLANNING PROCESS 
 
The West Chatham planning area jurisdictions held an introductory meeting at the beginning of 
the planning process in April 2008 to introduce the Plan, field questions about the process and 
solicit community input.  In addition, each city held two public hearings, for a total of six 
hearings in the West Chatham planning area.  The first rounds of public hearings were held in 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  7 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  8 

June 2008 where the findings of the draft Plan were presented to each City Council and the 
public and comments were solicited.   
 
Comments centered on two primary areas of interest.  First, citizens were concerned about the 
siting of future landfill facilities in the planning area.  Secondly, citizens and elected officials 
expressed interest in increased recycling opportunities with the accompanying concern of 
impacts to utility bills.  The single most frequent comment received was a request for 
information on a menu of potential recycling services, ranging from drop-off to curbside 
collection, and their associated costs. 
 
The final public hearings were held in August 2008 where highlights and findings of the Plan 
were presented, the Implementation Strategy was reviewed, public comments were solicited, and 
the City Councils were asked to adopt a resolution authorizing the submittal of the draft Plan.  In 
addition, the cities used a number of other avenues to inform residents about the Plan throughout 
the process.   
 

• Website.  Each city posted the draft West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan on 
their website for public review prior to the final public hearing.  As well, a copy of the 
final Plan was available at the City Halls for review. 

 
• Handouts.  Each city also produced two handouts (available at City Hall) that provided 

general information about the Solid Waste Management Plan and announced the public 
hearings.   

 
• Advertising.  Advertising for the public meetings was done in accordance with the City’s 

policy for public meetings.  Meeting agendas were made available to the public at least 
one week prior to the meetings. 

 
A sample of public education materials and the agendas or meeting minutes for each public 
hearing are included in Appendix A. 
 
 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



2. WASTE DISPOSAL STREAM ANALYSIS 
 
2.1 AMOUNT OF WASTE DISPOSED 
 
Table 8 estimates the total amount of waste disposed by sector for the West Chatham planning 
area and the participating jurisdictions.   
 
The methodology used to generate the total tonnage of waste for both Municipal Solid Waste 
(MSW) and Construction and Demolition (C&D) landfills is based on the numbers used in the 
Georgia Statewide Solid Waste Management Plan for 2005.  The statewide tonnage from this 
plan was used to determine the percent by sector. This number was then applied to the three 
jurisdictions that comprise the West Chatham planning area on a per capita basis.   
 

Table 8.  Waste Disposed by Sector (tons per year), 2005 

 Sector Tons to MSW 
Landfill 

Tons 
to C&D 
Landfill 

Total Tons 

Residential 12,721 39.3%  12,721 29% 

Commercial 8,836 27.3%  8,836 20% 

Industrial 4,532 14.0%  4,532 10% 

C&D 3,981 12.3% 11,347 15,328 35% 

Sludge & Biosolids 2,298 7.1%  2298 5% W
es

t C
ha

th
am

 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 A

re
a 

Total 32,368 100.0%  43,715 100% 
Residential 1,525 39.3%  1,525 29% 

Commercial 1,060 27.3%  1,060 20% 

Industrial 543 14.0%  543 10% 

C&D 477 12.3% 1,360 1,837 35% 

Sludge & Biosolids 276 7.1%  276 5% B
lo

om
in

gd
al

e 

Total 3,881 100.0%  5,241 100% 

Residential 4,726 39.3%  4,726 29% 

Commercial 3,283 27.3%  3,283 20% 

Industrial 1,684 14.0%  1,684 10% 

C&D 1,479 12.3% 4,216 5,695 35% 

Sludge & Biosolids 854 7.1%  854 5% 

Po
ol

er
 

Total 12,026 100.0%  16,242 100% 
Residential 1,676 39.3%  1,676 29% 

Commercial 1,164 27.3%  1,164 20% 

Industrial 597 14.0%  597 10% 

C&D 525 12.3% 1,495 2,020 35% 

Sludge & Biosolids 303 7.1%  303 5% 

Po
rt

 W
en

tw
or

th
 

Total 4,265 100.0%  5,760 100% 
Source: Georgia Statewide Solid Waste Management Plan, 2005 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  9 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Using these calculations, it is estimated that approximately 40% of the waste delivered to MSW 
landfills is generated by the residential sector of the West Chatham planning area.  The second 
largest waste contribution to MSW landfills is the West Chatham planning area commercial 
sector, which accounts for roughly 27% of the total.  Industrial, C&D, and sludge and biosolids 
account for approximately 14%, 12%, and 7%, respectively.  The methodology used to generate 
the total tonnage delivered to MSW and C&D landfills is discussed in greater detail below.   
 
2.2 WASTE CHARACTERIZATION 
 
The Georgia Statewide Waste Characterization Study conducted by R.W. Beck for the DCA in 
2005 projects the type of material disposed in MSW landfills by percentage for the area covered 
by the Coastal Georgia Regional Development Center (CGRDC), which includes the West 
Chatham planning area.  The percentages developed in the Statewide Waste Characterization 
Study for the CGRDC were applied to the West Chatham planning area's 2005 waste disposal 
tonnage to determine the estimated tons of each type of material likely to be disposed at MSW 
landfills from the West Chatham planning area.  Table 9 shows the results of this waste 
composition characterization.   
 

Table 9.  Waste Composition Characterization of MSW Disposed 

Material Average 
Percentage 

Tons 2005  
West Chatham 
Planning Area 

Bloomingdale Pooler Port 
Wentworth 

Paper 39.0% 7,866.82 1,513.60 4,689.98 1,663.23 

Plastic 15.9% 3,207.24 617.08 1,912.07 678.09 

Glass 3.5% 706.00 135.84 420.90 149.26 

Metal 4.3% 867.37 166.88 517.10 183.38 

Organics 28.2% 5,688.31 1,094.45 3,391.22 1,202.65 

C&D 6.5% 1,311.14 252.27 781.66 277.21 

Inorganics 2.6% 524.45 100.91 312.67 110.88 

TOTAL 100.0% 20,171.33 3,881.03 12,025.60 4,264.70 

Source: Statewide Waste Characterization Study, 2005 
 
This analysis begins to illustrate specific opportunities to target recycling programs for MSW 
disposal reductions.  For instance, paper comprises almost 40% of the waste stream, while 
plastics represent nearly 16%.  Both are commonly recyclable materials that if diverted could 
reduce the MSW waste stream in half, by about 55% combined.  Organics represent another 
large percent of the MSW waste stream, nearly 30%, which can be diverted through composting 
initiatives. 
 
2.3 UNIQUE CONDITIONS AND/OR SEASONAL VARIATIONS 
 
The months during spring and summer typically result in an increase in yard trimmings and 
leaves that are disposed in local landfills.  In an effort to address this issue, all jurisdictions 
within the planning area conduct some type of yard waste collection. 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  10 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

2.4 WASTE GENERATING DISASTER 
 
A major disaster has the potential to result in a significant increase in the amount of annual waste 
disposed.  However, it is difficult to project the additional amount of waste that would be 
generated should such a disaster occur.  The types of disasters most likely to occur within the 
West Chatham planning area are hurricanes, tornados, and major rain events.  The procedures for 
collection and disposal of waste resulting from these types of disasters are addressed in the 
Collection Element and Disposal Element, respectively. 
 
2.5 DISPOSAL RATE 
 
Table 10 presents the estimated disposal rates for the West Chatham planning area, the four 
jurisdictions and the State of Georgia as a whole.  The West Chatham planning jurisdiction 
calculated disposal rates are based on statewide trends.  These disposal rates are offered in ton 
per year and per capita figures.   
 
The per capita disposal rate for Georgia of 6.39 pounds per day per person was calculated in the 
Georgia Solid Waste Management Plan, adopted 2006.  The adjusted annual tonnage of waste in 
the State was multiplied by 2000 to convert the tonnage to pounds.  The resulting number was 
then divided by the statewide population and then by 365 to determine the per capita (pounds per 
day per person) number.  Lacking a better accounting for local disposal patterns, the West 
Chatham planning area has elected to use this per capita disposal rate (6.39 lbs per day) as the 
basis of calculating the MSW disposal rates and the waste disposal projections.   
 

Table 10.  MSW Disposal Rates 

Jurisdiction Tons Per Year Population Per Capita 
(pounds per day) 

State of Georgia 10,282,942 8,817,666 6.39 

West Chatham Planning Area 20,171 17,297 6.39 

Bloomingdale 3,881 3,328 6.39 

Pooler 12,026 10,312 6.39 

Port Wentworth 4,265 3,657 6.39 

Source: Georgia Statewide Solid Waste Management Plan, 2005 
 
Using the 6.39 per capita disposal rate and the plan jurisdictions’ 2005 population numbers from 
Table 4, the annual disposal tonnages were calculated.  Annual disposal tonnages for the West 
Chatham planning area and the plan jurisdictions were calculated by multiplying the per capita 
disposal rate (6.39) by 365 to determine pounds per person per year.  These numbers were 
multiplied by the 2005 population figures and then divided by 2000 to convert pounds to tons.   
 
The cities believe the statewide per capita number is consistent with the regional trends and is a 
good number to use for the basis of the waste projections in this report.  It is difficult to 
determine an exact annual disposal tonnage for the West Chatham planning area because waste 
collection in each city is different.  For instance, collection services in Pooler are contracted to 
Waste Management.  Collection in Bloomingdale is conducted by Republic, and Port Wentworth 
conducts the collection themselves.  When dealing with contracted haulers, loads are generally 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  11 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

not differentiated based on jurisdictional boundaries.  In many cases, disposal loads contain 
waste from more than one jurisdiction.  As a result, the jurisdictions in West Chatham opted to 
use the statewide estimate as the base annual disposal rate for the purposes of this report.  
 
The same methodology discussed above was used to determine the disposal rate at C&D 
landfills, presented in Table 11.  Based on this methodology and the calculations in the Georgia 
Solid Waste Management Plan, an average of 2.24 pounds per person per day of waste is 
disposed at C&D landfills in the planning area. 
 

Table 11.  C&D Disposal Rates 

Area Tons Per Year Population Per Capita 
(pounds per day) 

Total Tonnage in Georgia 3,604,049.00 8,817,666 2.24 

West Chatham Planning Area 7,071 17,297 2.24 

Bloomingdale 1,360 3,328 2.24 

Pooler 4,216 10,312 2.24 

Port Wentworth 1,495 3,657 2.24 

Source: Georgia Statewide Solid Waste Management Plan, 2005 
 
It is possible that a higher C&D disposal rate exists in the West Chatham planning area because 
recent growth trends suggest a significant amount of development.  However, the statewide 
average will be accepted because no accurate datasets are available to indicate a higher per capita 
rate.  
 
2.6 WASTE DISPOSAL PROJECTIONS WITH PER CAPITA REDUCTIONS 
 
The jurisdictions within the West Chatham planning area have established a waste disposal 
reduction goal of 10% over the next ten years.  The focus of reduction efforts during the planning 
period will be recycling. 
 
Table 12 shows the MSW disposal projections with per capita reductions for the planning period, 
2008-2018.  The estimated 6.39 per capita MSW disposal rate was used to project the total 
tonnage of waste to be disposed over the 10-year planning period.  It was multiplied by the 2008 
population projections from Table 4 to establish the 2008 projected MSW disposal tons as the 
base year for each planning jurisdiction and the West Chatham planning area. 
 
The jurisdictions in the planning area intend to achieve the 10% waste disposal reduction goal by 
reducing total waste disposed per capita by 1% per year, which equates to 0.064 pounds per 
person per day.  This per capita reduction calculation was applied to the annual disposal tonnages 
and rates. 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  12 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  13 

 
Table 12.  MSW Disposal Projections With Per Capita Reductions 

Pooler Bloomingdale Port Wentworth West Chatham 

 

D
is

po
sa

l R
at

e 

Po
pu

la
tio

n 

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
To

nn
ag

e 

Po
pu

la
tio

n 

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
To

nn
ag

e 

Po
pu

la
tio

n 

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
To

nn
ag

e 

Po
pu

la
tio

n 

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
To

nn
ag

e 

2008 6.39 13,210 15,405 3,690 4,303 4,867 5,676 21,767 25,385 

2009 6.33 14,531 16,776 3,801 4,388 5,354 6,182 23,686 27,346 

2010 6.26 15,984 18,269 3,910 4,469 5,890 6,732 25,784 29,470 

2011 6.20 17,263 19,534 4,008 4,535 6,066 6,864 27,337 30,933 

2012 6.14 18,471 20,692 4,108 4,602 6,248 7,000 28,827 32,293 

2013 6.08 19,025 21,100 4,211 4,670 6,436 7,137 29,672 32,907 

2014 6.02 19,406 21,306 4,316 4,739 6,629 7,278 30,351 33,323 

2015 5.96 19,794 21,515 4,424 4,808 6,828 7,421 31,045 33,745 

2016 5.90 20,190 21,726 4,534 4,879 7,033 7,568 31,757 34,173 

2017 5.84 20,594 21,939 4,648 4,951 7,244 7,717 32,485 34,607 

2018 5.78 21,006 22,154 4,764 5,024 7,461 7,869 33,230 35,047 

TOTAL   220,416  51,369  77,443   349,228 

Source: Census Bureau & City Datasets 
 
It is estimated that 349,228 tons of waste from the West Chatham planning area will be disposed in MSW 
landfills over the next ten years and that, if the reduction goal is reached, the per capita disposal rate will 
drop to 5.78 pounds per day by 2018.   
 
 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



3. WASTE REDUCTION ELEMENT 
 
3.1 INVENTORY OF WASTE REDUCTION PROGRAMS 
 
This section provides an inventory of all current waste reduction programs, both public and 
private, in the West Chatham planning area and immediate surroundings.  The inventory is 
followed by an assessment of the effectiveness of these programs to achieve waste disposal 
reduction.  The final section presents the waste disposal reduction goal and identifies strategies 
needed to meet that goal. 
 
3.1.1 Source Reduction Programs 
 
Source reduction refers to the actions and programs that reduce the generation of waste.  All 
cities in the West Chatham planning area encourage source reduction through various 
educational programs targeting residents.  Articles are also written in “The Spirit” newspaper 
about the topic. 
 
Bloomingdale 

The City of Bloomingdale produces a quarterly newsletter that encourages residents to reduce 
waste and recycle.  The City also has informational handouts to residents and produces a packet 
of information that is given to new City residents that discusses source reduction as well as other 
programs the City offers in terms of recycling and disposal.   
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler encourages source reduction through education in elementary schools.  
Information is also posted to the City’s website, included in newsletters, and available at City 
Hall.  The City also discusses source reduction and what the City is doing to reduce waste at City 
Council Meetings.   
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth encourages source reduction by producing informational handouts 
to residents.  In addition, the City produces a newsletter, posts information to the City’s website, 
includes source reduction information on utility bill inserts, and uses door hangers as a means to 
educate the public.  The City’s Comprehensive Plan is also promoting adaptive reuse of vacant 
buildings and infill development versus demolition and new development.    
 
3.1.2 Recycling Programs & Facilities 
 
There are a number of publicly and privately owned/operated facilities in the County that accept 
recyclables.  These facilities, available to all residents in the County, are listed in Table 13.  The 
facilities are also illustrated on Figure 3, which can be found in the Disposal Element.  There are 
no curbside recyclable collection services offered in the West Chatham planning area at this 
time. 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  14 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
Table 13.  Recycling Facilities / Drop-off Sites 

Facility Name Type Address Materials Accepted 

Pooler Recycling Center Drop-off Facility 1095 S. Rogers Street Newspaper, Aluminum, Plastic, 
Office Paper, Glass, Cardboard 

Southeast Paper 
Recycling Company Drop-off Facility 10 Hoss Street Newspaper, Office Paper, 

Cardboard 

Hunter Army Airfield Drop-off Facility 1412 Blanton Street Newspaper, Aluminum, Plastic, 
Office Paper, Glass, Cardboard 

Southern Paper 
Recover, Inc. Drop-off Facility 1926 West Gwinnett 

Street 
Newspaper, Aluminum, Plastic, 
Office Paper, Glass, Cardboard 

Wilmington Island 
Landfill Drop-off Facility 6900 Concord Road Newspaper, Aluminum, Glass, 

Cardboard 

Savannah Processing, 
Inc. Drop-off Facility 190 Gulf Stream Road Aluminum 

FortJen Recycling Drop-off Facility 102 North Gamble Street Aluminum 

Jarrell's Iron and Metal Drop-off Facility 400 Magazine Road Aluminum 

Savannah Metal 
Recycling Drop-off Facility 4520 Tremont Road Aluminum 

City Lot Drop-off Site Sallie Mood / Eisenhower Newspaper 

Charvins Market Drop-off Site 2002 Waters Avenue Newspaper 

Lake Mayer Drop-off Site Sallie Mood / Montgomery 
Crossing Road Newspaper 

 
Bloomingdale 

Currently, the City of Bloomingdale offers a number of different options for recycling to City 
residents.  There is a drop-off location across the street from City Hall that accepts aluminum 
and newspaper.  A bin is also located at the Bloomingdale Elementary School, which recycles 
newspapers dropped off by City residents.  The City has an office paper recycling program for 
all public buildings where office paper is picked up by a shredding company.  There are also 
drop-off locations and other recycling facilities in Chatham County available to residents of 
Bloomingdale.   
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler has a recycling facility available to residents.  The Pooler Recycling Center is 
located at 1095 South Rogers Street and accepts plastics, glass, paper, cardboard, metal, yard 
trimmings, white goods, etc.  There is also a bin located at the Fire Department, at which 
aluminum is collected and recycled for charity.  The City has an office paper recycling program 
for all public buildings where office paper is picked up and delivered to the recycling facility. 
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth does not offer any type of formal recycling service to residents or 
businesses in the community.  However, there are a number of drop-off locations in the City for 
residents to recycle aluminum and paper.  Fire Station 1 contains bins where residents can drop 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  15 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

off aluminum, paper, and newspaper.  The Bonnybridge Baptist Church also contains a drop-off 
bin for newspaper.  A drop-off site is also located at the corner of Appleby Road and Crossgate 
Road for the recycling of aluminum.  All proceeds from recycling efforts in the City of Port 
Wentworth go to the Georgia Burn Center.  There are also drop-off locations and other recycling 
facilities in Chatham County available to residents of Port Wentworth.   
 
3.1.3 Yard Trimmings Programs & Facilities 
 
The types of yard trimmings collected, the collection arrangements and materials disposition are 
addressed in Section 4: Collection Element.  Bloomingdale and Pooler divert yard trimmings 
from landfill disposal through free mulching programs at the Public Works site and the Pooler 
Recycling Center, respectively.  Yard trimmings from Port Wentworth are disposed at the 
Savannah Regional Industrial Landfill. 
 
3.1.4 Special Materials Recycling 
 
Bloomingdale 

The City of Bloomingdale offers curbside collection of special materials such as motor oil, 
metals, and appliances.  Residents may also drop off these materials at the Public Works facility.  
The Public Works facility contains a waste drum for oil and a bin for scrap metal.  The City 
participates in an E-Recycling and Tire Recycling Program with Chatham County; an annual 
event that collects and recycles electronics and tires from residents and businesses in the greater 
Savannah area. 
 
The City also participates in the annual Recycle Rama which serves as an amnesty day for 
hazardous household materials for all citizens of Chatham County, coordinated by the City of 
Savannah, Chatham County, and many other community partners.  Materials accepted include 
paint, used oil, batteries, old computers, Goodwill items, cans, glass, aluminum, cell phones, 
newspaper, etc. All materials collected are recycled or disposed of properly.  
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler accepts white goods and electronics at the recycling center, but does not 
provide curbside services to residents.  The City participates in an E-Recycling and Tire 
Recycling Program with Chatham County; an annual event that collects and recycles electronics 
and tires from residents and businesses in the greater Savannah area. 
 
The City also participates in the annual Recycle Rama which serves as an amnesty day for 
hazardous household materials for all citizens of Chatham County, coordinated by the City of 
Savannah, Chatham County, and many other community partners.  Materials accepted include 
paint, used oil, batteries, old computers, Goodwill items, cans, glass, aluminum, cell phones, 
newspaper, etc. All materials collected are recycled or disposed of properly.  
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth participates in an E-Recycling and Tire Recycling Program with 
Chatham County; an annual event that collects and recycles electronics and tires from residents 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  16 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

and businesses in the greater Savannah area.  The City collects white goods and steel from 
residents, which are taken to a reclamation facility for recycling and disposal.  
 
The City also participates in the annual Recycle Rama which serves as an amnesty day for 
hazardous household materials for all citizens of Chatham County, coordinated by the City of 
Savannah, Chatham County, and many other community partners.  Materials accepted include 
paint, used oil, batteries, old computers, Goodwill items, cans, glass, aluminum, cell phones, 
newspaper, etc. All materials collected are recycled or disposed of properly.  
 
3.1.5 Disaster Debris Waste Reduction Strategy 
 
Disaster debris management is discussed in Section 4: Collection Element. 
 
3.2 ASSESSMENT OF WASTE REDUCTION & RECYCLING PROGRAMS 
 
The majority of the existing waste reduction efforts target the residential sector.  The residential 
sector represents the single largest contributor to the waste disposal stream, nearly 40%, as 
shown in Table 8.  The industrial sector contributes the next largest amount to the waste disposal 
stream, nearly 30%.  There may be opportunities to target education programs to the West 
Chatham planning area industries and businesses. 
 
Although there appears to be adequate opportunities for residents to recycle using public and 
private drop-off locations and facilities, the West Chatham planning area may achieve its waste 
reduction goals best through exploring other types of recycling services.  Based on comments 
received in the public involvement process (described in the Introduction), there is a high level of 
interest in exploring curbside recycling options. 
 
Investigations made for the Waste Reduction Assessment determined that including specific 
information on curbside recyclable collection services (i.e., cost, frequency of service and type of 
materials collected, potential private haulers and disposition of materials) in the plan is 
impractical.  The service factors (cost, frequency of service, type of materials collected, potential 
private haulers, disposition of materials, contractual arrangements, billing arrangements, 
customer satisfaction provisions, etc.) are based on negotiations and are specific to location, 
time, vendor, etc.  
 
For instance, if all planning jurisdictions were to engage in a multi-jurisdictional arrangement for 
curbside recyclable collection with a private vendor, the cities would capture a better rate than if 
each were to contract separately.  Likewise, the number of vendors offering service in any 
particular location will affect the type of service offer and make the cost more competitive. 
 
However, investigation did find that Pratt Industries has entered into a contract with the City of 
Savannah to build and manage a single stream recycling facility.  It will be located at 101 Kahn 
Industrial Court in Savannah and is scheduled to begin curbside recycling services by January 1, 
2009.  Single stream recycling depends on new technology that does not require recyclable 
materials to be separated at the curb.  This makes recycling easier and more attractive to 
residents and business. 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  17 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 163

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
The Pratt recycling facility will accept the following recyclables: newspaper; cardboard; 
magazines; catalogues; plastics numbers 1-7; aluminum cans; steel and tin cans; mixed paper; 
and glass.  In addition, it will accept commercial cardboard, a significant single material 
contributor to the waste stream.  This new facility offers a tremendous opportunity to the West 
Chatham planning jurisdictions to engage in increased recycling services and achieve their waste 
reduction goal. 
 
Bloomingdale 

The main components of Bloomingdale’s reduction efforts are in the City’s yard trimmings/ 
mulching program and special materials recycling.  While these programs contribute greatly to 
overall waste reduction in the City, the expansion of these programs as well as increased 
recycling options to residents will be essential if the City is to meet the 10% reduction goal.  It 
will also be important for the City to take a more proactive approach to public education.   
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler has placed recycling at the forefront of their waste reduction agenda.  The 
City-run recycling facility offers residents a convenient drop-off location for recycling, yard 
trimmings, and white goods.  The City also provides for curbside collection of yard waste and 
offers free mulch to residents.  The expansion of existing services and exploring the potential for 
a curbside recycling collections program will ensure that the City achieves the 10% reduction 
goal.  
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth has a number of opportunities to improve source/waste reduction in 
the City.  Currently, minimal opportunities for recycling are available to City residents.  The yard 
trimmings collected by the City are being disposed of at a local landfill versus being recycled 
and reused in the City in the form of mulch.  The City offers some public education with regard 
to source reduction, but will need to expand on all of these elements in order to achieve the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan’s 10% reduction goal.  If the City does not take a more 
proactive approach to waste reduction, it is likely that per capita numbers will increase instead of 
decreasing over the planning period of this report.   
 
3.3 NEEDS & GOALS 
 
The waste reduction goal is to achieve a 10% per capita waste disposal reduction over the 
planning period, 2008 - 2018.  Accomplishing this goal will require addressing the following 
needs: 
 

• Work with haulers to track and keep a better record of waste being generated in each 
City. 

• Promote and advertise current programs related to recycling, yard trimmings, and 
composting. 

• Encourage source reduction through continued public and increased business education. 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  18 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  19 

• Encourage diversion of yard trimmings and organics through home composting 
education. 

• Continue to financially support and maintain existing recycling and drop-off locations. 
• Continue the office paper recycling program in Bloomingdale and Pooler. 
• Pursue grants related to solid waste reduction by applying for the GEFA recycling and 

waste reduction grant and research other available grants. 
• Explore purchasing composting bins or continue current composting programs. 
• Expand available drop-off locations for recyclables and/or bulk items. 
• Explore potential for recycling bins to be placed at the Public Works sites in Pooler and 

Port Wentworth. 
• Explore the economic feasibility and impact of curbside recycling collections for 

residents and businesses by taking advantage of regional recycling opportunities. 
• Request the DCA to provide a regional single stream recycling hub workshop to learn 

more about how the Cities can provide cost-effective recycling services. 
• Issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) to regional recycling vendors to compare costs and 

determine service levels for curbside recycling.  
• Consider a West Chatham planning area comprised of all three planning jurisdictions 

when issuing the RFP to determine the most cost effective curbside recycling collection 
options. 

 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



4. COLLECTION ELEMENT 
 
4.1 INVENTORY OF COLLECTION PROGRAMS 
 
This section presents an inventory of all collection arrangements for MSW, C&D, yard 
trimmings and bulky items.  Collection and management of recyclables were discussed in the 
Waste Reduction Element in Section 3.  This section addresses illegal dumping and littering 
issues in the planning area as well as a contingency strategy should collection services be 
temporarily disrupted, and the collection and management of disaster debris.  The final sections 
assess the adequacy of the Plan jurisdictions’ collection programs and identify collection goals 
and strategies needed for its accomplishments.    
 
4.1.1 MSW and C&D Collections 
 
Bloomingdale 

The City of Bloomingdale provides curbside MSW collection services to all residents within the 
City.  This service is contracted to a private vendor and is conducted once a week.  Waste 
collection fees are subscribed to by residents in the City and included as part of the water utility 
bills.  Residents may also utilize private transfer stations and drop-off locations located in the 
City and County at no charge.  Bloomingdale is currently under contract with Republic Services 
Inc. for all residential curbside collection services.   
 
The City of Bloomingdale arranges for commercial MSW collection services through a contract 
with Republic Services.  Businesses within the City have the option to select the service that best 
suits their needs and have the option for a roll-out cart or a dumpster.  Dumpsters are available in 
different sizes ranging from four to eight cubic yards.  Pickup frequency also varies depending 
on the needs of the given customer. 
 
C&D waste collection in the City is open competition where the resident, business or developer 
has the option to select their own hauler.   Options for C&D waste are to self-haul waste to a 
transfer station/landfill or contract services from a private service.   
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler provides curbside MSW collection services to all residents within the City.  
Collection services are contracted to a private hauler and conducted twice a week.  Residents are 
billed for curbside collection services as part of the water utility bill.  Residents are also able to 
utilize private transfer stations and drop-off locations available in the City and County.  Pooler is 
currently under contract with Waste Management Inc. for all residential curbside collection 
services.   
 
The City of Pooler arranges for commercial MSW collection services through a contract with 
Waste Management and charges businesses as part of the utility bill.  Businesses within the City 
have the option to select the service that best suits their needs and have the option for a roll-out 
cart or a dumpster.  Dumpsters are available in different sizes ranging from four to twenty cubic 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  20 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 166

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

yards.  Pickup frequency also varies depending on the needs of the given customer.  The 
frequency of pickups ranges from twice a week to daily pickups (five times a week).   
 
C&D waste collection in the City is open competition where the resident, business or developer 
has the option to select their own hauler.   Options for C&D waste are to self-haul waste to a 
transfer station/landfill or contract services from a private service.   
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth provides curbside MSW collection services to all residents within 
the City.  Collection services are provided by a City fleet that consists of two vehicles and is 
conducted twice a week.  Residents are billed for curbside collection services as part of the water 
utility bill.  Residents are also able to utilize private transfer stations and drop-off locations as 
available in the City and County at no charge.   
 
The City of Port Wentworth arranges for commercial MSW collection services through a 
contract with Republic Services.  Businesses within the City have the option to select the service 
that best suits their needs and have the option for a roll-out cart or a dumpster.  Dumpsters are 
available in different sizes ranging from four to eight cubic yards.  Pickup frequency also varies 
depending on the needs of the given customer.  The frequency of pickups ranges from twice a 
week to daily pickups (five times a week).   
 
C&D waste collection in the City is open competition where the resident, business or developer 
has the option to select their own hauler.  Options for C&D waste are to self-haul waste to a 
transfer station/landfill or contract services from a private service.   
 

Table 14.  Curbside MSW Collection Programs 

Jurisdiction Collection Type Name of Hauler Sectors Served 

Bloomingdale Private Hauler Republic Services, Inc Residential & Commercial 

Pooler Private Hauler Waste Management Residential & Commercial 

City City of Port Wentworth Residential & Commercial 
Port Wentworth 

Private Hauler Republic Services, Inc. Commercial 

 
4.1.2 Drop-off Locations & Transfer Stations 
 
Residents in the West Chatham planning area may also choose to deliver solid waste to various 
transfer stations that operate in the County at no charge.  Transfer stations and drop-off locations 
are discussed in greater detail in the Disposal Element of Section 5. 
 
4.1.3 Yard Trimmings & Bulk Item Collection 
 
Bloomingdale 

The City of Bloomingdale performs curbside collection of yard trimmings twice a month.  
Collection is done on the 1st and 3rd Thursday and Friday every month.  Acceptable yard waste 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  21 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

includes grass clippings, leaves, shrubs, brush, tree trimmings, and other vegetative materials 
generated from general maintenance of yards, lawns, and landscaping.   
 
The City of Bloomingdale provides curbside collection of bulk items and appliances for residents 
of the City.  White goods, appliances, and other bulk items will be collected by the City once a 
week.  Residents may also drop-off bulk items at the Public Works facility.    
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler offers curbside collection of yard trimmings as well as a staffed drop-off 
location for residents.  The City collects yard trimmings the last week of every month and has 
contracted with Waste Management to also provide curbside collection service for yard 
trimmings, which is conducted monthly.  Residents pay for this service as part of the trash 
collection fee.  Acceptable yard waste includes grass clippings, leaves, shrubs, brush, tree 
trimmings, and other vegetative materials generated from general maintenance of yards, lawns, 
and landscaping.   
 
The City of Pooler accepts white goods, electronics, and other bulk items at the Pooler Recycling 
Center at no charge, but does not provide curbside services to residents. 
 
Port Wentworth 

Curbside collection of yard trimmings is conducted by the City of Port Wentworth twice a week 
and is available to all residents.  A total of six fleet vehicles are used by the City for this 
collection effort.  Acceptable yard trimmings that are bundled at the curb will be collected and 
include grass clippings, leaves, shrubs, brush, tree trimmings, and other vegetative materials 
generated from general maintenance of yards, lawns, and landscaping.   
 
The City of Port Wentworth collects white goods and bulk items from residents on a weekly 
basis.  Bulk items are picked up by the City and taken to the Savannah Regional Industrial 
Landfill for disposal.  However, the City will not pick up construction debris or hazardous 
materials. 
 

Table 15.  Summary of Collection Programs 

 Type of 
Collection Method Frequency Name / 

Operator Arrangement 

Residential MSW 
Waste Curbside Once a week Republic 

Services 
Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

Commercial MSW 
Collection 

Front Loader / 
Container Service 

Determined by 
customer needs 

Republic 
Services 

Charged as part of 
utility bill 

Yard Trimmings Curbside Twice a month City of 
Bloomingdale 

Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

B
lo

om
in

gd
al

e 

Bulk Item  Curbside  
Drop-off 

Once a week 
N/A 

City of 
Bloomingdale 

Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

Residential MSW 
Waste Curbside Twice a weekly Waste 

Management 
Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

Po
ol

er
 

Commercial MSW 
Waste 

Front Loader / 
Container Service 

Determined by 
customer needs 

Waste 
Management 

Charged as part of 
utility bill 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  22 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 168

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  23 

 Type of 
Collection Method Frequency Name / 

Operator Arrangement 

Yard Trimmings Curbside Monthly Waste 
Management 

Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

Bulk Item Drop-off N/A City Recycling 
Center 

Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

Residential MSW 
Waste Curbside Twice a week City of Port 

Wentworth 
Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

Commercial MSW 
Waste 

Front Loader / 
Container Service 

Determined by 
customer needs 

Republic 
Services 

Charged as part of 
utility bill 

Yard Trimmings Curbside Twice a week City of Port 
Wentworth 

Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

Po
rt

 W
en

tw
or

th
 

Bulk Item Curbside Weekly City of Port 
Wentworth 

Residents charged as 
part of utility bill 

 
4.1.4 Illegal Dumping / Littering 
 
Bloomingdale 

Illegal dumping is not considered a serious problem in the City of Bloomingdale.   The City has 
an ordinance that prohibits illegal dumping, littering and junk vehicles and discusses the types of 
activities that constitute a violation and the associated penalties (Code of Ordinances, City of 
Bloomingdale; Chapter 34 Environment, Article II Nuisances, Section 34-32 (10)).   
 
Littering in general is not perceived to be a major problem in the City.  Public Works crews pick 
up litter along major arterials on a routine basis and also use community service groups to pick 
up litter throughout the City. 
 
Pooler 

Illegal dumping is not considered a serious problem in the City of Pooler.  If a particular area 
becomes a hot spot for dumping, the City installs gates and fencing to prevent access by 
unauthorized people.  The City also has a Litter Ordinance that prohibits illegal dumping and 
littering and discusses the types of activities that constitute a violation and the associated 
penalties (Code of Ordinances, City of Pooler; Solid Waste Ordinance, Litter, Section 70-2).   
 
Littering in general is not perceived to be a problem in the City.  Public Works crews pick up 
litter along major arterials on a routine basis prior to mowing public right-of-ways.  The City 
also conducts routine litter control measures along the Interstate 95 corridor and uses community 
service groups to pick up litter throughout the City. 
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth has certain areas where illegal dumping occurs, typically in the form 
of bulk items such as couches, appliances, etc.  This type of illegal dumping is generally found 
on dirt and gravel roads in close proximity to large tracts of undeveloped land.  Port Wentworth 
has an ordinance that prohibits illegal dumping and littering and defines the various types of 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

violations, enforcement actions, and penalties (Code of Ordinances, City of Port Wentworth; 
Chapter 9 Garbage and Trash, Article I, Section 9-2).   
 
Small scale littering in the more developed areas of the City is not perceived to be a significant 
concern.  However, littering is an ongoing issue along major corridors (SR 21) and areas that 
experience heavy volumes of truck traffic.  Periodic litter pickup along these corridors is 
performed by the City using Public Works employees and volunteer groups.   
 
4.1.5 Contingency Strategy 
 
There are a number of private haulers that operate and offer service to the jurisdictions in the 
West Chatham planning area.  Should a situation arise where existing collection arrangements 
(public or private) can no longer provide the same level of service either temporarily or long-
term, the plan jurisdictions will immediately contract with one of the private haulers servicing 
the planning area.  This contingency strategy – alterations in contracts and service provision – is 
expected to be on-line within 5 business days.  The plan jurisdictions also plan to develop an 
intergovernmental agreement to provide a, secondary, alternative strategy for the provision of 
collection services should existing arrangements be disrupted. 
 
4.1.6 Disaster Debris Management 
 
The Plan’s jurisdictions do not currently have a disaster debris management strategy.  It is 
recommended that each City explore the adoption of the Georgia Emergency Management 
Agency (GEMA) Debris Management Program, which provides assistance to local jurisdictions 
in the event of a declared disaster.  In addition, this program encourages jurisdictions to evaluate 
current programs and develop a plan for potential situations that might otherwise catch the 
community by surprise.  The GEMA Debris Management Plan would address debris collection 
and disposal and strategies for diverting material from the waste stream to prevent onerous 
impacts to the long-term waste reduction goal. 
 
In a situation where collection service is interrupted for the entire West Chatham planning area, 
each City has fleet vehicles available.  These vehicles would be used to remove debris from high 
priority areas such as roadways and areas where debris is posing an immediate threat to public 
health and safety.  Each City would also use the fleet vehicles for routine collection until other 
arrangement could be made.  An estimated 2-week timeframe has been established for 
implementing this type of action.  If necessary, the Cities may hire additional private haulers on a 
temporary basis until the situation is under control.  If a situation arises where not all 
jurisdictions are affected, the jurisdictions will aid and assist one another to minimize the 
disruption of collection services.  Information will be posted to the City’s website to educate 
residents with regard to the City’s plan for handling the situation.   
 
4.2 ASSESSMENT OF COLLECTION PROGRAMS 
 
The West Chatham planning area MSW and yard trimmings collection programs provide 
adequate services in a manner that is cost effective and resourceful.  The collection programs 
ensure that sufficient services are provided throughout the course of this planning period.   

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  24 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 170

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  25 

 
The West Chatham jurisdictions are exploring ways to better identify the source of waste being 
collected and the methodology for which it is being reported.  This may be a difficult task 
because it will take a great deal of cooperation from various waste haulers that service the 
planning area and may require them to alter the way waste gets reported at landfills.  
 
C&D collection is managed through the free market, which is meeting current and near term 
needs for the foreseeable future.  Collection of bulk items is adequately managed by each Plan 
jurisdiction.  However, residents have the additional option to use the Pooler Recycling Center 
for these items.  All Plan jurisdictions have programs that sufficiently manage the responsible 
collection of illegally dumped items and litter.   
 
The West Chatham planning area jurisdictions have a strategy to address collection disruption 
contingencies and to develop a Plan to collect disaster debris, including public notification. 
 
4.3 NEEDS & GOALS 
 
The West Chatham planning area collection goal is to provide consistent and efficient collection 
services in all jurisdictions.  In order to meet this goal, the following needs have been identified: 
 

• Work with private haulers for the Cities of Bloomingdale and Pooler to ensure reliable 
and efficient collection. 

• Ensure the continuance of reliable and efficient collection in Port Wentworth. 
• Develop and/or enforce reporting requirements for haulers contracted by the Cities of 

Bloomingdale and Pooler to better track quantities of waste collected within the City. 
• Develop and enforce reporting requirements for waste collected in Port Wentworth. 
• Continue current litter and illegal dumping clean-up activities and programs. 
• Continue to enforce the litter, illegal dumping and junk car ordinances. 
• Evaluate and revise City solid waste, litter, illegal dumping and junk car ordinances to 

ensure desires of community are expressly protected, consistency with West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan, consistency among City zoning ordinances to support 
regional goals and to ensure penalties are consistent in meeting City goals. 

• Evaluate and implement the GEMA Debris Management Plan for disaster planning as a 
multi-jurisdictional plan for the West Chatham planning area. 

• Develop an intergovernmental agreement that defines the role of each jurisdiction in the 
event that one or more area has a disruption in collection services. 

• Explore the potential for all jurisdictions to combine collection efforts for the West 
Chatham planning area. 

 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



5. DISPOSAL ELEMENT 
 
5.1 INVENTORY OF DISPOSAL FACILITIES 
 
This section provides an inventory of disposal facilities and transfer stations used for MSW and 
yard trimmings waste collected in the West Chatham Plan area.  The inventory is followed by an 
assessment of the capacity of the MSW disposal facilities to meet current needs and disposal 
needs for the Plan duration.  The section addresses a contingency strategy should MSW disposal 
services be temporarily disrupted and the disposal of disaster debris.  This is followed by an 
assessment of the adequacy of the plan jurisdictions’ disposal programs, the disposal goal and 
strategies needed to meet that goal. 
 
5.1.1 Landfills 
 
Bloomingdale 

MSW collected in the City of Bloomingdale is transported to the Savannah Regional Industrial 
Landfill, which serves as a transfer station shipping the City's MSW to Broadhurst 
Environmental for landfill disposal.  Savannah Regional Industrial Landfill is located at 84 
Clifton Road, Savannah, Georgia. Broadhurst Environmental is located at 4800 Broadhurst Road 
West, Screven, Georgia.  Both facilities are privately owned and operated.   
 
Pooler 

MSW collected in the City of Pooler is transported to the Superior Landfill and Recycling Center 
located at 3001 Little Neck Road in Savannah, Georgia.  This facility is privately owned and 
operated.   
 
Port Wentworth 

MSW collected in the City of Port Wentworth is transported to the Savannah Regional Industrial 
Landfill, which serves as a transfer station shipping the City's MSW to Broadhurst 
Environmental for landfill disposal.  Savannah Regional Industrial Landfill is located at 84 
Clifton Road, Savannah, Georgia. Broadhurst Environmental is located at 4800 Broadhurst Road 
West, Screven, Georgia.  Both facilities are privately owned and operated.   
 
5.1.2 Yard Trimmings 
 
Bloomingdale 

Yard trimmings collected by the City are grinded and mulched at the Public Works site.  The 
mulch is given away to residents at no charge. 
 
Pooler 

Yard trimmings collected as part of the curbside program are taken to the Pooler Recycling 
facility, where mulch is available free to residents.  Residents may also elect to drop off yard 
trimmings at the City of Pooler’s facility on South Rogers Street.    

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  26 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Port Wentworth 

Yard trimmings collected by the City are disposed of at the Savannah Regional Industrial 
Landfill.  Residents are billed for this service as part of the water utility bill.    
 
Figure 3 illustrates the locations of landfills, transfer stations, recycling centers, and closed 
landfills within close proximity to the West Chatham planning area.    
 

Figure 3.  Landfills, Transfer Stations & Recycling Centers 

 
Map 
ID Name Map 

ID Name 

1 Southeast Paper Recycling Company 11 Lake Mayer 

2 Hunter Army Airfield 12 Savannah-Dean Forest Road (SL) 

3 Southern Paper Recover, Inc 13 Chatham Co-Thomas Avenue (L) 

4 Wilmington Island Landfill 14 Superior Landfill & Recycling Center 

5 Savannah Processing, Inc. 15 Savannah Regional Industrial Landfill, Inc 

6 FortJen Recycling 16 Safety Disposal Systems of Georgia, Inc. 

7 Jarrell's Iron and Metal 17 Waste Management of Savannah 

8 Savannah Metal Recycling 18 Southern Refuse Services, Inc 

9 City Lot 19 East Coast Terminal Company 

10 Charvins Market 20 Atlantic Wood Waste Transfer Facility 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  27 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
According to the EPD database, there are three landfills operating in Chatham County that are 
available for MSW disposal, shown in Table 16.  In addition, the Broadhurst Environmental 
Landfill located in Jesup, Georgia is included because it is the final disposal site for MSW 
collected in the Cities of Bloomingdale and Port Wentworth. 
 

Table 16.  Landfills 

Facility Name / 
Permit Number 

Jurisdictions 
Using 

Facility 
Owner/ 

Operator 
Facility 
Type  Dominion Capacity 

(CY) 
Remaining 

Life 
Mailing 
Address 

Savannah Regional 
Industrial Landfill, 

Inc 
025-072D(L)(I) 

 Jamey 
Amick 

Industrial 
Landfill 

Private/ 
Commercial/ 

Industrial 
3,206,122 11 Years 

8/22/2018 

PO Box 4144 
Port 

Wentworth, 
GA 31407 

Superior Landfill & 
Recycling Center 
025-070D(MSWL) 

Pooler Kelley 
Rooney MSW Private 

Commercial 3,588,078 8 Years 
5/14/2015 

3001 Little 
Neck Road, 
Savannah, 
GA 31419 

Savannah-Dean 
Forest Rd (SL) 
025-051D(SL) 

 Stephanie 
S. Cutter MSW Public 1,912,979 21 Years 

1/27/2028 

PO Box 1027 
Savannah, 
GA 31402 

Broadhurst 
Environmental 
151-014D(SL) 

Bloomingdale  
Port Wentworth 

John 
Simmons MSW Private 

Commercial 9,315,051 11 Years 
10/16/2018 

P.O. Box 217 
Jesup, GA 

Source: Environmental Protection Division (EPD) 
 
5.1.3 Transfer Stations 
 
According to EPD, there are six transfer stations that operate in or in close proximity to the West 
Chatham planning area, listed in Table 17.  Residents have a choice of using the two located in 
Garden City, the two in Port Wentworth or the two in Savannah. 
 

Table 17.  Transfer Stations 

Facility Name Permit  
Number 

Facility Type 
Description 

Mailing  
Address 

Mailing  
City 

Waste Management of 
Savannah Transfer Station 

PBR-025-
037TS 

Transfer 
Station 1809 Highway 80 Garden City 

Safety Disposal Systems of 
Georgia, Inc. 

PBR-025-
26TS 

Transfer 
Station 6043 Ogeechee Road Savannah 

Waste Management of 
Savannah Transfer Station 

PBR-025-
37TS 

Transfer 
Station 

1809 Highway 80sr 17,  
Pin # 7-0017-01-Lot O04 Garden City 

Southern Refuse Services, Inc. PBR-025-
38TS 

Transfer 
Station Grange Road Port Wentworth 

East Coast Terminal Company PBR-025-
41TS 

Transfer 
Station 1 Harbor Street Savannah 

Atlantic Wood Waste Transfer 
Facility 

PBR-025-
46TS 

Transfer 
Station 202 Oxford Drive Port Wentworth 

Source: Environmental Protection Division (EPD) 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  28 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

5.1.4 Assurance of 10-Year Capacity 
 
Bloomingdale 

The Broadhurst Environmental Landfill has given assurance to the City of Bloomingdale that it 
has the capacity to accept all MSW disposed of by the City throughout the course of the 10-year 
planning period.  The assurance provided to the City is based on the projected waste totaling 
51,369 tons over the next 10 years as calculated in the Waste Disposal Stream Analysis.  
Included in Appendix B is a letter from Broadhurst Environmental assuring capacity through the 
10-year planning period. 
 
Pooler 

The Superior Landfill and Recycling Center has given assurance to the City of Pooler that it has 
the capacity to accept all MSW disposed by the City throughout the course of the 10-year 
planning period.  The assurance provided to the City is based on the projected waste totaling 
220,416 tons over the next 10 years as calculated in the Waste Disposal Stream Analysis.  
Included in Appendix B is a letter from the Superior Landfill and Recycling Center assuring 
capacity through the 10-year planning period. 
 
Port Wentworth 

The Broadhurst Environmental Landfill has given assurance to the City of Port Wentworth that it 
has the capacity to accept all MSW disposed of by the City throughout the course of the 10-year 
planning period.  The assurance provided to the City is based on the projected waste totaling 
77,443 tons over the next 10 years as calculated in the Waste Disposal Stream Analysis.  
Included in Appendix B is a letter from Broadhurst Environmental assuring capacity through the 
10-year planning period.   
 
5.1.5 Contingency Strategy 
 
There are a number of landfills within close proximity to the West Chatham planning area.  In 
the event of a disruption in the current disposal arrangements, the Cities in the West Chatham 
planning area would need to arrange for temporary disposal at one of these local facilities.  In 
addition to the landfills in Georgia, there are additional facilities in South Carolina that could be 
utilized if such a situation arises. 
 
The West Chatham jurisdictions anticipate a seamless transition in disposal from the resident’s 
perspective since the City of Port Wentworth or the contracted haulers would still be responsible 
for collection.  Although a transition from the existing disposal facility to a new, temporary 
facility would take place with the goal of uninterrupted service to customers, information would 
be posted to each City’s website and on the local cable channel to inform residents and 
businesses about the change in service.  
 
5.1.6 Disaster Debris Management 
 
Although, the Plan’s jurisdictions do not currently have a disaster debris management strategy, 
as addressed in the Collection Element of Section 4, they intend to develop and adopt the GEMA 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  29 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 175

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Debris Management Program.  The Program involves developing a plan for potential situations 
that might otherwise catch the community by surprise.   
 
The GEMA Debris Management Plan will include procedures for debris collection, reduction 
and disposal and public notification.  Waste reduction strategies for diverting material from the 
waste stream would include procedures for grinding the debris into mulch using the existing city 
programs (in Bloomingdale and Pooler) or providing it to a wood chip manufacturer under a new 
arrangement, as the City of Port Wentworth is developing.  Alternative debris disposal options 
will be included in the plan, such as temporary disposal at a local inert landfill (i.e., the Theodore 
Gordon Inert Landfill in Pooler or the City of Savannah's Dean Forest Road Inert Landfill).  The 
plan jurisdictions may also choose to apply to the State for a burn permit, if this is deemed the 
most cost effective disposal option based on the volume of disaster debris and the cost of other 
disposal options.  The Debris Management Plan will include public notification of debris 
collection and disposal procedures such as through the affected city's website, the local 
newspaper and informational announcements at city hall.  
 
5.2 ASSESSMENT OF DISPOSAL PROGRAMS 
 
The MSW collected from the Cities of Bloomingdale and Port Wentworth is disposed at the 
Broadhurst Environmental Landfill, which has capacity to manage these Cities' waste disposal 
needs for the duration of the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan.  The MSW collected 
from the City of Pooler is disposed at the Superior Landfill and Recycling Center, which also has 
capacity to manage the City's waste disposal needs for the duration of the planning period. 
 
Each of the Cities has an adequate program to dispose of yard trimmings.  Bloomingdale and 
Pooler compost their yard trimmings and provide free mulch to residents.  Port Wentworth may 
want to consider offering a similar service or partnering with Chatham County, under an 
intergovernmental agreement, for this service to divert their yard trimmings from the Savannah 
Regional Industrial Landfill. 
 
The West Chatham planning area jurisdictions have a strategy to address disposal disruption 
contingencies and to develop a Plan to dispose of disaster debris, including public notification. 
 
5.3 NEEDS & GOALS 
 
The waste disposal goal is to ensure there is sufficient capacity to handle the projected waste for 
the planning period, 2008 – 2018.  To achieve this, the following needs have been identified: 
 

• Collectively work to ensure adequate space is available in landfills used by the 
jurisdictions in the planning area. 

• Produce a formal document (plan) that dictates the contingency strategy to include public 
notification, in the event that current disposal practices are affected by an unforeseen 
circumstance. 

• Explore the development of an intergovernmental agreement that defines the role of each 
jurisdiction in the event that one or more of the areas have a disruption in disposal 
services. 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  30 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 176

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  31 

• Evaluate and implement the GEMA Debris Management Plan for disaster planning as a 
multi-jurisdictional plan for the West Chatham planning area. 

• Continue current yard trimmings collections, grinding and mulching programs in 
Bloomingdale and Pooler. 

• Explore the development of an intergovernmental agreement that combines the disposal 
of yard trimmings from Port Wentworth with another jurisdiction's mulching and 
composting program to divert yard waste from local landfills. 

 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 177

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



6. LAND LIMITATION ELEMENT 
 
There are a number of different factors that must be considered when selecting a suitable site for 
development of new or the expansion of existing landfills and/or other waste handling facilities.  
Demographic factors, land use factors, and environmental factors collectively place limitations 
and pose challenges with regard to finding an appropriate site.   
 
Sites selected for landfills and other related facilities should not diminish the overall quality of 
life for residents in a community.  These sites should also have a minimal impact on the natural 
environment.  The environmental and land use factors presented in the Land Limitation Element 
in Section 6 are required to be considered by State law.  Some factors specify design 
requirements while others prohibit the siting of facilities in certain areas.   
 
The Land Limitation Element also includes discussion of local government review to determine 
permit application consistency with the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan.  
Together, the Land Limitation Element provides guidance to minimize the adverse effects that 
could result from potential siting of future waste facilities.  
 
6.1 NATURAL & ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITATIONS 
 
This section discusses some of the restrictions with regard to where a solid waste facility can be 
located within a City based on federal, state, and local policy.  Some of the items discussed in 
this section are illustrated in Figure 4, Sub-Section 6.1.7.  
 
6.1.1 Water Supply Watersheds 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-16-.01(7)(c)1 requires that at any location within a small water supply 
watershed, new solid waste landfills must have synthetic liners and leachate collection systems.” 

 
None of the jurisdictions in the West Chatham planning area fall within the boundaries of a water 
supply watershed.   
 
6.1.2 Groundwater Recharge Areas and Significant Groundwater Recharge Areas 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-16-.02(3)(a) requires that in significant groundwater recharge areas, DNR 
shall not issue permits for new solid waste landfills not having synthetic liners and leachate 
collection systems.” 

 
“DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(j) requires new solid waste landfills or expansions of existing facilities 
within two miles of a significant groundwater recharge areas to have liners and leachate 
collection systems, with the exception of facilities accepting waste generated from outside the 
county in which the facility is located. In that case, the facility must be totally outside of any area 
designated as a significant groundwater recharge area.” 

 
None of the jurisdictions in the West Chatham planning area fall within the boundaries of any 
groundwater recharge areas, significant or not.   
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  32 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 178

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

6.1.3 Wetlands 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-16-.03(3)(e) establishes that solid waste landfills may constitute an 
unacceptable use of a wetland.” 
 
“DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(e) prohibits the development of solid waste landfills in wetlands, as 
defined by the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, unless evidence is provided by the applicant to 
EPD that use of such wetlands has been permitted or otherwise authorized under all other 
applicable state and federal laws and rules.” 

 
The West Chatham planning area contains a total of roughly 19,800 acres of wetlands, which 
accounts for nearly 43% of the total land area.  Applicable DNR rules will be referenced and 
applicants will be required to obtain a Section 404 Permit prior to getting a Land Disturbance 
Permit. 
 
6.1.4 River Corridors 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-16-.04(4)(h) prohibits the development of new solid waste landfills within 
protected river corridors.” 

 
The West Chatham planning area does not contain, nor does it fall within the buffer of any 
protected river corridors. 
 
6.1.5 Protected Mountains 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-16-.05(4)(l) prohibits the development of new solid waste landfills in areas 
designated as protected mountains.” 

 
There are no protected mountains in the West Chatham planning area. 
 
6.1.6 Floodplains 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(d) stipulates that any solid waste landfill located in the 100-year 
floodplain shall not restrict the flow of the 100-year flood, reduce the temporary water storage 
capacity of the floodplain, or result in a washout of solid waste so as to pose a threat to human 
health or the environment.” 

 
All applicants proposing development within the 100-year floodplain are required to obtain a 
Section 404 Permit prior to receiving a Land Disturbance Permit. 
 
6.1.7 Fault Zones, Seismic Impact Zones & Unstable Areas 
 

 “DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(f) focuses on fault areas and requires that new landfill units and 
lateral expansions of existing landfills not be located within 200 feet of a fault that has had a 
displacement in Holocene time, unless an alternative setback distance of less than 200 feet will 
prevent damage to the structural integrity of the landfill and will protect human health and the 
environment.” 
 
“DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(g) prohibits the development of new landfills and lateral expansions of 
existing landfills in seismic impact zones, unless all landfill containment structures, including 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  33 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 179

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

existing landfill liners, leachate collection systems, and surface water control systems, are 
designed to resist the maximum horizontal acceleration in lithified earth material for the site.” 
 
“DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(h),owners/operators of new landfills, existing landfills and lateral 
expansions of existing landfills located in an unstable area must demonstrate that engineering 
measures have been incorporated into the landfill’s design to ensure that the integrity of the 
structural components of the landfill will not be compromised.” 

 
An engineer (P.E.) or registered geologist is required to conduct a hydro-geological assessment 
at the proposed location of any new solid waste disposal facility.  The potential for problems to 
result from development on fault zones, areas susceptible to seismic activity, and unstable 
ground are evaluated as part of this assessment.  The DNR rules for each of these items are 
included in the above citation.  
 

Figure 4.  Natural & Environmental Limitations 

 
 
6.2 LAND USE & ZONING LIMITATIONS 
 
This section discusses some of the restrictions with regard to where a solid waste facility can be 
located within a city based on state, and local policy.  Some of the items discussed in this section 
are illustrated in Figure 5.  
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  34 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

6.2.1 Zoning Restrictions 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(a) requires that the site must conform to all local 
zoning/land use ordinances, and that written verification of such be submitted to 
EPD.” 

 
Bloomingdale 

Solid waste disposal will only be permitted in zones PUD, PW, and I-2 if a Conditional Use 
Permit is granted by the board of appeals (Code of Ordinances, City of Bloomingdale, Georgia; 
Appendix A, Article V. Zoning District Schedule). 
 
Pooler 

The City of Pooler’s current zoning categories do not permit development of MSW, C&D 
landfills, and transfer stations (Code of Ordinances, City of Pooler, Georgia; Article IV. Zoning 
Districts, Section 21.I-1 Light Industrial District and Section 22. I-2 Heavy Industrial District). 
 
Port Wentworth 

The City of Port Wentworth’s current zoning categories do not permit development of MSW, 
C&D landfills, and transfer stations (Code of Ordinances, City of Port Wentworth, Georgia; 
Appendix B. Zoning, Article V Zoned Districts).   
 
6.2.2 National Historic Sites 
 
Bloomingdale 

No nationally listed historic sites are located in the City of Bloomingdale. 
 
Pooler 

No nationally listed historic sites are located in the City of Pooler. 
 
Port Wentworth 

The Mulberry Grove Plantation site was added to the National Registry in July of 1975.  A 
number of key events in the early history of Georgia and the U.S. took place at this site.  The site 
has been preserved and is being used as a cultural and educational center, while preserving the 
natural environment.    
 
MSW landfills are not permitted within 5,708 yards of a National Historic Site.  The Mulberry 
Grove Archeological site is illustrated in Figure 5.   
 
The City of Savannah and Chatham County contain a number of nationally listed sites.  None of 
these sites fall within the 5,708 yard buffer of the West Chatham planning area.   
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  35 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 181

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

6.2.3 Airport Safety 
 

“DNR Rule 391-3-4-.05(1)(c) requires that new solid waste landfill units or lateral expansions of 
existing units shall not be within 10,000 feet of any public use or private use airport runway end 
used by turbojet aircraft or within 5,000 feet of any public use or private use airport runway end 
used by only piston type aircraft.” 

 
The Savannah/Hilton Head International Airport in the City of Savannah is centrally located 
between Pooler and Port Wentworth.  As a result, an MSW landfill is not permitted within 
10,000 feet from the runways of this facility.  Land within the Cities affected by this constraint is 
illustrated in Figure 5. 
 
6.2.4 Political Subdivisions 
 
According to the Georgia Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Act, it is prohibited to 
develop an MSW landfill within one-half mile of an adjacent county’s border without the 
approval of the governing authority.  The Cities of Bloomingdale and Port Wentworth border 
Effingham County to the north of their city limits.  As a result, approximately 3,950 acres or 6.2 
square miles of land in the Cities are affected by this law. 
 

Figure 5.  Land Use Limitations 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  36 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 182

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Note that Figure 5 illustrates the Mulberry Grove National Historic Site, the buffer around the 
Savannah / Hilton Head International Airport and the buffer for the political boundaries of 
Effingham County.  It does not illustrate the plan jurisdictions' zoning constraints.  Solid waste 
handling facilities are prohibited in all zoning classifications in the Cities of Pooler and Port 
Wentworth and are prohibited without a conditional use permit for PUD, PW, and I-2 zone 
classifications in the City of Bloomingdale. 
 
6.3 ASSESSMENT OF LAND LIMITATIONS 
 
Table 18 shows the natural / environmental and land use factors, required by state law to be 
considered, that affect the West Chatham planning jurisdictions.  Some factors specify design 
requirements while others prohibit the siting of new facilities or the expansion of existing 
facilities in certain areas; these considerations are noted in Table 18.  Potential future 
applications for a permit to site a new or an expansion of an existing solid waste facility must 
address these land limitations. 
 

Table 18.  Natural / Environmental & Land Use Limitation Factors 

 Bloomingdale Pooler Port Wentworth 

Wetlands & 
Floodplains Prohibited without 404 Permit Prohibited without 404 Permit Prohibited without 404 Permit 

Fault & 
Seismic 
Zones / 

Unstable 
Areas 

Prohibitions and Design 
Restrictions – Requires a 

Hydro-Geological Assessment 

Prohibitions and Design 
Restrictions – Requires a 

Hydro-Geological Assessment 

Prohibitions and Design 
Restrictions – Requires a 

Hydro-Geological Assessment 

Zoning Prohibited without Conditional 
Use Permit Prohibited Prohibited 

National 
Historic Sites N/A N/A Design Restriction – Buffer 

Required 

Airport 
Safety N/A Design Restriction – Buffer 

Required 
Design Restriction – Buffer 

Required 

Political 
Subdivisions 

Design Restriction without 
Approval N/A Design Restriction without 

Approval 

 
It should be noted, while current zoning classifications may prohibit or limit development of 
solid waste facilities, the possibility of granting a variance exists.  As a result, it is important for 
decision makers to consider land uses and environmental conditions when reviewing the 
proposed locations of solid waste facilities.    
 
6.4 PLAN CONSISTENCY 
 
Prior to the EPD issuing a renewal permit or a permit for a new solid waste handling facility or 
the expansion of an existing solid waste facility, the permit application must be consistent with 
the local government solid waste management plan.  Each City in the planning area will use the 
following to determine if a proposed facility or facility expansion is consistent with the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan, as well as the community vision as defined in their 
Comprehensive Plan. 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  37 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 183

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)

blane



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
It will be the responsibility of the site owner/operator or permit applicant to submit a written 
document to the City in which the proposed facility or facility expansion is located 60 days prior 
to filing for a solid waste handling permit.  In short, the document must address: (1) how the 
proposed facility or facility expansion meets the goals and objectives identified in the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan; and (2) the impact the facility will have on the 
community.  These items and the other requirements are listed below. 
 

1. Any proposed facility or facility expansion shall meet the goals identified in the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan, specifically the impact on recycling, collection, 
disposal, and the per capita waste disposal reduction goal. 

 
2. Any proposed facility or facility expansion and its operations plan shall document its 

impact on the community in the following areas and objectives: 
a. Transportation.  The impact to vehicle traffic and public safety around the 

proposed facility or facility expansion and throughout the City shall not reduce 
the level of service by more than one letter for all roadways and intersections 
within 2,000 feet (without improvements). 

b. Natural & Cultural Resources.  The impact of the facility to natural and cultural 
resources in the City shall be addressed according to previously stated 
requirements and objectives.  Impacts to natural and cultural resources in the City 
not covered in the previously stated requirements and objections shall be 
minimized to the greatest extent practicable. 

c. Rates.  The impact to residential and commercial solid waste management rates 
shall not cause an increase in collection or disposal rates. 

d. Current Solid Waste Management Facilities.  The waste stream, waste reduction 
and financial impact to public and private solid waste management facilities, 
including recycling facilities and programs, currently being used by the plan 
jurisdictions shall be addressed. 

 
3. Any proposed facility shall provide financial assurance to address potential 

environmental issues. 
 
4. Any proposed facility shall meet the geographic site limitations defined in the West 

Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan. 
 
5. Any proposed facility shall be an allowable use based on existing zoning. 

 
The given jurisdiction’s City Council will hold at least one public hearing on the proposed 
facility to get feedback from City residents.  The public will be notified of the public hearing per 
the standard city policy on public notification – an announcement will be placed in the legal 
organ, posted on the affected city's website and placed at city hall at least 14 business days prior 
to the public hearing.  Based on the results of the initial public hearing, the City Council can 
decide whether additional public meetings and involvement opportunities are necessary.  Public 
notification of additional public meetings will follow the same procedure as for the initial public 
hearing.  Following the public hearing, and meeting(s) if necessary, the City Council will 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  38 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 184

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)

blane



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  39 

evaluate the proposed facility and all related documentation for consistency with the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan and goals established in the Comprehensive Plan.  The 
applicant will be notified within 30 days regarding the status of the consistency evaluation.  The 
City Council will determine that the proposed facility or facility expansion is consistent or 
inconsistent with the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan.  The applicant will have the 
opportunity to address any inconsistencies and resubmit the application to City Council for 
review.  Once a proposed facility is considered acceptable by the City, the Council will issue a 
letter to the applicant stating the facility is consistent with the West Chatham Solid Waste 
Management Plan.    
 
6.5 NEEDS & GOALS 
 
The land limitation goal is to ensure that the development of any type of waste handling facility 
is done in a manner that does not compromise public health and the environment.  To achieve 
this, the following needs have been identified:   
 

• Ensure potential new facilities or facility expansions are sited and operated in a manner 
that is consistent with the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan. 

• Update and maintain maps with regard to the identified environmental, land use, and 
zoning limitations. 

• Evaluate and revise City zoning ordinances to ensure desires of community are expressly 
protected, consistency with West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan and 
consistency among City zoning ordinances to support regional goals. 

 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 185

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)

blane



7. EDUCATION & PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT ELEMENT 
 
The pubic must be educated and involved in solid waste efforts for the local government plans 
and programs to succeed.  Public education and involvement is a key factor in ensuring that 
collection and disposal services meet community needs and expectations.  It is critical for the 
success of recycling programs that accomplish waste reduction goals.  Public education and 
involvement is also an integral part of efforts to prevent littering and illegal dumping.   
 
7.1 INVENTORY OF PUBLIC EDUCATION & INVOLVEMENT 
 
Table 19 describes the public education and involvement programs available in the West 
Chatham plan jurisdictions.  It includes the responsible entity and frequency of program. 
 

Table 19.  Public Education & Involvement Programs 

Type of Program Description 
Responsible 

Party / 
Organization 

Schedule / 
Frequency 

Bloomingdale 

Great American 
Cleanup 

This month-long event asks residents to volunteer to pick 
up trash in their neighborhoods and other places around 
the City. 

Keep 
Bloomingdale 

Beautiful & 
City Staff 

Annual 

E-Recycling 
Annual event that consists of the collection and recycling of 
electronics from businesses and households within the 
community. 

Chatham 
County Annual 

Bring One for the 
Chipper 

This is a Christmas tree recycling program.  Trees are 
mulched and the mulch is given to City residents and/or 
used at City properties.  Residents who bring their 
Christmas tree receive a free sapling. 

Public Works Annual 

Recycle Rama 
Amnesty Day for 

Household 
Hazardous 
Materials  

Materials accepted include paint, used oil, batteries, old 
computers, Goodwill items, cans, glass, aluminum, cell 
phones, newspaper, etc., which are recycled or disposed 
of properly. The event is promoted through: television, 
radio, local newspaper, billboards, websites, newsletters 
and posters. 

City of 
Savannah, 
Chatham 
County & 

Community 
Partners 

Annual 

Earth Day 

Environmental education event about water quality 
protection, wildlife and habitat conservation, waste 
recycling, and many other environmental efforts that are 
taking place in Chatham County and nearby areas.  

City of 
Savannah Annual 

Keep 
Bloomingdale 
Beautiful and 

Blooming 
Campaign 

Campaign that incorporates a number of recycling, trash 
removal and tree planting events. City Staff Ongoing 

Fact Sheet for New 
Residents 

Fact Sheets provide information to new City residents 
about City services, waste reduction, upcoming events, 
recycling programs, yard trimming pickup, litter prevention, 
illegal dumping, etc. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  40 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 186

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  41 

Type of Program Description 
Responsible 

Party / 
Organization 

Schedule / 
Frequency 

Website 
The City's website contains information about trash 
collection, recycling, yard trimming pickup, and other 
services offered by the City. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Informational 
Brochures 

Brochures provide information about City services, waste 
reduction, upcoming events, recycling programs, yard 
trimming pickup, litter prevention, illegal dumping, etc. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Newspaper 
Periodic articles in local publications educate residents 
about recycling, source reduction, and other programs 
related to waste reduction. 

Savannah 
Morning News 

& The Spirit 
Periodically 

Pooler 

Elementary School 
Program 

Collect milk cartons and office paper for bi-weekly 
recycling; annual recycling of telephone book recycling; 
annual participation in E-Recycling and Bring One for the 
Chipper (in return for seedlings); cell phone collection for 
redistribution to senior citizens 

City Staff Varies 

Website 
The City's website contains information about trash 
collection, recycling, yard trimming pickup, and other 
services offered by the City. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Newsletter 
Articles provide information about City services, waste 
reduction, upcoming events, recycling programs, yard 
trimming pickup, litter prevention, illegal dumping, etc. 

City Staff Quarterly 

Council Meeting 
Announcements / 

Reports 

Status reports are given at each Council meeting to 
educate residents about current waste reduction efforts 
and projects in the City. 

City Staff At Each 
Meeting 

Recycling Center The Recycling Center provides a location for residents to 
drop off recyclables, yard trimmings, and bulk items.  City Staff Ongoing 

E-Recycling 
Annual event that consists of the collection and recycling of 
electronics from businesses and households within the 
community. 

Chatham 
County Annual 

Utility Bill Inserts 
Inserts put into utility bills that educate residents about 
littering, illegal dumping, and other solid waste related 
issues. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Bring One for the 
Chipper 

This is a Christmas tree recycling program.  Trees are 
mulched and the mulch is given to City residents and/or 
used at City properties.  Residents who bring their 
Christmas tree receive a free sapling. 

Public Works Annual 

Recycle Rama 
Amnesty Day for 

Household 
Hazardous 
Materials  

Materials accepted include paint, used oil, batteries, old 
computers, Goodwill items, cans, glass, aluminum, cell 
phones, newspaper, etc., which are recycled or disposed 
of properly. The event is promoted through: television, 
radio, local newspaper, billboards, websites, newsletters 
and posters. 

City of 
Savannah, 
Chatham 
County & 

Community 
Partners 

Annual 

Earth Day 

Environmental education event about water quality 
protection, wildlife and habitat conservation, waste 
recycling, and many other environmental efforts that are 
taking place in Chatham County and nearby areas.  

City of 
Savannah Annual 

Newspaper 
Periodic articles in local publications educate residents 
about recycling, source reduction, and other programs 
related to waste reduction. 

Savannah 
Morning News 

& The Spirit 
Periodically 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 187

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  42 

Type of Program Description 
Responsible 

Party / 
Organization 

Schedule / 
Frequency 

Recycling Flyers / 
Brochures 

Brochures provide information about City services, waste 
reduction, upcoming events, recycling programs, yard 
trimming pickup, litter prevention, illegal dumping, etc. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Port Wentworth 

Website 
The City's website contains information about trash 
collection, recycling, yard trimming pickup, and other 
services offered by the City. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Coastal Cleanup 
Program 

This is a City-sponsored annual clean-up of selected roads 
and downtown areas by volunteers and City staff. 

City Staff / 
Volunteer 
Groups 

Annual 

Newsletter 
Article to provide information about City services, waste 
reduction, upcoming events, recycling programs, yard 
trimming pickup, litter prevention, illegal dumping, etc. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Utility Bill Inserts 
Inserts put into utility bills that educate residents about 
littering, illegal dumping, and other solid waste related 
issues. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Door Hangers 

Hangers are placed on doors of City residents to inform 
about litter, debris, and other contaminants discovered in 
the local storm system.  Information about recycling and 
other good housekeeping tips are included on the hangers. 

City Staff Ongoing 

Adopt-A-Road This program keeps highways and roads clean by getting 
volunteers to conduct litter clean-up on a regular basis. 

Volunteer 
Groups Ongoing 

E-Recycling 
Annual event that consists of the collection and recycling of 
electronics from businesses and households within the 
community. 

Chatham 
County Annual 

Recycle Rama 
Amnesty Day for 

Household 
Hazardous 
Materials  

Materials accepted include paint, used oil, batteries, old 
computers, Goodwill items, cans, glass, aluminum, cell 
phones, newspaper, etc., which are recycled or disposed 
of properly. The event is promoted through: television, 
radio, local newspaper, billboards, websites, newsletters 
and posters. 

City of 
Savannah, 
Chatham 
County & 

Community 
Partners 

Annual 

Earth Day 

Environmental education event about water quality 
protection, wildlife and habitat conservation, waste 
recycling, and many other environmental efforts that are 
taking place in Chatham County and nearby areas.  

City of 
Savannah Annual 

Newspaper 
Periodic articles in local publications educate residents 
about recycling, source reduction, and other programs 
related to waste reduction. 

Savannah 
Morning News 

& The Spirit 
Periodically 

 
7.2 ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC EDUCATION & INVOLVEMENT 
 
The West Chatham Plan jurisdictions’ education programs provide a good foundation for public 
education and involvement but there is room for improvement.  The cities do a fair job of 
sponsoring or participating in a variety of educational programs.  The programs involve a 
diversity of mechanisms (internet, newspaper, television, radio, etc.) to reach a broad spectrum 
of the public (children and adults) and provide rich opportunities for public involvement in waste 
reduction, recycling and actual clean-ups. 
 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 188

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  43 

The public education and involvement programs, however, do not adequately involve or target 
the business sector and waste reduction gains could be made by involving this group.  Likewise, 
home composting education programs could help realize waste reduction goals.  In addition, the 
public education and involvement programs could be strengthened by tracking program impacts 
to better focus on effective messages, audiences and delivery mechanisms.  The existing 
education and public involvement programs are adequate to some degree but could be 
strengthened. 
 
7.3 NEEDS & GOALS 
 
The education and public involvement goal is to inform residents of services related to reduction, 
recycling, and collection of waste.  The West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan education 
and public involvement programs are working well but have the following needs:  
 

• Continue the current education and public involvement activities and programs. 
• Expand education and involvement programs for business and industry to target waste 

reduction efforts in this sector. 
• Develop home composting education program to encourage diversion of yard trimmings 

and organics in Bloomingdale and Port Wentworth. 
• Better track education program impacts by documenting target, audiences, number of 

participants per year and measurable gains in waste diversion, reduction, participation, 
awareness or other relevant factors. 

• Continue to work with non-profit groups and organizations like Keep Bloomingdale 
Beautiful, Water First Cities, Tree City USA, and Clean Water Campaign to educate and 
involve residents in waste management topics. 

 
 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 189

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



8. IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY 
 
8.1 SUMMARY OF NEEDS & GOALS 
 
The needs and goals identified in the Waste Reduction, Collection, Disposal, Land Limitations, 
and Public Education & Involvement Elements are summarized in Table 20.   
 

Table 20.  Summary of Needs & Goals 
Waste Reduction 

Goal Achieve a 10% per capita waste disposal reduction goal over the planning period, 2008 – 2018 

Needs 

• Work with haulers to track and keep a better record of waste being generated in each City. 
• Promote and advertise current programs related to recycling, yard trimmings, and composting. 
• Encourage source reduction through continued public and increased business education. 
• Encourage diversion of yard trimmings and organics through home composting education. 
• Continue to financially support and maintain existing recycling and drop-off locations. 
• Continue the office paper recycling program in Bloomingdale and Pooler. 
• Pursue grants related to solid waste reduction by applying for the GEFA recycling and waste 

reduction grant. 
• Explore purchasing composting bins or continue current composting programs. 
• Expand available drop-off locations for recyclables and/or bulk items. 
• Explore potential for recycling bins to be placed at the Public Works sites in Pooler and Port 

Wentworth. 
• Explore the economic feasibility and impact of curbside recycling collections for residents and 

businesses by taking advantage of regional recycling opportunities. 
• Request the Department of Community Affairs to provide a regional single stream recycling hub 

workshop to learn more about how the Cities can provide cost-effective recycling services. 
• Issue RFP to regional recycling vendors to compare costs and determine service levels for curbside 

recycling.  
• Consider entering a West Chatham planning area service area comprised of all planning 

jurisdictions when issuing the RFP to determine the most cost effective curbside recycling collection 
options.    

Collection 
Goal Provide consistent and efficient collection services in all jurisdictions 

Needs 

• Work with private haulers for the Cities of Bloomingdale and Pooler to ensure reliable and efficient 
collection. 

• Ensure the continuance of reliable and efficient collection in Port Wentworth. 
• Develop and/or enforce reporting requirements for haulers contracted by the Cities of Bloomingdale 

and Pooler to better track quantities of waste collected within the City. 
• Develop and enforce reporting requirements for waste collected in Port Wentworth. 
• Continue current litter and illegal dumping clean-up activities and programs. 
• Continue to enforce the litter, illegal dumping and junk car ordinances. 
• Evaluate and revise City solid waste, litter, illegal dumping and junk car ordinances to ensure 

desires of community are expressly protected, consistency with West Chatham Solid Waste 
Management Plan, consistency among City zoning ordinances to support regional goals and to 
ensure penalties are consistent in meeting City goals. 

• Evaluate and implement the GEMA Debris Management Plan for disaster planning as a multi-
jurisdictional plan for the West Chatham planning area. 

• Develop an intergovernmental agreement that defines the role of each jurisdiction in the event that 
one or more area has a disruption in collection services. 

• Explore the potential for all jurisdictions to combine collection efforts for the West Chatham planning 
area. 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  44 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 190

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
Disposal 

Goal Ensure there is sufficient capacity to handle the projected waste for the planning period, 2008 – 2018 

Needs 

• Collectively work to ensure adequate space is available in landfills used by the jurisdictions in the 
planning area. 

• Produce a formal document (plan) that dictates the contingency strategy in the event that current 
disposal practices are affected by an unforeseen circumstance including public notification. 

• Explore the development of an intergovernmental agreement that defines the role of each 
jurisdiction in the event that one or more area has a disruption in disposal services. 

• Evaluate and implement the GEMA Debris Management Plan for disaster planning as a multi-
jurisdictional plan for the West Chatham planning area. 

• Continue current yard trimmings collections, grinding and mulching programs in Bloomingdale and 
Pooler. 

• Explore the development of an intergovernmental agreement that combines the disposal of yard 
trimmings from Port Wentworth with another plan jurisdiction's mulching and composting program to 
divert yard waste from local landfills. 

Land Limitation 

Goal Ensure that the development of any type of waste handling facility is done in a manner that does not 
compromise public health and the environment 

Needs 

• Ensure potential new facilities or facility expansions are sited and operated in a manner that is 
consistent with the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan. 

• Update and maintain maps with regard to the identified environmental, land use, and zoning 
limitations. 

• Evaluate and revise City zoning ordinances to ensure desires of community are expressly protected, 
consistency with West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan and consistency among City zoning 
ordinances to support regional goals. 

Education & Public Involvement 
Goal Inform residents of services related to reduction, recycling, and collection of waste 

Needs 

• Continue the current education and public involvement activities and programs. 
• Expand education and involvement programs for business and industry to target waste reduction 

efforts in this sector. 
• Develop home composting education program to encourage diversion of yard trimmings and 

organics in Bloomingdale and Port Wentworth. 
• Better track education program impacts by documenting target, audiences, number of participants 

per year and measurable gains in waste diversion, reduction, participation, awareness or other 
relevant factors. 

• Work with non-profit groups and organizations like Keep Bloomingdale Beautiful, Water First Cities, 
Tree City USA, and Clean Water Campaign to educate and involve residents in waste management 
topics. 

 
8.2 IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY 
 
This section identifies the specific tasks/activities, timeframe for implementation, responsible 
party, estimated costs and funding source for the items identified in this report.  The short-term 
work program is defined as the first five years of the implementation strategy and is designed to 
ensure that each city moves forward with the goals and more specifically, the projects identified 
in this plan.  The short-term work program will be submitted to the DCA every five years to 
demonstrate that the City has implemented the tasks outlined next.   

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  45 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 191

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
Table 21.  Bloomingdale Implementation Strategy 

Bloomingdale 
Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Waste Reduction 
Promote and advertise current programs 
related to recycling, yard trimmings, and 
composting. 

X X X X X X X X X X X $500 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Continue to financially support and maintain 
existing recycling and drop-off locations. X X X X X X X X X X X $1,000 General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Continue the office paper recycling 
program. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Pursue grants related to solid waste 
reduction by applying for the GEFA 
recycling and waste reduction grant. 

X X X X X X X X X X X $500 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Explore purchasing composting bins.    X        $1,000 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Expand available drop-off locations for 
recyclables and/or bulk items.      X      $5,000 General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Explore the economic feasibility and impact 
of curbside recycling collections for 
residents and businesses by taking 
advantage of regional recycling 
opportunities. 

  X         N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Request the Department of Community 
Affairs to provide a regional single stream 
recycling hub workshop to learn more about 
how the Cities can provide cost-effective 
recycling services. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Issue a RFP to regional recycling vendors 
to compare costs and determine service 
levels for curbside recycling.  

  X         $500 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Consider entering a West Chatham 
planning area service area comprised of all 
planning jurisdictions when issuing the RFP 
to determine the most cost effective 
curbside recycling collection options. 

   X        $1,000 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Waste Collection 
Work with private haulers to ensure reliable 
and efficient collection. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Develop and enforce reporting 
requirements for contracted haulers to 
better track quantities of waste collected. 

 X          N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Continue current litter and illegal dumping 
clean-up activities and programs. X X X X X X X X X X X $100 General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Continue to enforce the litter, illegal 
dumping and junk car ordinances. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Evaluate and revise City solid waste, litter, 
illegal dumping and junk car ordinances to 
ensure desires of community are expressly 
protected, consistency with West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan, 
consistency among City zoning ordinances 
to support regional goals and to ensure 
penalties are consistent in meeting City 
goals. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  46 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 192

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  47 

Bloomingdale 
Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Evaluate and implement the GEMA Debris 
Management Plan for disaster planning as 
a multi-jurisdictional plan for the West 
Chatham planning area. 

    X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Develop an intergovernmental agreement 
that defines the role of each jurisdiction in 
the event that one or more area has a 
disruption in collection services. 

    X       N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Explore the potential for all jurisdictions to 
combine collection efforts for the West 
Chatham planning area. 

 X          N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Waste Disposal 
Collectively work to ensure adequate space 
is available in landfills used by the 
jurisdictions in the planning area. 

    X       N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Produce a formal document (plan) that 
dictates the contingency strategy in the 
event that current disposal practices are 
affected by an unforeseen circumstance 
including public notification. 

    X       $100 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Explore the development of an 
intergovernmental agreement that defines 
the role of each jurisdiction in the event that 
one or more area has a disruption in 
disposal services. 

    X  X  X  X $100 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Continue current yard trimmings 
collections, grinding and mulching program. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Land Limitations 
Ensure potential new facilities or facility 
expansions are sited and operated in a 
manner that is consistent with the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Update and maintain maps with regard to 
the identified environmental, land use, and 
zoning limitations. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Evaluate and revise City zoning ordinances 
to ensure desires of community are 
expressly protected, consistency with West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan 
and consistency among City zoning 
ordinances to support regional goals. 

X X X X X X X X X X X $100 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Public Education & Involvement 
Continue the current education and public 
involvement activities and programs. X X X X X X X X X X X $100 General 

Fund Bloomingdale 

Expand education and involvement 
programs for business and industry to 
target waste reduction efforts in this sector. 

       X    $100 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Develop home composting education 
program to encourage diversion of yard 
trimmings and organics. 

    X X X X X X X $100 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

Better track education program impacts by 
documenting target, audiences, number of 
participants per year and measurable gains 
in waste diversion, reduction, participation, 
awareness or other relevant factors. 

    X X X X X X X X X $100 General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 193

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  48 

Bloomingdale 
Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Work with non-profit groups like Keep 
Bloomingdale Beautiful and Clean Water 
Campaign to educate and involve residents 
in waste management topics. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund Bloomingdale 

* Activities for which the cost estimate involves staff time as part of a position’s total duties or that do not involve additional direct 
expenditures because it is coupled with an existing activity may be indicated as N/A.   
 

Table 22.  Pooler Implementation Strategy 
Pooler 

Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Waste Reduction 
Promote and advertise current programs 
related to recycling, yard trimmings, and 
composting. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Parks & 
Trees Pooler 

Continue to financially support and maintain 
existing Recycling Center and drop-off 
locations. 

X X X X X X X X X X X $50,000/yr Parks & 
Trees Pooler 

Continue the office paper recycling 
program. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Parks & 

Trees Pooler 

Pursue grants related to solid waste 
reduction by applying for the GEFA 
recycling and waste reduction grant. 

      X     N/A Admin. Pooler 

Continue composting program and 
services. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Parks & 

Trees Pooler 

Maintain recycling bins at Public Works site. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Explore the economic feasibility and impact 
of curbside recycling collections for 
residents and businesses by taking 
advantage of regional recycling 
opportunities. 

 X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Request the Department of Community 
Affairs to provide a regional single stream 
recycling hub workshop to learn more about 
how the Cities can provide cost-effective 
recycling services. 

 X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) to 
regional recycling vendors to compare 
costs and determine service levels for 
curbside recycling.  

  X         N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Consider entering a West Chatham 
planning area service area comprised of all 
planning jurisdictions when issuing the RFP 
to determine the most cost effective 
curbside recycling collection options.   

   X        N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Waste Collection 
Work with private haulers to ensure reliable 
and efficient collection. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Sanitatio

n Pooler 

Continue to enforce reporting requirements 
for contracted haulers to better track 
quantities of waste collected. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Sanitatio
n Pooler 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 194

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  49 

Pooler 
Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Continue current litter and illegal dumping 
clean-up activities and programs. X X X X X X X X X X X $10,000/yr Parks & 

Trees Pooler 

Continue to enforce the litter, illegal 
dumping and junk car ordinances. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Inspectio

ns Pooler 

Evaluate and revise City solid waste, litter, 
illegal dumping and junk car ordinances to 
ensure desires of community are expressly 
protected, consistency with West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan, 
consistency among City zoning ordinances 
to support regional goals and to ensure 
penalties are consistent in meeting City 
goals. 

 X          N/A Admin. Pooler 

Evaluate and implement the GEMA Debris 
Management Plan for disaster planning as 
a multi-jurisdictional plan for the West 
Chatham planning area. 

    X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Develop an intergovernmental agreement 
that defines the role of each jurisdiction in 
the event that one or more area has a 
disruption in collection services. 

    X       N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Explore the potential for all jurisdictions to 
combine collection efforts for the West 
Chatham planning area. 

 X          N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Waste Disposal 
Collectively work to ensure adequate space 
is available in landfills used by the 
jurisdictions in the planning area. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Produce a formal document (plan) that 
dictates the contingency strategy in the 
event that current disposal practices are 
affected by an unforeseen circumstance 
including public notification. 

    X       N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Explore the development of an 
intergovernmental agreement that defines 
the role of each jurisdiction in the event that 
one or more area has a disruption in 
disposal services. 

    X  X  X  X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Continue current yard trimmings collections, 
grinding and mulching program. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 

Works Pooler 

Land Limitations 
Ensure potential new facilities or facility 
expansions are sited and operated in a 
manner that is consistent with the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Update and maintain maps with regard to 
the identified environmental, land use, and 
zoning limitations. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Evaluate and revise City zoning ordinances 
to ensure desires of community are 
expressly protected, consistency with West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan 
and consistency among City zoning 
ordinances to support regional goals. 

 X          N/A Admin. Pooler 

Public Education & Involvement 
Continue the current education and public 
involvement activities and programs. X X X X X X X X X X X $16,000/yr Public 

Works Pooler 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 195

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  50 

Pooler 
Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Expand education and involvement 
programs for business and industry to 
target waste reduction efforts in this sector. 

  X X X X X X X X X $2,000/yr Public 
Works Pooler 

Better track education program impacts by 
documenting target, audiences, number of 
participants per year and measurable gains 
in waste diversion, reduction, participation, 
awareness or other relevant factors. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

Work with non-profit groups and 
organizations like Clean Water Campaign, 
Water First Cities and Tree City USA to 
educate and involve residents in waste 
management topics. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A Public 
Works Pooler 

* Activities for which the cost estimate involves staff time as part of a position’s total duties or that do not involve additional direct 
expenditures because it is coupled with an existing activity may be indicated as N/A.   
 

Table 23.  Port Wentworth Implementation Strategy 
Port Wentworth 

Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Waste Reduction 
Promote and advertise current programs 
related to recycling, yard trimmings, and 
composting. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Maintain existing private recycling drop-off 
locations and work with private companies 
to expand existing drop off service. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Start an office paper recycling program.  X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Pursue grants related to solid waste 
reduction by applying for the GEFA 
recycling and waste reduction grant. 

 X          N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Expand available drop-off locations for 
recyclables and/or bulk items.   X         Private 

Sector N/A Port 
Wentworth 

Explore potential for recycling bins to be 
placed at City property locations. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund 
Port 
Wentworth 

Explore the economic feasibility and impact 
of curbside recycling collections for 
residents and businesses by taking 
advantage of regional recycling 
opportunities. 

  X         N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Request the Department of Community 
Affairs to provide a regional single stream 
recycling hub workshop to learn more about 
how the Cities can provide cost-effective 
recycling services. 

  X         N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) to 
regional recycling vendors to compare costs 
and determine service levels for curbside 
recycling.  

  X         N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 196

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  51 

Port Wentworth 
Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Consider entering a West Chatham 
planning area service area comprised of all 
planning jurisdictions when issuing the RFP 
to determine the most cost effective 
curbside recycling collection options. 

   X        N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Waste Collection 
Ensure the continuance of reliable and 
efficient residential collections. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund 
Port 
Wentworth 

Annually evaluate the fiscal feasibility of 
providing household MSW collection service 
versus privatization and/or free market 
approach. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Ensure the continuance of reliable and 
efficient commercial collections by private 
haulers. 

X X X X X X X X X X X $125,000 General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Develop and enforce reporting requirements 
for waste collected by the City. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund 
Port 
Wentworth 

Develop and enforce reporting requirements 
for waste collected by private haulers. X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 

Fund 
Port 
Wentworth 

Continue current litter and illegal dumping 
clean-up activities and programs. X X X X X X X X X X X $20,000 General 

Fund 
Port 
Wentworth 

Continue to enforce the litter, illegal 
dumping and junk car ordinances. X X X X X X X X X X X $50,000 General 

Fund 
Port 
Wentworth 

Evaluate and revise City solid waste, litter, 
illegal dumping and junk car ordinances to 
ensure that solid waste facility siting 
decisions meet the desires of the 
community, are consistent with the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan 
and to ensure penalties are consistent in 
meeting City goals. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Evaluate and implement the GEMA Debris 
Management Plan for disaster planning as a 
multi-jurisdictional plan for the West 
Chatham planning area. 

    X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Develop an intergovernmental agreement 
that defines the role of each jurisdiction in 
the event that one or more area has a 
disruption in collection services. 

    X       N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Explore the potential for all jurisdictions to 
combine collection efforts for the West 
Chatham planning area. 

 X          N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Waste Disposal 
Work to ensure adequate space is available 
in landfills used by the jurisdictions in the 
planning area. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Produce a formal document (plan) that 
dictates the contingency strategy in the 
event that current disposal practices are 
affected by an unforeseen circumstance 
including public notification. 

    X       N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Explore the development of an 
intergovernmental agreement that defines 
the role of each jurisdiction in the event that 
one or more area has a disruption in 
disposal services. 

    X  X  X  X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 197

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  52 

Port Wentworth 
Years Program / Activity Takes Place 

Project 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

20
14

 

20
15

 

20
16

 

20
17

 

20
18

 

C
os

t 
Es

tim
at

e 
* 

Fu
nd

in
g 

So
ur

ce
s 

R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 
Pa

rt
y 

Continue the current yard trimming 
collections program and explore the 
feasibility of disposing this debris by 
supplying it to a private wood chip 
manufacturer developing biofuels for energy 
production.  

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Land Limitations 
Ensure potential new facilities or facility 
expansions are sited and operated in a 
manner that is consistent with the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Update and maintain maps with regard to 
the identified environmental, land use, and 
zoning limitations. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Evaluate and revise City zoning ordinances 
to ensure that solid waste facility siting 
decisions meet the desires of the 
community, are consistent with the West 
Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan 
and to ensure penalties are consistent in 
meeting City goals. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Public Education & Involvement 
Continue the current education and public 
involvement activities and programs. X X X X X X X X X X X $10,000 General 

Fund 
Port 
Wentworth 

Expand education and involvement 
programs for business and industry to target 
waste reduction efforts in this sector. 

  X X X X X X X X X < $5,000 General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Develop home composting education 
program to encourage diversion of yard 
trimmings and organics. 

       X X X X < $2,000 General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Better track education program impacts by 
documenting target, audiences, number of 
participants per year and measurable gains 
in waste diversion, reduction, participation, 
awareness or other relevant factors. 

              X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

Work with non-profit groups and 
governmental agencies like Clean Water 
Campaign to educate and involve residents 
in waste management topics. 

X X X X X X X X X X X N/A General 
Fund 

Port 
Wentworth 

* Activities for which the cost estimate involves staff time as part of a position’s total duties or that do not involve additional direct 
expenditures because it is coupled with an existing activity may be indicated as N/A.   
 
8.3 PLAN UPDATES & AMENDMENTS 
 
Each City will review the implementation strategy on an annual basis to ensure the short-term 
work program is on schedule.  The implementation strategy and short-term work program will be 
updated every few years as necessary to account for unforeseen needs and goals that were not 
identified in the initial Solid Waste Management Plan. 
 
 
 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 198

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



APPENDIX A:  PUBLIC EDUCATION MATERIALS 
 

CITY OF BLOOMINGDALE HANDOUTS 

 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  53 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 199

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
CITY OF POOLER HANDOUTS 

 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  54 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 200

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH HANDOUTS 

 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  55 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 201

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

CITY OF BLOOMINGDALE  
PUBLIC HEARING AGENDAS OR MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
June 19, 2008 
 
Mayor Tipton called the meeting to order and Councilman Ray led in prayer.  The Mayor 
introduced David Lock who was running as a candidate for District Attorney.  The 
current District Attorney, Spencer Lawton, will retire at the end of his term on December 
31, 2008.  Mr. Lock outlined his credentials and stated that he felt he was well qualified 
for the position.  Mr. Lock asked for support from those present at the meeting.  
Councilman Rawlings presented Kathy and L.B. Davis with a plaque in recognition of 
their participation in the Keep Bloomingdale Beautiful campaign last year and 
commended them on their contribution to the campaign by creating such a beautiful yard. 
 
Councilwoman Winn made a motion to approve the minutes of the May 15, 2008 council 
minutes, Councilman Strozier seconded the motion and it passed with five affirmative 
votes.  Councilman Ray made a motion to approve the agenda of the June 19, 2008 
council meeting, Councilman Myrick seconded the motion and it passed with five 
affirmative votes. 
 
Administrative and committee reports were as follows:   
 
Councilman Strozier reported that the Patriotic Celebration held on Memorial Day was 
very enjoyable and it took the help of many people to make it such a great success.  He 
thanked Alton Jones for providing the barbeque used for sandwiches by the 
Bloomingdale Recreation Department who also served some fine hotdogs and 
hamburgers for the event.  Councilman Strozier noted that Bobby Oglesby had provided 
the flatbed trailer for the stage and the Bloomingdale Volunteer Fire Department was on 
standby during the fireworks display.  The American Legion Post 322 presented a 
“folding of the flag” demonstration for the audience and explained the significance of 
each step in the process.  Dennis Baxter served as the Master of Ceremonies, Angela 
Jernigan sang the National Anthem and the other musical entertainment was very 
enjoyable.  Cheryl Haworth, a bronze medal winner in weightlifting in the 2000 
Olympics, gave a short speech about growing up in Bloomingdale and how much she 
enjoyed participating in the sports programs provided through the recreation department.  
Cheryl will be making her third trip to the Olympics in weightlifting in August, 2008.  
Councilman Strozier extended a special thank you to Councilwoman Winn for her 
assistance in organizing this year’s event and stated that she had helped to provide the 
pony rides and moonwalk for the children. 
 
Mayor Tipton stated that City Administrator Brady was reviewing methods for 
determining the user fees needed to provide fire protection services to our citizens.  The 
Mayor stated that he would be appointing a committee to start working on plans for a 
new fire station.  Mayor Tipton reported that the Bloomingdale Elementary School had 
achieved recognition for having a -0- turnover in teachers in the last year and he felt it 
was due to the excellent leadership provided by Principal John King. 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  56 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 202

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

The Mayor reported that on May 18th he had attended services at the Bloomingdale 
Fellowship Church of God of Prophecy and participated in their Homecoming Services 
which included some great food and good gospel music.  Mayor Tipton stated that Pastor 
Minter presented him with a plaque for the City that acknowledged their appreciation for 
the assistance provided to their church during the construction of their building and 
expressed their pleasure in having their church located in such a wonderful City.  Mayor 
Tipton also noted that the public works department was working on a break room for 
their workers so they would have a place to enjoy their lunch breaks. 
 
Mayor Tipton stated that several months ago he had announced that property he owns off 
Pine Barren Road was under contract with AMB Properties, Inc. for possible purchase. 
Since AMB was involved in a major construction project on property nearby, he felt that 
he needed to excuse himself from any matters related to that AMB project.  However, the 
property is no longer under contract with AMB and he felt he needed to advise the 
council and the citizens of this information.  The Mayor stated that AMB Properties, Inc. 
has been very generous in their community promotion by providing funds for the 
Veterans Memorial. 
 
City Administrator Brady stated that there would be a public hearing held on June 24, 
2008 at 6:00pm to receive citizen input on the proposed FY 2008/2009 budget.  
Administrator Brady reported that a called council meeting would be held on July 1, 2008 
at 6:00pm to consider adoption of the proposed budget that will include an increase in 
garbage rates and the implementation of a user fee for fire protection effective July 1, 
2008 and related ordinances. 
 
Mayor Tipton reported that the next part of the meeting would be a public hearing to 
discuss the update to the City’s Solid Waste Management Plan.  The Mayor introduced 
Ed DiTommaso with ISE who explained the purpose of the update was to review current 
procedures and make necessary adjustments to handle the increasing need for solid waste 
disposal.  Some of the areas addressed in the plan will include waste reduction through 
recycling efforts, collection and disposal of solid waste and ways to better control illegal 
dumping.  Mr. DiTommaso pointed out that this update is mandated by the state and if a 
City does not comply with the regulation, they will lose their status as a qualified local 
government and could face the loss of state funds for numerous projects.  Citizen Martin 
Collins commented that the recycling of glass, plastics and magazines was not readily 
available to citizens and suggested consideration of this issue in the preparation of the 
plan.  It was noted that if the citizens were willing to pay for the cost of these type 
services, they could be made available.  Mayor Tipton pointed out that if there was some 
way to provide the recycling services countywide it would probably lower the costs.  Mr. 
DiTommaso reported that another public hearing would be held on Thursday, August 21, 
2008 to further discuss the update to the plan. 

 
The remainder of the City of Bloomingdale's City Council Meeting Minutes for June 19, 2008 
is not included here.  

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  57 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 203

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  58 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 204

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

CITY OF POOLER  
PUBLIC HEARING AGENDAS OR MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  59 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 205

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  60 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 206

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH  
PUBLIC HEARING AGENDAS OR MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  61 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 207

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  62 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 208

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  63 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 209

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  64 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 210

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  65 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 211

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  66 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 212

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



APPENDIX B:  LANDFILL CAPACITY ASSURANCE LETTERS 
 

CITY OF BLOOMINGDALE LANDFILL CAPACITY ASSURANCE LETTER 
 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  67 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 213

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
CITY OF POOLER LANDFILL CAPACITY ASSURANCE LETTER 

 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  68 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 214

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH LANDFILL CAPACITY ASSURANCE LETTER 

 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  69 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 215

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



APPENDIX C:  TRANSMITTAL RESOLUTIONS 
 

TRANSMITTAL RESOLUTION FOR CITY OF BLOOMINGDALE 
 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  70 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 216

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
TRANSMITTAL RESOLUTION FOR CITY OF POOLER 

 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  71 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 217

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  72 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 218

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
TRANSMITTAL RESOLUTION FOR CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 

 

 
 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  73 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 219

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



 

APPENDIX D:  ADOPTION RESOLUTIONS 
 

ADOPTION OF WEST CHATHAM SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 
RESOLUTION FOR CITY OF BLOOMINGDALE 

 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  74 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 220

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
ADOPTION OF WEST CHATHAM SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

RESOLUTION FOR CITY OF POOLER 
 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  75 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 221

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



West Chatham 
Solid Waste Management Plan 

 
ADOPTION OF WEST CHATHAM SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

RESOLUTION FOR CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 
 

 

Integrated Science & Engineering 
Adopted October 2008  76 

13.E.a

Packet Pg. 222

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

es
t 

C
h

at
h

am
_S

o
lid

W
as

te
M

an
ag

em
en

tP
la

n
_1

03
10

8-
F

IN
A

L
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)



Savannah Regional Industrial Landfill

84 Clifton Boulevard, Port Wentworth, GA 31407

O: 912.963.5617, republicservices.com

July 24, 2023

City of Port Wentworth

Attention: Jason Stewart

Assistant City Manager

7224 Georgia Highway 21

Port Wentworth, Georgia 31407

Re: Republic Services of Georgia, LP

Savannah Regional Industrial Landfill

Solid Waste Management Plan Consistency Demonstration

Permit No. 025-072D(L)(I)

To Whom it May Concern:

In accordance with the West Chatham Solid Waste Management Plan (SWMP), dated October 

2008, Republic Services of Georgia, LP (Republic) is providing this written document to 

demonstrate the proposed major modification to the Savannah Regional Industrial Landfill 

(Landfill) solid waste handling permit is consistent with the SWMP.  

The proposed major modification will replace the currently approved final closure system with a 

synthetic closure system.  The thickness of the currently approved closure system varies across the 

Landfill from 1.5 feet to 2.0 feet.  The proposed modification will allow the volume previously 

approved for the final closure system to be replaced with waste. No change in the final landfill 

grades, represented by the top of the landfill cover system, are proposed with this major 

modification.  The Georgia Environmental Protection Division, Solid Waste Management 

Program has opined that the proposed modification represents an increase in landfill capacity and 

has requested the design change be approved through a major modification to the solid waste 

handling permit.  

This document is provided to demonstrate the proposed major modification is consistent with the 

SWMP and to request the approval letter stating such by the City of Port Wentworth governing 

authority.

The Written Statement of Consistency below includes the SWMP consistency procedure 

requirements listed in italics and our responses to each item in bold.

1. Any proposed facility or facility expansion shall meet the goals identified in the West Chatham 

Solid Waste Management Plan, specifically the impact on recycling, collection, disposal, and 

the per capita waste disposal reduction goal. 

13.E.b

Packet Pg. 223

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

av
an

n
ah

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

em
o

n
st

ra
ti

o
n

  (
29

14
 :

 L
an

d
fi

ll 
P

er
m

it
 C

o
n

si
st

en
cy

 D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n

)



City of Port Wentworth

July 24, 2023

Page 2 of 5

=============

Response: The Landfill is an existing industrial solid waste disposal facility and is 

listed in the SWMP.  No changes are proposed to the landfill operations 

and the Landfill will continue to meet the disposal needs for the planning 

area.  No negative impacts to recycling or collection will result from the 

proposed modification.

 

2. Any proposed facility or facility expansion and its operations plan shall document its impact 

on the community in the following areas and objections: 

a. Transportation. The impact to vehicle traffic and public safety around the proposed facility 

or facility expansion and throughout the City shall not reduce the level of service by more 

than one letter for all roadways and intersections within 2,000 feet (without 

improvements). 

Response: The Landfill is an existing facility, and the proposed major modification 

will not change vehicle traffic or public safety around the facility.

b. Natural & Cultural Resources. The impact of the facility to natural and cultural resources 

in the City shall be addressed according to previously stated requirements and objectives. 

Impacts to natural and cultural resources in the City not covered in the previously stated 

requirements and objections shall be minimized to the greatest extent practicable. 

Response: The proposed modification does not expand the footprint of the Landfill 

and will have no impact on natural or cultural resources.

c. Rates. The impact to residential and commercial solid waste management rates shall not 

cause an increase in collection or disposal rates.

Response: The Landfill will continue to provide disposal capacity for the planning 

area until landfill closure.  The proposed Landfill major modification will 

not increase collection or disposal rates.

d. Current Solid Waste Management Facilities. The waste stream, waste reduction and 

financial impact to public and private solid waste management facilities, including 

recycling facilities and programs, currently being used by the plan jurisdictions shall be 

addressed.

Response: The Landfill is an existing industrial solid waste disposal facility and is 

listed in the SWMP.  Continued operation of the facility will have no 

impact on the waste stream, waste reduction efforts, or financial conditions 

13.E.b

Packet Pg. 224

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

av
an

n
ah

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

em
o

n
st

ra
ti

o
n

  (
29

14
 :

 L
an

d
fi

ll 
P

er
m

it
 C

o
n

si
st

en
cy

 D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n

)



City of Port Wentworth

July 24, 2023

Page 3 of 5

=============

of other public and private solid waste management facilities being used 

by the plan jurisdictions.

3. Any proposed facility shall provide financial assurance to address potential environmental 

issues.

Response: The existing Landfill maintains a Georgia Environmental Protection 

Division (EPD) approved financial assurance mechanism, which provides 

financial assurance for closure and post-closure (at least 30 years) of the 

facility at any time during its operational life as required by state and 

federal solid waste regulations. The financial assurance instrument is 

required to be in place prior to issuance of the EPD permit for the solid 

waste handling facility.  This financial assurance requirement in the Solid 

Waste Management Rules assures a local government that it will not 

become obligated financially or otherwise for closure or post-closure 

maintenance of a privately owned or operated waste handling facility. If 

the facility is ever sold, the new owner will be subject to the same 

requirements.

4. Any proposed facility shall meet the geographic site limitations defined in the West Chatham 

Solid Waste Management Plan.

Response: Each of the natural and environmental limitations identified in the SWMP 

and a summary of how the proposed modification is consistent with the 

limitation is provided below:

Water Supply Watersheds

The existing Landfill is not located within a small water supply watershed.  

Additionally, the landfill is constructed with a synthetic liner and leachate 

collection system, therefore, this limitation is not restrictive to landfill use.

Significant Groundwater Recharge Areas 

The existing Landfill is not located within a significant groundwater 

recharge area.  Additionally, the landfill is constructed with a liner and 

leachate collection system, therefore, this site limitation is not restrictive to 

landfill use.

Wetlands

The proposed modification to the Landfill closure plan will not impact any 

wetlands; therefore, this siting limitation is not restrictive to landfill use.

13.E.b

Packet Pg. 225

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

av
an

n
ah

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

em
o

n
st

ra
ti

o
n

  (
29

14
 :

 L
an

d
fi

ll 
P

er
m

it
 C

o
n

si
st

en
cy

 D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n

)



City of Port Wentworth

July 24, 2023

Page 4 of 5

=============

River Corridors

The existing Landfill does not fall within the buffer of any protective river 

corridors; therefore, this limitation is not restrictive to landfill use.

Protected Mountains

The existing Landfill is not located within an area designated as a protected 

mountain; therefore, this limitation is not restrictive to landfill use.

Floodplains

The Federal Emergency Management Agency, flood insurance rate map 

for Chatham County, Georgia and incorporated areas, Panel 045 of 455 

(FEMA, August 16, 2018) was reviewed.  The FEMA map indicates that 

the site is not within the 100-Year Floodplain and the closest areas mapped 

within the 100-year floodplain are located approximately 2,600 feet east of 

the site. Therefore, this limitation is not restrictive of landfill use.

Fault Zones, Seismic Impact Zones and Unstable Areas

The SWMP requires a professional engineer or geologist to conduct a 

hydro-geologic assessment of the proposed location of any new solid waste 

disposal facility.  The assessment should evaluate fault zones, areas 

susceptible to seismic activity, and unstable areas.

  

A hydro-geologic assessment was previously conducted for the existing 

landfill site and reviewed and approved by Georgia EPD.  A supplemental 

assessment report associated with the proposed closure plan modification 

is also being conducted and must be reviewed and approved by Georgia 

EPD prior to approval of the modification.  The supplemental assessment 

will evaluate fault zones, seismic impact zones and unstable areas to ensure 

all requirements of the Georgia Solid Waste Management Rules are met.

Zoning Restrictions

The Landfill is an existing facility and complies with the City of Port 

Wentworth Zoning Ordinance.

National Historic Sites

The SWMP prohibits MSW landfills within 5,708 yards of a National 

Historic Site.  The existing landfill is not an MSW landfill, therefore this 

limitation does not apply.

Airport Safety

13.E.b

Packet Pg. 226

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

av
an

n
ah

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

em
o

n
st

ra
ti

o
n

  (
29

14
 :

 L
an

d
fi

ll 
P

er
m

it
 C

o
n

si
st

en
cy

 D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n

)



City of Port Wentworth

July 24, 2023

Page 5 of 5

=============

The Georgia Solid Waste Management rules specify that new MSW landfill 

units or lateral expansions of existing units shall not be located within 

10,000 feet of any public-use or private-use airport runway end used by 

turbojet aircraft or within 5,000 feet of any public-use or private-use 

airport runway end used by only piston-type aircraft.

The existing landfill is not a MSW landfill, therefore this limitation does 

not apply.

Political Subdivisions

The existing landfill is not located within one-half mile of an adjacent 

county’s border therefore this limitation is not restrictive to landfill use.

5. Any proposed facility shall be an allowable use based on existing zoning.

Response: The Landfill is an existing facility and complies with the City of Port 

Wentworth Zoning Ordinance.

Based on the information presented in this letter of demonstration, the proposed modification to 

the Savannah Regional Landfill is consistent with the SWMP.  Should you have any questions or 

need any additional information, please call.

Thank you for your assistance with this consistency determination.

Sincerely,

Republic Services of Georgia, LP

Nick Webber

13.E.b

Packet Pg. 227

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

av
an

n
ah

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

em
o

n
st

ra
ti

o
n

  (
29

14
 :

 L
an

d
fi

ll 
P

er
m

it
 C

o
n

si
st

en
cy

 D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n

)



Notice of Public Hearing 

In accordance with the procedures outlined in Section 6.4 of the West Chatham Solid Waste 

Management Plan, 2008-2018, the City of Port Wentworth will hold a public hearing to receive feedback 

from City residents on the request for solid waste management consistency for the Savannah Regional 

Industrial Landfill major modification to the solid waste handling permit.  The proposed major 

modification will slightly increase the waste capacity of the facility over the existing landfill disposal area 

by allowing the use of a synthetic closure system in place of a soil cover system for the landfill.  The 

hearing will be held on Thursday December 21st , 2023 at 7pm at Port Wentworth City Hall at 7224 GA 

Highway 21 Port Wentworth, GA 31407. 

13.E.c

Packet Pg. 228

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 N

o
ti

ce
 o

f 
P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

-S
av

 R
eg

 M
aj

o
r 

M
o

d
  (

29
14

 :
 L

an
d

fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 C
o

n
si

st
en

cy
 D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n
)


	Agenda Packet
	1. Call Meeting To Order
	2. Prayer and Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call - Clerk of Council
	Roll Call

	4. Approval of Agenda
	5. Recognition of Special Guests
	6. Public Comments - Registered Speakers
	7. Elections & Appointments
	8. Adoption of Minutes
	A. Regular Council Meeting Minutes -November 30, 2023

	9. Communications & Petitions
	10. Committee Reports
	11. Consent Agenda
	A. 2916 : City Council 2024 Meeting Dates
	Policy Paper: 2916 : City Council 2024 Meeting Dates
	a. 23.12.21 - PW - Res - 2024 CC Mtg Dates (3)

	B. 2918 : Alcoholic Beverage License Application submitted by Samir Patel for a Malt Beverage / Wine Package R
	Policy Paper: 2918 : Alcoholic Beverage License Application submitted by Samir Patel for a Malt Beverage / Wine Package R
	a. Alcohol BL


	12. Unfinished Business
	A. 2913 : Street Parking Ordinance 2nd Reading
	Policy Paper: 2913 : Street Parking Ordinance 2nd Reading
	a. PW - Ord - Residential Street Parking

	B. 2911 : Amending Chapter 17.1 Human Resources Policy
	Policy Paper: 2911 : Amending Chapter 17.1 Human Resources Policy
	a. COPW - Ord - HR Policy


	13. New Business
	A. 2919 : Development Agreement SPH 21
	Policy Paper: 2919 : Development Agreement SPH 21
	a. 9457-01 Development Agreement - SPH 12152023.10

	B. 2917 : Fee Schedule Amendment
	Policy Paper: 2917 : Fee Schedule Amendment

	C. 2920 : Port Wentworth Recreational Complex – Change Order 2
	Policy Paper: 2920 : Port Wentworth Recreational Complex – Change Order 2
	a. 25412.0029 Change Order No. 2
	b. Sikes Brothers - Port Wentworth Recreation Complex - Change Order No. 2

	D. 2915 : RFP- New Fire Station
	Policy Paper: 2915 : RFP- New Fire Station
	a. Bid Contract Price Summary
	b. Fire Station RFP Evaluations Summary Sheet 120823
	c. JE Dunn Construction_Response to Bid - City of Port Wentworth Fire Station
	d. JE Dunn Bid Form document

	E. 2914 : Landfill Permit Consistency Determination
	Policy Paper: 2914 : Landfill Permit Consistency Determination
	a. West Chatham_SolidWasteManagementPlan_103108-FINAL
	b. Savannah Consistency Demonstration
	c. Notice of Public Hearing-Sav Reg Major Mod


	14. Resolutions/Ordinances/Proclamations
	15. Executive Session
	A. Litigation
	B. Personnel
	C. Real Estate

	16. Adjournment

	Appendix
	11.A · 2916 : City Council 2024 Meeting Dates
	11.A.a · 23.12.21 - PW - Res - 2024 CC Mtg Dates (3)

	11.B · 2918 : Alcoholic Beverage License Application submitted by Samir Patel for a Malt Beverage / Wine Package R
	11.B.a · Alcohol BL

	12.A · 2913 : Street Parking Ordinance 2nd Reading
	12.A.a · PW - Ord - Residential Street Parking

	12.B · 2911 : Amending Chapter 17.1 Human Resources Policy
	12.B.a · COPW - Ord - HR Policy

	13.A · 2919 : Development Agreement SPH 21
	13.A.a · 9457-01 Development Agreement - SPH 12152023.10

	13.B · 2917 : Fee Schedule Amendment
	13.C · 2920 : Port Wentworth Recreational Complex – Change Order 2
	13.C.a · 25412.0029 Change Order No. 2
	13.C.b · Sikes Brothers - Port Wentworth Recreation Complex - Change Order No. 2

	13.D · 2915 : RFP- New Fire Station
	13.D.a · Bid Contract Price Summary
	13.D.b · Fire Station RFP Evaluations Summary Sheet 120823
	13.D.c · JE Dunn Construction_Response to Bid - City of Port Wentworth Fire Station
	13.D.d · JE Dunn Bid Form document

	13.E · 2914 : Landfill Permit Consistency Determination
	13.E.a · West Chatham_SolidWasteManagementPlan_103108-FINAL
	13.E.b · Savannah Consistency Demonstration
	13.E.c · Notice of Public Hearing-Sav Reg Major Mod





